

Equitable global health research partnerships

Shirine Eva Voller

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Public Health of the University of London

2023

Department of Public Health, Environments and Society

Faculty of Public Health and Policy

London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine

Funding details – No funding was received

Declaration of own work:

I, Shirine Voller, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.



10 April 2023

Abstract

Partnerships have become a ubiquitous model for delivering global health research. Notwithstanding their contribution toward improving health outcomes, partnerships have been scrutinised for how they operate and criticised for perpetuating inequities between stakeholders in low- and middle-income countries and high-income countries. Guidance to inform fair partnership practice has proliferated in recent decades and the emerging movement to decolonise global health has brought momentum for change. Amidst this evolving context, this study sought to summarise the guidance for partnership practice and explore experiences of partnership from the perspective of stakeholders in four sub-Saharan African research institutions.

A scoping review of principles and guidelines for global health research partnerships found considerable convergence on the domains considered to be important for partnerships to strive towards equity. There was also good coherence between the themes identified from this review and two similar reviews published just prior to this review being completed.

Qualitative interviews with researchers and administrators at research institutions in four countries in anglophone eastern and southern Africa found that participants' experiences of partnership with high-income country collaborators were wide-ranging. Guidelines for partnership provided good coverage of the domains considered to be the key determinants of a healthy partnership but were not used to inform partnership practice. Partnerships generated considerable benefits to sub-Saharan African stakeholders and there was some evidence to suggest that they were becoming more equitable. However, participants also continued to experience a range of well-documented inequities and reported new issues arising in situations in which their institution had been the prime recipient of grant funds.

Theories of power provide a useful way to describe and explain some of the experiences reported by study participants. Literature on decolonising global health provides further insights and the momentum of the movement offers potential to achieve further progress towards more equitable research partnerships. Meanwhile, long-term support targeted towards individuals, institutions and national research systems remains essential to fulfil the potential of research led from sub-Saharan Africa.

Acknowledgements

I had long harboured an ambition to pursue a doctorate, but the gulf between the idea of becoming Dr. Voller and the struggle I knew it would take to get there always felt too great to cross. This changed when I discovered the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) Doctorate of Public Health (DrPH). Its structured format brought the horizon of possibility into range. In 2018 I approached my boss, Prof. Anthony Scott, and asked if he would allow me to study part-time for a DrPH alongside my job. He felt this was the most interesting idea I had had all year! Without his support I would never have registered, and I remain indebted to Anthony for his encouragement and big picture view of the world. Having been given the green light to register, the next challenge was to find supervisors who were willing to take me on. My initial arrangement was stymied when my first supervisor left LSHTM before I had even started. To my great fortune, Dr. Nicki Thorogood had already swept me up from the debris of failed attempts to find a second supervisor and agreed to move into the role of primary supervisor. How then to move forward? I fell back to asking one of the people whom I most respect and admire, Prof. Joanna Schellenberg, who I had dared not ask previously. In her indomitably optimistic way, Joanna also agreed to supervise me and I was 'good to go'. Joanna and Nicki advised me that, given my interest in global health research partnerships, it would be wise to have someone who could comment on these issues from a 'global south' perspective, and I am most grateful to my colleague Dr. Primus Chi who graciously also joined my supervision team. My supervisors have throughout provided me with encouragement, insight and critical feedback that has been invaluable for improving the quality of my work.

I am grateful to the key contacts at each of the four institutions that participated in my study. They gave their time freely and facilitated entry into their organisations. I had no prior relationship with any of them and perhaps their generosity in helping me – for no direct benefit – is also a reflection of the strength of their relationships with my LSHTM colleagues who brokered the introductions. I greatly appreciate my colleagues who were willing to share their contacts and I thank all study participants who gave their time to be interviewed and provided candid and insightful responses to my questions.

While there are many other people who have also helped me along the way, I wish to thank three other individuals whose influence has been fundamental to me reaching this point. Firstly, my parents. They have always celebrated my achievements and encouraged me to make my way independently in the world, albeit not without exasperation at some of my terrible decisions! They remain a constant source of stability and support. Finally, my partner, Mike, who has been my constant companion throughout the perilous DrPH journey and suffered much during the rough

patches. His ability to cut to the chase and identify and critique key issues on any topic within a fraction of the time it takes me to articulate an opinion has at times been most irritating, but only because I wish I could do this better. I deeply appreciate his critical voice as I have had to constantly justify what I think and write, and this thesis is better for it.

Contents

List of tables	8
List of figures	8
Abbreviations	9
Glossary	10
A note on language used in this thesis	
Chapter 1: Introduction	15
Rationale for the study	15
Aim, objectives and research question	16
Thesis structure	16
Mapping the landscape	18
The emergence of partnership in global health research	18
Types of partnership	19
Critiques of partnership	20
Principles and guidelines for partnership	22
Capacity strengthening	23
Power	23
Decolonising global health	
Chapter 2: Scoping review (Paper 1)	30
Supplementary table 1: Topics addressed by each partnership guideline	56
Chapter 3: Methods	58
Philosophical orientation	58
Positionality and reflexivity	59
Data collection methods	61
Data analysis	71
Ethics and consent to participate	73
Chapter 4: Findings	74
Study participant characteristics	74
Thematic analysis: findings in relation to principles of partnership	76
Overarching analysis	
Chapter 5: Discussion	
Common ground in partnership guidance	100
Do partnership guidelines contribute to fair partnership practice?	116
Power, position and capacity	118
Decolonising global health research partnerships	121

Study limitations, and some benefits	125
Implications for policy	127
Implications for research	128
Chapter 6: Conclusion	130
References	131
Annex: Published paper of qualitative study findings reported in Chapter 4 (Paper 2)	142
Appendices	170
Appendix A: Data management plan	171
Appendix B: Participant information sheet	178
Appendix C: Informed consent form	182
Appendix D: Interview topic guide 1	183
Appendix E: Interview topic guide 2	188

List of tables

Table	Description	Page
Table 1	Partnership guidelines included in the scoping review	<u>39</u>
Table 2	Geographic location of participants contributing to guideline development	<u>42</u>
Table 3	Topics addressed by partnership guidelines	<u>44</u>
Table 4	Topics by discipline	<u>47</u>
Table 5	Comparison of themes between three scoping reviews on North-South research partnerships	<u>48</u>
Table 6	Participants per institution	<u>75</u>
Table 7	Participant characteristics	<u>76</u>
Table 8	Topics addressed by partnership guidelines	<u>76</u>
Supplementary table 1	Topics addressed by each partnership guideline	<u>56</u>

List of figures

Figure	Description	Page
Figure 1	Modified PRISMA (Page et al., 2021, p. 1995) flow diagram depicting scoping	<u>39</u>
	review study identification and selection	
Figure 2	Topics addressed by partnership guidelines	<u>66</u>

Abbreviations

DrPH	Doctor of Public Health
HIC	High-Income Country
LMIC	Low- or Middle-Income Country
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine
MOU	Memorandum of Understanding
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
TOR	Terms of Reference
UKCDR	UK Collaborative on Development Research

Glossary

Term	Definition
Decolonisation	'The dismantling of unjust colonial-rooted methods, biases, and
	systems to ensure the independence and full agency of all
	involved organisations, communities, and persons' (Development
	Reimagined, 2021, p. 4).
Decolonising Global Health	'A movement that fights against ingrained systems of dominance
	and power in the work to improve the health of populations,
	whether this occurs between countries, including between
	previously colonising and plundered nations, and within
	countries' (Khan et al., 2021, p. 1).
Equality	'Each individual or group of people is given the same resources or
	opportunities' (Milken Institution School of Public Health, 2020).
Equity	Fairness.
	'The absence of unfair, avoidable or remediable differences
	among groups of people, whether those groups are defined
	socially, economically, demographically, or geographically or by
	other dimensions of inequality' (World Health Organization,
	2022b).
	An expanded definition applicable to equity in partnerships is my
	adaptation of Walster and Walster's (1975, p. 21) definition of an
	equitable relationship between individuals: 'Two partners are in
	an equitable relationship when the ratio of one partner's
	outcomes to inputs is equal to the other partner's outcome/input
	ratioInputs are what a partner perceives as their contribution
	to the exchange, for which they expect a just returnOutcomes
	are the partner's 'receipts' from a relationship. They may be
	positive or negative consequences of one partner's relationship
	with the other.'
Equitable partnership	'Partnerships in which there is mutual participation, mutual
	trust and respect, mutual benefit and equal value placed on each
	partner's contribution at all stages of the research process' (UK
	Collaborative on Development Research, 2022).

Global health	Efforts to improve health in resource-limited settings in pursuit
	of achieving health equity. This is my own definition as used in
	this thesis. A more widely-referenced definition is: 'An area for
	study, research, and practice that places a priority on improving
	health and achieving equity in health for all people worldwide'
	(Koplan et al., 2009, p. 1995).
Global North, Northern	A collective term for High Income Countries, of a High-income
	country, referring to the World Bank income group classification
	(World Bank, 2021).
Global South, Southern	A collective term for Lower- and Middle-Income Countries, of a
	Low or Middle-income country, referring to World Bank income
	group classifications.
North-South	'Geographical division whereby the north represents the richer
	countries of North America, Europe, Japan, Australia and New
	Zealand, and the south represents the poorer majority of
	countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America' (Binka, 2005, p. 207).
Partnership	Used in this thesis interchangeably with 'collaboration' to
	describe 'the wide variety of arrangements that link researchers
	and research institutions in the global North and South' (Bradley,
	2007, p. 5).

A note on language used in this thesis

Concerns in post-colonial studies over how language shapes thinking can be traced back at least as far as Kenyan author Ngũgĩ wa Thiong'o who argued in *Decolonising the Mind* (Thiong'o, 1986) that it is necessary to reject the imposed language of the coloniser and return to using African languages in order that African culture can be re-claimed and re-valued.

His argument re-surfaces through critiques of the 'slippery terminology' (Bradley, 2008, p. 674) that litters the field of global health. Shorthand terms are used for the purposes of classification and comprehension but can create simplistic dichotomies that exacerbate divisions and are a poor reflection of a far more nuanced reality.

Hommes *et al.* (2021) argued that to progress thinking and practice in the decolonising of global health, it is necessary to be aware of, reflect on and change how language is used. They argued, firstly, that the dominance of the English language disadvantages non-native English speakers and

reinforces patterns of power and hierarchy. Secondly, they posited that the crude aggregation resulting from convenient collective terms, e.g., South versus North, Low- and Middle- Income Country (LMIC) versus High Income Country (HIC), resource-poor versus resource rich, local versus global, bundles countries and groups within countries into a single identity that fails to capture the diversity which it is necessary to understand to effectively address problems. Khan *et al.* (2022) also drew attention to the problems in how countries and people are classified and published a table of dichotomous terms used in global health along with their etymology and the authors' concerns over their use.

The term 'global health' is itself problematic. Eichbaum et al. (2021) described how it is 'fraught with assumptions and asymmetries. Colleagues in LMICs remind us that "global health" is a convenient but artificial construct developed by HICs to describe health care routinely practiced in LMICs' (p.329). Meanwhile, Khan et al (2022) described how the term 'global' implies 'a world outside rich nations (often seen as the epicentre of everything progressive and 'good'); a world which needs development or health assistance' (p.1). They were concerned with the unchallenged use of language that carries implicit connotations of hierarchy among the HIC health and development institutions that use it. With some discomfort because I recognise the criticisms levelled above, but for want of a compelling alternative, I use the term 'global health' to describe efforts to improve health in resource-poor settings in pursuit of achieving health equity. Perhaps the 'global' aspect is that global health research has historically brought HIC and LMIC stakeholders together thus creating a 'global' configuration in tackling such health challenges. Three recent definitions respectively describe global health as 'an area for study, research, and practice that places a priority on improving health and achieving health equity for all people world-wide' (Koplan et al., 2009, p. 1995), 'collaborative trans-national research and action for promoting health for all' (Beaglehole & Bonita, 2010, p. 1) and 'an endeavour that aims at the worldwide improvement of health' (Hellowell & Nayna Schwerdtle, 2022, p. 1). While these definitions emphasise the end goal of health equity, they somewhat skirt around making explicit Eichbaum's observation that global health is 'routinely 'practiced in LMICs', which I have tried to incorporate into my working definition.

I used the term 'North-South' in my search string for a scoping review of guidelines for partnerships, and this is the language reflected in the manuscript which forms Chapter 2 of this thesis. I was keen to focus on guidelines that addressed research collaborations between HICs and LMICs, and the term 'North-South' had been widely used as a phrase to describe such relationships and seemed appropriate. However, after conducting the scoping review and spending more time engaging with the issues of partnership, I became increasingly conscious of the implied hierarchy of this terminology and of criticisms surrounding its use (e.g. Demetriodor, 2018). While it is still widely

used, both by stakeholders in the 'global North' and those in the 'global South' - including participants in my qualitative study – I revised my use of language from 'North-South research partnerships' to 'global health research partnerships'. Instead of referring to stakeholders in the 'global North' or the 'global South', elsewhere in this thesis I use the terms HICs and LMICs, which categorise countries according to financial metrics. This is not to say that this language is unproblematic. Using the term HIC juxtaposed against LMIC has been held up as an example of the *'artificial and othering dichotomies'* (Hommes et al., 2021, p. 897) that plague the global health discourse and reflect a reductionist and unnuanced mindset. Furthermore, segmenting issues in accordance with national income level may not be the most relevant way to address them (Lencucha & Neupane, 2022).

Another tricky term is 'sub-Saharan Africa', often shortened to 'SSA'. Critics have argued that it is a politically correct substitute for overtly racialised phrases including 'black Africa' and 'Tropical Africa' but continues to carry an implication of nations in North Africa being more culturally advanced than those south of the Sahara (de Haldevang, 2016). Elsewhere, the prefix 'sub' has been critiqued for inferring 'subordinate to' or 'inferior to' in addition to its literal meanings of 'under', 'beneath' or 'below' (Mashanda, 2016). The United Nation's 'Africa' region aligns with the geographical boundary of the continent of Africa. In contrast, the World Health Organisation includes a handful of north African nations in its Eastern Mediterranean region

(https://www.emro.who.int/countries.html) and separates these from the rest of 'Africa'. The World Bank differentiates between the 'Middle East and North Africa' (MENA) and 'Africa', which it also describes as 'Sub-Saharan Africa' (https://www.worldbank.org/en/region/afr). Largely similar, though not entirely consistent, categorisations are applied by governments, academic institutions and other transnational organisations. Historian and political scientist Herbert Ekwe Ekwe argued that this naming convention demonstrates collusion with "blatant sophistry and not science" of segregating predominantly Arab nations from the larger part of the continent of Africa (Ekwe Ekwe, 2020).

In the absence of having properly investigated the characteristics that may or may not differentiate sub-Saharan from Northern African nations, or those which might bind sub-Saharan nations together, I have taken a shortcut and used the term sub-Saharan Africa in the way in which the World Bank defines it. This also reflects my experience in terms of where most of the research in Africa that I have come across has taken place. I feel it is more honest to say 'sub-Saharan Africa' than 'Africa' if I am implicitly excluding countries in Northern Africa. Perhaps a better approach would be to zoom in on smaller regions as, for example, recognised by the African Union: Central, Eastern, Northern, Southern, Western (<u>https://au.int/en/member_states/countryprofiles2</u>), or to

invest more effort in identifying which characteristics are relevant to the topic at hand and to categorise by these instead.

It is seductive, and necessary, to use categories for shorthand and to generalise beyond the specific in order to generate meaning, but there is a risk that categorisation can both instil unhelpful divisions and ignore meaningful differences. Through using the terms HIC and LMIC, global North and global South, sub-Saharan Africa and global health in this thesis I have fallen short of the ideals underpinning the use of non-divisive and precise language. I have endeavoured to consider the nuances that lie behind the terminology I use but I accept that my attempts are imperfect, and my choice of language is not value-free.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Rationale for the study

Global health research partnerships set out to advance scientific discovery (Boum Ii et al., 2018), strengthen research capacity (Binka, 2005), inform practice and policy (Rethinking Research Collaborative, 2018) and make progress toward international development goals through addressing the needs of vulnerable populations (Airhihenbuwa et al., 2011; United Nations, 2020). Partnerships have delivered in various ways on all these ambitions. However, collaborations between highincome country (HIC) and low- and middle-income country (LMIC) institutions have received critical attention because of persistent obstacles to achieving mutual benefit (Bradley, 2007) and claims that, as a consequence, partnerships are unfair.

Responses to the recognition of partnership inequities include the creation of guidance to improve how partnerships work and action to address specific issues, such as funding, data ownership and publication. In parallel with corrective action, which has been largely initiated by HICs, many sub-Saharan African research institutions continue to grow in stature which changes the basis of their engagement with HIC partners.

An injection of pace has been brought by the decolonising global health movement, which has come to prominence in the last five years. The movement demands radical reform and a dismantling and rebuilding of the foundations on which global health is built (Chaudhuri et al., 2021). While the colonial history of global health has long been acknowledged, the decolonising global health movement has brought a momentum for change hitherto not seen.

It is in this context of multiple forces for change set against a backdrop of persistent inequalities between sub-Saharan African nations and HICs that this Doctor of Public Health (DrPH) research study was situated. The study aimed to explore how stakeholders in sub-Saharan Africa, whose perspectives have been under-represented in literature on partnerships (Bradley, 2007), experience partnership with HIC research institutions.

Documenting partnership practice is not a new endeavour – there is a substantial body of literature describing the characteristics of successful partnerships as well as the problems and underlying tensions that these arise from. This study aimed to contribute knowledge in two ways: 1.) by summarising the guidance for partnership - which had not previously been synthesised as a body of literature - and 2.) by using this to frame an exploration of sub-Saharan African stakeholders' experience of partnership at a particular point in time in the evolution of global health. As part of this, it sought to find out whether there was any indication of partnerships becoming more equitable

and to consider what might be driving, or inhibiting, change. Such an understanding has the potential to inform where to focus future efforts to improve partnership equity.

Aim, objectives and research question

This study aimed to explore how principles of equitable partnership are experienced and operationalised in global health research collaborations, drawing on the experience of stakeholders at research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa that partner with London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine as examples.

Its objectives were:

- 1. To synthesise the academic and practitioner literature on principles and guidelines for equitable global health research partnerships.
- 2. To explore the perspectives of stakeholders from low- and middle-income country research institutions on partnership with high-income country collaborators, drawing on interviews with staff working at a sample of research institutions in eastern and southern Africa as examples.

The study research question was:

How do stakeholders of health research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa experience partnership with high income country collaborators?

Thesis structure

This thesis integrates one journal manuscript into what is otherwise a traditional-style doctoral thesis comprising a series of chapters followed by references and appendices.

In this introductory chapter I lay out the rationale for the study, map the landscape of global health research partnerships and draw attention to literature on capacity strengthening, power and decolonising global health. These bodies of literatures intersect with and may help explain sub-Saharan African stakeholders' experience of contemporary research partnerships.

Chapter 2 is a literature review for which I followed Arksey and O'Malley's (2005) methodological framework for scoping studies to summarise the academic and practitioner literature on principles

and guidelines for global health research partnerships. The review was published in the April 2022 edition of *Health Policy and Planning* and is entitled: *What makes working together work? A scoping review of the guidance on North–South research partnerships*. The version included in this thesis is the final unformatted version. A table of themes addressed by different partnership guidelines was published as a supplementary table with the online version of the article and is included after the references at the end of chapter 2. Together, Chapter 1: Introduction and Chapter 2: Scoping review present the literature that informed my primary data collection.

Chapter 3 is the Methods chapter. It describes the approach I took to primary data collection and analysis and includes statements about my philosophical orientation, positionality and reflexivity.

In Chapter 4: Findings I present an analysis of the primary data structured using an analytical framework derived from the scoping review. I follow this with an overarching analysis which tries to make sense of the data set as a whole and describe 'what is going on' in contemporary global health research partnerships from the perspective of stakeholders in sub-Saharan Africa.

Chapter 5 is the Discussion in which I contextualise my findings. I discuss how the findings relate to literature and some recent trends in policy and practice on equitable partnerships, reflect on how theories of power can help to explain the study findings, and consider what implications the movement to decolonise global health might have for the future of partnership work. In the Discussion chapter I also describe the limitations of the study and identify implications for policy and for future research.

Chapter 6 is a short Conclusion to the body of work that is presented in the earlier chapters of the thesis.

References are listed after the Conclusion.

One annex and several appendices follow the reference list. The annex is a journal manuscript based on a complementary analysis of the primary data to that described in the Findings chapter. This manuscript was published in the *International Journal of Equity in Health* in August 2022 and is entitled: *"We should be at the table together from the beginning": perspectives on partnership from stakeholders at four research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa*.

The appendices contain documents that are supplementary to the second journal manuscript and to the chapters of the thesis and they help to illustrate how I went about this DrPH study. They comprise interview topic guides, a participant information sheet, informed consent form, and a data management plan.

Mapping the landscape

The sections that follow map the landscape of global health research partnerships and introduce ideas from two domains of relevant literature: power and decolonising global health.

The emergence of partnership in global health research

Partnership has been framed as an advancement on earlier modus operandi for research and development conducted in LMIC countries and is bound up with ideals of reciprocity and equity (Forti, 2005). The term has been associated with a set of idealistic values (Corbin et al., 2012) including responsibility, joint decision making, trust and mutual understanding (Mommers & van Wessel, 2009). Costello and Zumla (2000) differentiated between partnership and semi-colonial models of research in LMICs. They advocated for the characteristics of the partnership model in which the research agenda is negotiated with 'insiders', integral links exist with national institutions, line management is led nationally, research has a high influence on local policy-makers, dissemination is balanced between international, national and regional journals and national academic infrastructure is strengthened. They contrasted this with the semi-colonial model in which research agendas are dominated by outsiders, only peripheral links are established with national institutions, staff costs are predominantly allocated to international staff and overinflated local salaries, dissemination is focused on international outputs and there is little engagement of local policy-makers. Crane (2010) suggested the emergence of the term partnership in global health was a response to 'post-colonial anxieties' (p. 81) during a period of concerted efforts to shift the identity of global health away from 'beneficent paternalism' (Fofana, 2021, p. 1157) at best or colonialist attitudes at worst which characterised international health and, prior to that, tropical medicine. Koplan et al. (2009) associated the introduction of the term global health to replace international health with a shift towards a partnership mindset, suggesting that it took place 'in parallel to a shift in philosophy and attitude that emphasises the mutuality of real partnership, a pooling of experience and knowledge, and a two-way flow between developed and developing countries' (p. 1993) - a direction also noted by Daibes and Sridharan (2014).

Partnership is now a ubiquitous, though not exclusive, model for research conducted in LMICs with the involvement of HIC collaborators.

Types of partnership

In a comprehensive review of 'North-South' partnerships in international development research, Bradley (2007) used partnership as the umbrella term to describe *'the wide variety of arrangements that link researchers and research institutions in the global North and South'* (Bradley, 2007, p. 5). She identified three main types of 'North-South' partnership: partnerships between individual researchers and research teams brought together to carry out a specific project, capacity-building partnerships and research networks. She commented on the dimensions along which partnerships vary: duration, sources of funding, the degree of attention paid to advocacy and policy-making and the nature of interactions between partners. In a related review, Bradley described a broader set of partnership arrangements, including co-authorship, training schemes, institutional twinning arrangements, networks, and the co-management of journals and other publications (Bradley, 2008). Dodson (2017) identified seven variations and decisions that funders make which influence the resultant model of partnership. These were: funding source and lead agency, programme goal, agenda setting, geographical scope, partnership structure, financial and research management structure, and the role of the funder. Bradley's and Dodson's characterisations denote the existence of a *'myriad of partnership modalities'* (Bradley, 2008, p. 9).

A criticism arising from the indiscriminate application of the term 'partnership' to a diverse range of collaborative arrangements is the resultant lack of specificity in identifying and addressing issues particular to certain situations. This in turn has been argued to impede efforts to address inequalities (Crane, 2010; Gautier et al., 2018). Despite this caution, when framing the primary data collection in this study, I used the term 'partnership' in a similarly broad way to Bradley's (2007) definition. I was keen to use participants' understanding of the term but sought to clarify the nature of the relationships that were described. The two main categories of research partnership between sub-Saharan African and HIC partners that I expected to come across, based on my professional experience, were: research projects with a defined start and finish and longer-term inter-institutional collaborative relationships. Through my experience, I have observed that partnership projects often - though not always – arise from within an existing relationship between individuals and institutions.

'North-South' partnership is losing its monopoly in global health research (Kasprowicz et al., 2020). Examples of productive partnerships between LMIC collaborators ('South-South'), driven by LMIC partners ('South-North') and embodying other configurations, e.g. 'South-South-North' (Weinrib & Sá, 2020), 'South-North-South' (Cash-Gibson et al., 2015) and research consortia (Tagoe et al., 2019)

point to a future where LMIC research institutions take greater ownership and control of the research agenda (Cochrane et al., 2014; Marjanovic et al., 2013). Nevertheless, partnership between LMICs and HICs is likely to remain a prominent arrangement for global health research for some time to come (Hellowell & Nayna Schwerdtle, 2022). It has been enshrined in a number of leading HIC global health research institutions' strategic plans (Emory University; Harvard Chan School of Public Health, 2017; Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, 2017; London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2016b), implying a commitment from HICs to partnership approaches. Interestingly, from the limited searching that I have done, I have not seen this commitment to partnership similarly reflected in leading LMIC health research institutions' plans.

Critiques of partnership

Partnership has been associated with benefits to LMIC institutions including capacity strengthening, infrastructure investment, access to resources, job creation and funding opportunities. Benefits to HIC partners include capacity development and access to settings in which to conduct research (Crane, 2010; Craveiro et al., 2020; Franzen et al., 2017). Meanwhile a range of intractable problems associated with global health research partnerships have also been identified and debated. It has been argued that the benefits of partnership have been channelled disproportionately to HICs (Boum Ii et al., 2018; Bradley, 2007; Crane, 2010; Eichbaum et al., 2021; Mbaye et al., 2019) and that HIC partners have perpetuated inequalities and sustained exploitative relations with LMIC partners. Critics have cautioned against viewing partnership as a panacea for achieving equality (Citrin et al., 2017). As Crane commented, *'The legacy of colonial-era power relations is an uncomfortable topic in global health, and one which the field seeks to avoid reproducing through the invocation of an ethic of "partnership". However...the espousal of partnership – while a noble aspiration – runs the risk of obfuscating both the enduring and novel forms of inequality that shape the transnational relations of global health' (Crane, 2010, p. 93).*

Structural asymmetries between HIC and LMIC partners have remained central to the challenges of achieving equity and mutual benefit (Jentsch & Pilley, 2003), values which have become part of the normative discourse of partnership (Matenga et al., 2019). HIC partners have been disproportionately advantaged over LMIC collaborators in terms of access to resources, including funding, knowledge, expert networks and education and development opportunities (Bradley, 2007; Gaillard, 1994), and have historically had greater power and influence in all facets of the relationship (Craveiro et al., 2020; Healey-Walsh et al., 2019). Daibes & Sridharan (2014) argued that in order to address inequalities, HIC partners must acknowledge that unequal power relations exist. They called

for differences to be openly discussed, in what Gautier (2018) described as '*macro-level*' transfer of knowledge and resources from 'North' to 'South' down to '*micro-level*' differentials in staff employment benefits and living standards (Gautier et al., 2018).

Unequal power relations have also be seen in the way in which the research agenda is set, whereby HIC funders and donors identify research topics (Binka, 2005; Bradley, 2008; Bradley, 2017; Franzen et al., 2017; Viergever et al., 2010) which may not reflect priorities at LMIC partner sites (Boum Ii et al., 2018; Coloma & Harris, 2009; Kunert et al., 2020). LMIC partners have historically had a weak influence on agenda setting, which has been attributed to the imperative to secure resources – and thus the need to be flexible - compounded by having unclear institutional research priorities (Bradley, 2008). Research questions generated locally are more likely to have buy-in from providers and policy-makers, lead to more sustainable solutions than those that are externally imposed (Beran et al., 2017; Dye et al., 2013) and have greater potential to achieve health equity (Sitthi-Amorn & Somrongthong, 2000). A locally generated research agenda has also been argued to be necessary to break out of the colonial paradigm of global health (Abimbola, 2019; Byass, 2013), other aspects of which will be discussed in the section below on decolonising global health (see p.25).

HIC research institutions and funders have historically been dominant in determining who they partner with and what benefits partners receive (Bradley, 2007; Bradley, 2008; White, 2007). HIC grant applicants have been accused of tokenistic involvement of LMIC partners at the application stage if a funding call requires a LMIC collaborator to be named (Beran et al., 2017; Gautier et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2015), only inviting full engagement once funds have been awarded and the direction and scope of work decided (Forti, 2005). Despite ostensibly pushing for involvement of LMIC collaborators by requiring adherence to terms and conditions under tight timeframes which favour HIC partners that already have the necessary research management systems in place to deliver on these requirements (Boum li et al., 2018).

HIC dominance has extended to HIC partners typically leading programmes of research, setting ethical standards and managerial rules (Gautier et al., 2018), governing partnerships' administration and budget management (Carbonnier & Kontinen, 2014; Gaillard, 1994; Matenga et al., 2019; Murphy et al., 2015) and in some cases instigating parallel structures that bypass local institutions (Sawyerr, 2004). LMIC partners have been confined to operational roles (Craveiro et al., 2020; Mony et al., 2005) in what has been described as a relational structure of *'subordinate integration'* (Feld & Kreimer, 2019, p. 166). HIC researchers have dominated academic authorship which has been

attributed to LMIC researchers' lack of experience in scientific writing compounded by the conventions of academic publishing whereby certain types of contribution are privileged over others (Craveiro et al., 2020; Gautier et al., 2018; González-Alcaide et al., 2020; Mony et al., 2005; Walsh et al., 2016).

Overtly neo-colonial behaviours, including 'mosquito researchers', 'parasites' and 'parachutists' who arrive from HICs, engage minimally with LMIC researchers, take data and samples for analysis and write up their results making little or no efforts to report back to the local community (Binka, 2005; Closing the door, 2018; Craveiro et al., 2020; Edejer, 1999), are rarely reported in contemporary literature on global health partnerships, but partnerships can disguise more 'insidious, subversive ill effects' (Edejer, 1999, p. 439). These include one-way accountability, transparency and reporting whereby HIC partners, as the prime grant recipients, place extensive demands on sub-contracted partners while having minimal scrutiny of their operations (Harrison, 2002; Matenga et al., 2019).

Further challenges exist due to the way in which global health research has been incentivised and its success judged. Research funds typically operate on short term project lifecycles which prioritise research outputs over fulfilment of principles of partnership, and criteria for academic promotion have historically not been designed to reward long-term commitment between HIC and LMIC partners (Bradley, 2008) nor the policy-oriented, applied research outputs which partnerships may generate (RAWOO, 2001).

Principles and guidelines for partnership

One response to the acknowledgement of partnership inequities has been the development of principles and guidelines to inform how partnerships operate. Guidance on good partnering has proliferated in the fields of global health and development over the past 30 years. In my early reading on global health research partnerships I came across various principles, guidelines, frameworks and tools for partnership, embedded within journal articles and reports and as stand-alone documents, but could not find any synthesis of this material. This informed my decision to conduct a scoping review of partnership guidance as the first objective of this DrPH study in order to establish the level of consensus about what principles partnerships should seek to uphold and what the main areas to address were. As I was nearing the end of the literature search phase of my scoping review, Faure *et al.* (2021) published a scoping review of guiding principles for global health research partnerships. The parallel thinking that led to three separate groups deciding to conduct similar scoping reviews within a short timeframe suggests demand from potential users for direction

as to where to start in navigating the diverse and wide-ranging guidance on partnership. I found it reassuring that while the scope of each review was slightly different, there was considerable overlap in the themes identified. The findings from my scoping review – including a comparison with Faure *et al.* (2021) and Monette *et al.* (2021) - are described in a published paper which is enclosed in Chapter 2: Scoping review.

Capacity strengthening

A persistent challenge in global health is that where the need is greatest, there are often reciprocal constraints on delivering high quality research to inform decisions and action (McKee et al., 2012). The financial, political, environmental and social challenges that are associated with poor health and that constrain health systems and limit healthcare provision also limit capacity for health research (Marmot, 2005).

Capacity strengthening has been positioned as a solution to address this challenge and facilitate more and higher quality health research in LMICs, and this field has burgeoned since the 1990s (Dean et al., 2017; Franzen et al., 2017). Capacity strengthening initiatives have focused on supporting individuals, institutions, and the wider environment (Bowsher et al., 2019; Cole et al., 2014; Marjanovic et al., 2013; Wallis & Bates, 2016) and have addressed the development of research skills (Dean et al., 2017) and the systems that are necessary to manage, support and utilise health research (Consort, 2017a, 2017b, 2017c; Wallis & Bates, 2016; Wallis et al., 2017). An inclusive definition which encapsulates this range of activities describes capacity strengthening as, *'a process of improving individual skills, processes and structures at the organisational level and the networks and context in which the organisation functions'* (Bates et al., 2014, p. 1).

Capacity strengthening is a prominent theme in research partnership guidelines as described in the scoping review in Chapter 2. There has been increasing acknowledgement that capacity strengthening is a bi-directional activity and calls for it to be re-named as mutual learning or capacity exchange to reflect the benefits that HICs derive and break the 'giver-receiver' paradigm that implies a uni-directional flow of expertise from HICs to LMICs (Binagwaho et al., 2013; Binka, 2005; Prasad et al., 2022).

Power

Many of the problems inherent in research partnerships arise from disparities in access to resources between LMICs and HICs. It is not surprising, therefore, that the literature on power in global health partnerships tends to focus on the gap between LMIC and HIC institutions. This gap has been

described variously as a power differential, power imbalance and unequal distribution of power, often without further elaboration or interrogation. Sriram *et al.* (2018) suggest that *'analysing and engaging with power has important potential for improving our understanding of the underlying causes of inequity, and our ability to promote transparency, accountability and fairness'* (p. 611). Thus, exploring – at least in a limited way - some theories of power is a useful aid to improving understanding of partnership inequities and how these might be addressed.

A caveat to this brief introduction to power is that the literature on the topic is vast and wideranging. My choice of literature is neither complete nor systematically selected. I have been informed through several key texts from the field of global health, and further references arising from these.

Power has been defined as 'The ability to influence and control material, human, intellectual and financial resources to achieve a desired outcome' (Global Health 50/50, 2020, p. 15). It plays out in a dynamic adjustment of social, economic and political relations between individuals and groups (Global Health 50/50, 2020). Sriram et al. (2018) offered a useful overview of dimensions of power (how it is channelled) and sources of power (how it emerges) as a pre-amble to a review of the 'ten best' resources on power. They described the spectrum of views about whether power is channelled through structures, such as organisations and language, individual agency, or both in an intertwined manner, citing Levi-Strauss (power through structure) (Levi-Strauss, 1968) and Giddens (agency and structure are interwoven) (Giddens, 1984). Gramsci developed a theory of hegemonic power whereby the dominant class generate a consensus view within their group and use this to reinforce their position of authority (Gramsci, 1999). Meanwhile, Foucault conceptualised power as inseparable from the creation of knowledge, leading to the creation of truths which shape discourse and behaviour (Foucault, 1994). Discretionary power refers to how implementers determine policy because recipients only experience what implementers choose to enact (Lipsky, 1980). In the context of partnerships, this could be played out through the interpretation and application of principles for partnership to fit with the interests of those who apply them, even if this is not how they were intended. In their taxonomy of power, Barnet and Duvall (2005) identified four dimensions: *compulsory power* – describing the direct control of one actor over another; institutional power – referring to actors' indirect control over others; structural power – the internal relationships of actors' different structural positions; and productive power – the social discourses through which meaning is produced, experienced and transformed. Institutional and structural power have perhaps been the most widely described dimensions in the partnership literature referring to the dominance of HIC research institutions and the structures of partnership that place the lead grant applicant in a partnership – usually the HIC partner – in a dominant position. The

relative position of partners reported in the study findings and implications on power are considered in the Discussion chapter.

Sriram *et al.* (2018) classified sources of power as: *technical expertise, political power, bureaucratic power, financial power, networks and access,* and *personal attributes*. Technical expertise describes the power derived from knowledge, skills and information held by individuals (Haas, 1992); political power comes from political authority - the power of the nation state (Mann, 1986); bureaucratic power arises from the authority of bureaucracies and the administrative processes of policy formulation (James, 2011); financial power refers to access to financial resources and using these resources to influence decision-making (Bourdieu, 2008); networks and access generate power through the collective knowledge generated and shared within them (Rhodes & Marsh, 1992) and personal attributes describe the power generated by charismatic individuals, which is mediated by characteristics including gender, race, sexuality and religion (Weber, 1946). I will revisit some of these sources of power in the Discussion chapter in relation to how they manifested in the study findings and how they might explain the relationship between sub-Saharan African and HIC partners.

A theory of power which has particular resonance to the relational dynamics of research partnerships in a changing context is Bourdieu's theory of power and practice (Bourdieu, 1977). This has been applied to excellent effect by Walsh *et al.* (2016) who used its three key tenets of *habitus*, *field* and *capital* to analyse and interpret power dynamics in 'North-South' public health research partnerships in Zambia. Bourdieu's theory will be unpacked further in the Discussion chapter.

A final comment on power is to introduce the notion of the *partnership paradox* in which addressing inequality is both the goal of partnership efforts, yet also serves as an opportunity to be exploited by those holding power (Crane, 2010). Citrin *et al.* (2017) described this paradox as the tension that arises when partnerships *'mirror or reproduce the very cross-national inequities they seek to alleviate. On the one hand, they risk worsening power dynamics that perpetuate health disparities; on the other, they form an essential response to the need for healthcare resources to reach <i>marginalized populations across the globe'* (Citrin et al., 2017, p. 1). Meanwhile Elbers (2012) in his PhD thesis entitled *'The Partnership Paradox'* focused on similar issues in international development, setting out to explore the gap between espoused principles and observed practice of partnership paradox is thus a succinct encapsulation of fundamental contradictions which may help to explain the reticence of those in positions of power in global health to relinquish this power in service of achieving the goals of health equity that their work aspires towards.

Decolonising global health

The colonial origins of tropical medicine as the antecedent to global health are uncontested (Chakrabarti, 2013; Crane, 2010; Farley, 2008; Manton, 2011) and the literature on research partnerships has long acknowledged that it carries the imprint of colonialism. What has changed with the advent of the decolonising global health movement is the nature of the call to action and what this means for the practice of global health research partnerships. Decolonising global health has been defined as 'a movement that fights against ingrained systems of dominance and power in the work to improve the health of populations, whether this occurs between countries, including between previously colonising and plundered nations, and within countries' (Khan et al., 2021, p. 1). When I began my early forays into the literature on partnerships, the colonial legacy of global health was an ever-present backdrop but was often referred to obliquely or only mentioned in passing. The agenda for decolonisation has snowballed during the three years that I have been working on this study. As an illustration: a search of the database PubMed in June 2022 using the search term 'decolonising' decolonizing global health' brought back a return of 125 relevant articles, of which all but 20 were published since 2020, and only seven of which were published before 2018.

Notwithstanding the recent surge of attention, the conceptual foundations underpinning the movement to decolonise global health have a much longer history. The introduction of the term 'decolonising' has been attributed to various scholars, one of the earliest being German economist Moritz Julie Bonn in the early 1930s (Wesseling, 1987). As a literal definition, decolonising describes the process by which formerly colonised nations became politically independent (Cambridge Dictionary). Some contemporary writers have distinguished between the observable act of colonisation and the intangible yet powerful force of coloniality. Richardson (2019), for example, defined coloniality as 'the matrix of power relations that persistently manifests transnationally and intersubjectively despite a former colony's achievement of nationhood' and Fofana (2021) argued that coloniality persists, despite colonisation largely having ended by the late 20th century. Neocolonialism, a term coined by Nkrumah (1965), has a similar meaning to coloniality. It has been used to describe a situation which 'perpetuates and reinforces the colonialist paradigm of control and influence through unrecognized actions, behaviors, attitudes, and beliefs' (Eichbaum et al., 2021, p. 329). Its antonym is de-colonialism which seeks to 'interrogate rather than entrench power, and to abrogate structures that perpetuate exploitation and dispossession' (Fofana, 2021, p. 1163).

An influential early pioneer of decolonising theory in the 1950s was psychiatrist and philosopher Franz Fanon, whose works include *Toward the African Revolution* (Fanon, 1967), a collection of

political essays revolving around the liberation of Africa, and *The Wretched of the Earth* (Fanon, 1961) which advocated the necessity for violent struggle to escape oppression. Fanon's texts are widely referenced in global health (Ali & Rose, 2022; Chaudhuri et al., 2021; Gautier et al., 2022; Hirsch, 2021) and, alongside other philosophers, theorists and popular writers such as Wiredu (1998) and Ngugi wa Thiong'o (*Decolonising the Mind* (Thiong'o, 1986)), sowed the seeds from which the movement to decolonise global health has grown.

The germination of the decolonising global health movement has been attributed to university students from high income settings, such as Duke, Harvard, Karolinska and LSHTM (Büyüm et al., 2020; Lawrence & Hirsch, 2020; Oti & Ncayiyana, 2021). It was inspired by the #Rhodes Must Fall radical student campaign which started in March 2015 with the initial goal of decolonising the University of Cape Town (Ahmed, 2020), and has been spurred on by a parallel, broader agenda for colonial legacies in contemporary society to be addressed, including the Black Lives Matter (https://blacklivesmatter.com/) movement.

A number of recent commentaries and editorials have used the COVID-19 pandemic as an illustration of the persistence of the colonial legacy in global health. Editorials in The Lancet Global Health (2020) and BMJ Global Health (Büyüm et al., 2020) lamented the inward focus of HICs during the pandemic. Büyüm et al. (2020) described the structural violence that continues to operate within and between countries and disproportionately affects marginalised populations, defining this as 'the discriminatory social arrangement that, when encoded into laws, policies and norms, unduly privileges some social groups while harming others' (p.1). They argued that health outcomes are mediated by the convergence of global, regional and local systems of oppression that can be traced back to colonial structures and were highlighted during the pandemic. Abimbola et al. (2021) called for the power asymmetries and inequalities that COVID-19 brought into the spotlight to be addressed in its wake and, having made similar arguments, Atuire and Bull (2022) offered a three pronged approach to tackle the task of decolonisation, combining elements of hegemony, epistemology and commitment. Chaudhuri et al. (2021) claimed that COVID-19 'illustrated how white supremacy, racism, sexism and capitalism still remain tied as central, rationalising logics for the global health industry' (p.2) and Fofana (2021) used case studies from the pandemic to illustrate how colonial history continues to shape global health.

Both in the articles using the COVID-19 pandemic as a platform and in other writing on decolonising, there is a good degree of consistency in claims about the effects of colonialism on global health. There is perhaps more divergence around how its legacy should be addressed and commentators occupy a range of ideological positions. Oti and Ncayiyana (2021) commented on this, positioning

themselves as pragmatists along a spectrum of actors from conceptual thinkers to pragmatists to sceptics. They promoted a framework developed by the Global Health Decolonisation Movement -Africa (GHDM-Africa) which identified five target stakeholder groups (multi nationals, individual practitioners, funders, academic institutions and publishers) and described common manifestations of coloniality coupled with ways that each stakeholder group should decolonise these manifestations. At the time of writing, the GHDM-Africa website which described the framework in more detail was not functioning, but the article contains a useful summary, including issues that have been previously well-documented, e.g., restrictions on grant eligibility, and the notion of unidirectional flow of expertise from 'North' to 'South'. Khan et al. (2021) took an unapologetically practical approach through their roadmap to move from rhetoric to reform. The authors identified three steps for global health practitioners to achieve progress: identifying the mechanisms by which global health actors perpetuate inequity, listing reforms needed to decolonise global health practice, and developing metrics to track progress. Kwete et al. (2022) identified three levels at which colonialism remains in global health: practice-level, institutional-level and policy-level, and described solutions applicable at each level, while Demir (2022) outlined three core issues for the decolonialisation of global health education and research: recognising the legacy of coloniality in health outcomes, addressing racial inequalities in health without racialising disease, and increasing racial literacy. This work all falls toward the pragmatist end of the spectrum. Towards the radical end are those who claim that the degree of change that is required can only be achieved through revolutionising the global health system and not by modifying it (Saha, 2019). Hirsch (2021) demanded fundamental change while being sceptical about the possibility of decolonising global health, given the power and vested interests of leading HIC global health institutions. She promoted Fanon's work and called for anger and revolution. Chaudhuri et al. (2021), also drawing on Fanon's thinking, advocated a position that 'decolonisation is an entire systemic overhaul only accomplished by the removal of the coloniser or dismantling of structures that preserve power' (p.1). They unpacked what this would mean in the context of global health and critiqued Khan et al.'s (2021) roadmap for not acknowledging the prejudices of white supremacy, racism, sexism and capitalism that underpin the colonial foundations of global health. They posited that without resolving these issues, attempts to secure fundamental and lasting change would have limited success. They also argued that for real progress to be made it is necessary to draw more heavily on social theorists who have explored frameworks for power and oppression. They advocated for attention to be paid to Freire's notion of alterity (Freire, 2000) in which diverse voices contribute and are heard with equal merit, Foucault's concept of *biopower* (Foucault, 1979) and Mbembe's notion of *necropower*

(Mbembe, 2011). These latter two theories both describe the power that governments wield to determine whose lives are worth saving and whose are not.

Another social theorist whose ideas lend insight to an exploration of decolonisation is De Sousa Santos. He described *abyssal thinking* (De Sousa Santos, 2007) as the consequence of modern science claiming a monopoly on the distinction between true and false and argued that this has led to *epistemicide*, the killing of other knowledge systems, particularly non-Western philosophies. Visvanathan (2009) and Hall & Tandon (2017) used the terms *cognitive justice* and *knowledge democratisation* respectively in recognition of the exclusion of non-Western knowledge systems and the need to recognise and value diverse knowledge systems, arguing that this is essential to achieve a fairer and healthier world. Atuire and Bull (2022) also drew attention to the need for the models governing how knowledge is generated and shared to be revisited through what they called *epistemic decolonisation*. This was one of three complementary dimensions that they proposed as a model to decolonise global health. The other two dimensions were *hegemonic decolonisation* - the need for power and decision-making to shift to local actors and *commitmental decolonisation* – the conscious decision to engage local communities and ensure that research is accountable to them.

Defending an evolutionary approach to decolonising global health, Hellowell and Schwerdtle (2022) cautioned against too violent a disruption of the current system. They suggested that not all the ills of global health are attributable to the colonial system and that an overzealous adoption of a decolonising global health mindset might undermine confidence in scientific knowledge, accentuate tensions within and between nations and limit opportunities for changes that redistribute the balance of power.

This section has provided an overview of the burgeoning literature on decolonising global health. I will revisit the implications for global health research partnerships in the Discussion chapter in light of the findings from the primary data collection.

Chapter 2: Scoping review (Paper 1)



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student ID Number	1805148	Title	Miss
First Name(s)	Shirine		
Surname/Family Name	Voller		
Thesis Title	Equitable global health research partnerships		
Primary Supervisor	Nicki Thorogood		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Health Policy and Planning https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czac008		
When was the work published?	April 2022 (Advance Access Publication 28 January 2022)		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	N/A		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	 Shirine Voller was responsibe for conception and design of the work, data collection, data analysis and interpretation, drafting the article and critical revision of the article. Joanna Schellenberg, Nicki Thorogood and Primus Chi provided supervisory input to the conception and design of the study and critical revision of the article. All authors gave final approval of the version to be submitted.
---	---

SECTION E

Student Signature	Shirine Voller
Date	12 November 2022

Supervisor Signature	Nicki Thorogood
Date	12 November 2022

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk

What makes working together work? A scoping review of the guidance on North–South research partnerships

Shirine Voller^{1,2,*}, Joanna Schellenberg³, Primus Chi⁴ and Nicki Thorogood¹

¹Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, 15-17 Tavistock Place, London WC1H 9SH, UK

²Epidemiology and Demography Department, KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme, CGMRC, PO Box 230-80108 Kilifi, Kenya

³Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, UK

⁴Health Systems and Research Ethics Department, KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme, CGMRC, PO Box 230-80108 Kilifi, Kenya

Joanna Schellenberg—although the co-author is a section editor of the journal, there was no involvement with the peer review process for this article.

*Corresponding author. Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, 15-17 Tavistock Place, London WC1H 9SH, UK.

E-mail: shirine.voller@lshtm.ac.uk

Accepted on 28 January 2022

Abstract

At their best, research partnerships provide a mechanism to optimise each partner's strengths, make scientific discoveries and achieve development goals. Each partner stands to gain from the relationship and perceives it to be fair. However, partnerships between institutions in the global North and the global South have been beleaguered by structural inequalities and power imbalances and Northern stakeholders have been criticised for perpetuating paternalistic or neo-colonial behaviours. As part of efforts to redress imbalances and achieve equity and mutual benefit, various principles, guidelines, frameworks and models for partnership have been developed. This scoping review maps the literature and summarises key features of the guidelines for North-South research partnerships. The review was conducted between October 2020 and January 2021. Three academic journal databases and Google were searched and additional resources were identified through a hand search of reference lists and expert recommendation. Twenty-two guidelines were identified published between 1994 and 2021 and originating predominantly in the fields of international development and global health. The themes addressed within the guidelines were aggregated using NVivo qualitative analysis software to code the content of each guideline. Topics featuring most prominently in the guidelines were: partner roles, responsibilities and ways of working; capacity

strengthening; motivation and goals; resource contributions; agenda setting and study design; governance structures and institutional agreements; dissemination; respect for affected populations; data handling and ownership; funding; and long-term commitments. The current study reinforces many of the themes from two recent scoping reviews specific to the field of global health, but gaps remain, which need to be addressed: Southern stakeholders continue to be underrepresented in guideline development and there is limited evidence of how guidelines are used in practice. Further exploration is needed of Southern stakeholder priorities and whether and how guidelines are operationalized.

Key messages

- There are many sources of guidance for North–South research partnerships, predominantly from the fields of global health and international development.
- There is high concordance within existing guidance on the themes and principles for achieving equity in North–South research partnerships.
- Stakeholders from the global South are under-represented in guideline development, and more work is needed to understand all partners' priorities for partnership.
- There is limited evidence of whether and how guidelines are used in practice.

Introduction

Partnership is seen as an important mechanism for improving health and achieving development goals (United Nations, 2020). It is often associated with a set of values such as responsibility, joint decision-making, trust and mutual understanding (Mommers and van Wessel 2009; Corbin et al., 2012) and has been characterised as a 'cooperation strategy...governed by a comprehensive and inclusive perspective...and promoting synergetic actions and initiatives' (Forti, 2005, p. 32). Costello and Zumla (2000) advocated for an emerging model of partnership research in low and middle income countries over its predecessor, which they termed the 'semi-colonial' model. They described partnerships as having, amongst other characteristics, a jointly negotiated research agenda, integral links with national institutions, nationally led line management, strong influence on local policy makers, dissemination balanced between international, national and regional journals and a role in strengthening national academic infrastructure. They contrasted this with the semicolonial model in which the research agenda is dominated by outsiders, only peripheral links are established with national institutions, dissemination is focused on international outputs and there is little engagement of local policy makers (p.828). Notably, even while promoting the emerging model of partnership, the language that Costello and Zumla used was entrenched in assumptions: 'local' and 'national' were used to refer to low- and middle-income country (LMIC) institutions, while

'international' largely referred to high-income country (HIC) institutions. These, among other terms, remain prevalent in the discourse of global health (itself a questionable term), which matters because language both influences and reveals attitudes towards colonial roots (Hommes *et al.,* 2021). The terms North and South are also imperfect and crude but remain sufficiently widespread that they were felt to be appropriate to use in this scoping review.

Examples of 'mosquito researchers' and 'parachutists' (Edejer, 1999, p. 2) from the global North, who take data and samples for analysis and writing up and make little effort to share results with the community in which the research was conducted, (Edejer, 1999; Binka, 2005; Craveiro *et al.*, 2020) are, thankfully, rarely reported in recent literature. However, partnerships are not a panacea and can disguise 'insidious subversive ill effects' (Edejer, 1999, p. 439). These include one-way accountability, transparency and reporting whereby Northern partners, often the prime grant recipient, place extensive demands on sub-contracted partners while having less scrutiny of their own processes of operation (Harrison, 2002; Matenga *et al.*, 2019).

Northern partners are often disproportionately advantaged over their Southern collaborators in terms of access to resources, including funding, knowledge, expert networks and education and development opportunities, and typically have greater power and influence in all facets of the relationship (Healey-Walsh et al., 2019; Craveiro et al., 2020). Unequal power relations have also be seen in the way in which research agendas are set, whereby Northern funders and donors frame research topics (Binka, 2005; Viergever et al., 2010; Franzen et al., 2017; Bradley, 2017), which may not reflect priorities at Southern partner sites (Coloma and Harris, 2009; Kunert et al., 2020). An imperative to secure funds compounded by unclear institutional research priorities have been cited as factors contributing to the weak position in agenda setting that Southern partners have historically occupied (Bradley, 2008). Northern research institutions and funders have also been dominant in determining which partners to approach and what benefits they receive (Bradley 2008; 2007; White, 2007). In some instances, Southern partners are involved in a tokenistic way at the application stage if a funding call requires a Southern collaborator to be named (Murphy et al., 2015; Gautier et al., 2018), and may only be invited on board, and even then may not feel fully involved, once the direction and scope of work have been decided (Forti, 2005). Unequal power dynamics extend to Northern partners frequently leading programmes of research, setting ethical standards and managerial rules (Gautier et al., 2018), governing the partnership's administration and budget management (Gaillard, 1994; Carbonnier and Kontinen, 2014; Murphy et al., 2015; Matenga et al., 2019) and even instigating the creation of parallel structures that bypass local institutions (Sawyerr, 2004). Southern partners may be confined to operational roles (Mony et al., 2005) such as fieldwork coordinators (Craveiro et al., 2020) in what has been described as a relational structure of

'subordinate integration' (Feld and Kreimer, 2019, p. 166). The dominance of Northern researchers in academic authorship has been attributed to their senior positions in the partnership hierarchy and Southern researchers' lack of experience in scientific writing compounded by the conventions of academic publishing whereby certain types of contribution are privileged over others (Mony *et al.*, 2005; Walsh *et al.*, 2016; Gautier *et al.*, 2018; Craveiro *et al.*, 2020; González-Alcaide *et al.*, 2020).

Further challenges exist due to the way in which global health research is incentivised, and its success judged. Research funds typically operate on short term project lifecycles which attribute value to research outputs over the fulfilment of principles of partnership, and criteria for academic promotion do not explicitly reward long-term commitment between Northern and Southern partners (Bradley, 2008), nor the policy-oriented, applied research outputs often arising from partnerships (RAWOO, 2001). More diverse indicators of success are increasingly being applied, including sustainability of interventions and investment in research capacity development (Edejer, 1999), and there is some evidence that traditional hierarchies of authorship are shifting to award greater recognition to the contribution of those leading field research activities (White, 2020).

In sum, a range of structural inequalities and historical legacies in the relationship between the global North and South (Bradley, 2007; Craveiro *et al.*, 2020) remain central to the challenges of realizing partnership ideals of equity and mutual benefit (Jentsch and Pilley, 2003). Critics have argued that the benefits of partnership have been channelled disproportionately to the global North (Bradley, 2007; Crane, 2010), and there is a need to redress the balance. Furthermore, the philosophical underpinnings of global health are increasingly being scrutinized. There are calls for a fundamental re-formulation of the systems, structures and attitudes that sustain global health, and growing pressure to decolonize the field (Abimbola *et al.*, 2021, Chaudhuri et al., 2021; Hirsch, 2021). As these discussions gain momentum and stimulate change within the system of global health, efforts also are being made at an operational level to work towards equity through the development and application of principles and guidelines for partnerships.

For practitioners working in global health who want to assess and improve their partnership practice, navigating the guidance on partnerships can be overwhelming. This scoping review aims to offer assistance by identifying, characterizing and summarizing a broad range of published guidance on North-South research partnerships, searching beyond the field of global health to accommodate guidance from other fields. It includes principles for how partners should behave, guidelines for operationalizing research partnerships, and frameworks and models which characterize the components of equitable North-South research partnerships. Empirical studies yield valuable lessons for practice and are essential to illustrate the challenges that project teams

face and strategies employed in pursuit of fulfilling partnership goals but were outside of the scope of this review.

This review seeks to complement the findings of two scoping reviews specific to global health, which were published in early 2021 (Faure *et al.,* 2021; Monette *et al.,* 2021) when our review was completed, and explores whether extending the search beyond global health to other fields of research yields fresh perspectives on effective partnership working.

The review is intended to help practitioners navigate the extensive guidance available and identify what to focus on to improve how the North-South partnerships they are involved in work. Practitioners from the global South are particularly encouraged to critique the review's findings and consider whether there are gaps in the existing guidance that need to be addressed.

Methods

Scoping reviews typically seek to achieve some or all of the following objectives: to identify the types of evidence available in a given field; to clarify key concepts or definitions in the literature; to examine how research is conducted on a certain topic or field; to identify key characteristics relating to a concept as a precursor to a systematic review and to identify and analyse knowledge gaps (Munn *et al.*, 2018). Our scoping review substantially addresses the following objectives: 'to identify the types of available evidence in a given field' and 'to identify key characteristics or factors related to a concept'. In both objectives, we aim to look beyond the global health literature to also explore evidence in other fields (e.g. international development), hence consolidating evidence on equity in partnerships that can be utilized beyond the field of global health. Scoping reviews are also used to report on evidence that informs practice and in emerging fields of study (Munn *et al.*, 2018). Since the field of research partnerships has grown in recent decades, this reinforced the utility of the scoping review methodology. The steps of Arksey and O'Malley's methodological framework for conducting scoping reviews (Arksey and O'Malley 2005) were broadly followed:

Step 1: identifying the research question

The question addressed by the review was 'What are the characteristics of the principles, guidelines, frameworks and models which have been developed to guide the operationalization of North-South research partnerships?'
Steps 2 and 3: identifying relevant studies and study selection

Relevant studies were identified by searching three academic journals databases, PubMed, Scopus and Web of Science, between 26 October and 16 November 2020 applying the search string:

(North-South) AND research AND (Partnership OR Collaboration) AND (guideline OR principle OR framework OR model).

No date filters were applied to the search. Titles and abstracts were screened for relevance and a check was made on whether the article was freely available in full text and whether it was written in English. Once articles had been discarded that did not satisfy these requirements and duplicates were removed, the remaining articles were read in full to identify principles, guidelines, frameworks and models for partnerships (hereafter referred to collectively as 'guidelines') either directly or from references cited within the article. Guidelines were included where they were derived from a broad body of experience, evidence or both. Guidelines were excluded where they emerged as lessons learned from an empirical study of an individual project partnership. Write-ups of individual project partnerships are valuable for illustrating challenges faced and strategies successfully used by stakeholders to achieve the goals of their partnership and can generate valuable guidance, which may be generalizable to other situations but fell outside the scope of this review. A complementary search to the database search was conducted in Google in December 2020. The top 100 hits, not including sponsored links, were reviewed for relevance. Duplicates were removed, and the full text of the remaining publications was reviewed to identify guidelines for inclusion.

In Arksey and O'Malley's methodological framework (Arksey and O'Malley 2005), *Consultation* is included as an optional sixth step, while in this review, it was incorporated as part of the study identification and selection process.

Step 4: charting the data

A data charting form was developed to extract data about descriptive characteristics of each guideline and guideline content. The form included fields for: output type, field of research or implementation, target audience and methodology by which guideline was developed and key features of the guideline.

Step 5: collating, summarising and reporting results

Two steps were followed in collating, summarising and reporting the results. Firstly, descriptive characteristics were extracted and listed in the data charting form. An iterative process of deriving categories for each characteristic was undertaken whereby data from the data charting forms were

aggregated in an excel spreadsheet and categories developed from the data for each characteristic of interest. Secondly, guidelines were uploaded in full text into NVivo to facilitate inductive coding of the topics addressed by the guidelines. Once all guidelines had been coded, the codes were reviewed, revised and organised within NVivo.

Results

Identifying guidelines

The database searches returned a total of 1224 articles. One thousand one hundred and forty-seven articles were discarded at the title and abstract review stage because they were not relevant, were not available in full text or were not available in English. Of the remaining 77 articles, 24 were duplicates and were removed, leaving 53 unique articles across the three databases. Two guidelines were identified directly from these articles, and a further nine from reference lists.

The Google search yielded 47 relevant publications. Once duplicates were removed, 32 unique publications remained, from which five new guidelines were identified. A further six guidelines were identified from wider reading and recommendations during December 2020 and January 2021.

In total, 224 documents were selected for consideration in the review. Figure 1 depicts the identification and selection process, while Table 1 lists the guidelines selected for inclusion.

Figure 1. Modified PRISMA (Page *et al.,* 2021) flow diagram depicting scoping review study identification and selection



Table 1. Partnership guidelines included in the scoping review

	Author & date of publication	or & date of publication Guideline name							
1	Afsana et al., 2009	Partnership Assessment Toolkit	Toolkit	Global Health					
2	Alba et al., 2020	Bridging research integrity and global health epidemiology (BRIDGE) guidelines	Journal article	Global Health					
3	Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada, 2013	Three sets of characteristics of effective and innovative partnerships	Report	International development					
4	Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research, 2015	CCGHR principles for global health research	Guideline	Global Health					
5	Carbonnier and Kontinen, 2014	North-South Research Partnership, Academia meets Development	Policy brief/ report	International development					
6	Cornish, Fransman and Newman, 2017	Rethinking research partnerships	Toolkit	International development					
7	Costello and Zumla, 2000	Moving to research partnerships in developing countries	Journal article	Global health					
8	Dodson, 2017	10 ways in which funders can influence equitable partnerships	Report	International development					
9	Ecosystem Services for Poverty Alleviation (ESPA), 2018	Three constituent factors of equitable partnerships	Policy brief	International development					

10	Faure <i>et al.,</i> 2021	10 key areas for developing equitable	Journal article	Global Health
		international collaborations		
11	Gaillard, 1994	Charter of North South partners	Journal article	International
				development
12	Kennedy <i>et al.,</i> 2006	10 Steps in the process of ethical research	Journal article	Midwifery
		collaboration across ethnically and culturally		
		diverse communities		
13	Larkan <i>et al.,</i> 2016	Attributes and derived core concepts for	Journal article	Global Health
		successful research partnerships in global		
		health		
14	Leffers and Mitchell, 2011	Conceptual Model for Partnership and	Journal article	Global Health
		Sustainability in Global Health		
15	3 rd World Conference on	Responsibilities of Individual and Institutional	Guideline	No discipline
	Research Integrity, 2013	Partners in Cross-Boundary Research		specified
		Collaborations		
16	Newman and Fransman, 2019/	8 principles for fair and equitable research	Journal article	International
	Rethinking Research	partnerships	and linked	development
	Collaborative, 2018		report	-
17	Overseas Development Institute	5 characteristics of successful North South	Guideline	International
	(ODI), 2005	Partnerships		development
18	RAWOO, 1999	3 principles for a fruitful partnership	Report	International
				development
19	Research Fairness Initiative, 2018	3 domains, 5 topics per domain, 3 indicators	Toolkit	Global health
		per topic		
20	Stöckli <i>et al.</i> , 2018	11 principles & 7 questions	Toolkit	International
				development
21	Taylor and Berg, 2019	7 steps for developing trust	Journal article	Global health
22	Trust, 2018	Global Code of Conduct for Research in	Guideline	Research
		Resource-Poor Settings		

Publication date

The earliest guideline was published in 1994 and the most recent in January 2021. The majority of guidelines (n=15) were published or last updated in the decade 2011-2020; more than twice as many as were published in the previous decade (n=7). Only two guidelines were published before 2000.

Field of origin

Most guidelines for research partnerships originated from and were targeted towards two broad fields: International development (n=10) and global health (n=10). Two guidelines emerged from the field of research integrity and ethics (3rd World Conference on Research Integrity, 2013; Trust, 2018).

Output type

Guidelines were published in a variety of forms. The predominant output type was academic journal articles (n=9). Other output types were reports (n=4), guidelines (n=4), toolkits (n=4), websites (n=3) and policy papers (n=2). In several cases guidelines were substantiated by a package of supporting information or in multiple formats. For example, the Swiss Commission for Research Partnerships with Developing Countries (KFPE) 11 principles and seven questions guide (Stöckli *et al.*, 2018) existed as a downloadable pdf supported by web-based resources, and the Council on Health Research for Development's Research Fairness Initiative (RFI) (2018) offered three versions of the

RFI guide on its website alongside examples of institutional self-assessments and links to supporting resources and additional information. Newman *et al.* (2019) described eight principles for fair and equitable research partnerships in the Institute for Development Studies bulletin, which were also detailed in a report by the Rethinking Research Collaborative (2018). The Bridging Research Integrity and Global Epidemiology (BRIDGE) guidelines featured in two journal articles (Alba *et al.*, 2020, a,b) and a website provided supporting material.

Target audience

About a quarter (n=5) of guidelines did not explicitly describe their target audience. Where one or more audiences were specified, the most common categories were researchers (n=12), funders (n=11) and a catch-all category of 'all other stakeholders' (n=8). INGOs, health professionals, government agencies, policy makers, civil society, research administrators and students were each mentioned in between one and four guidelines. Only two guidelines were targeted towards a narrow audience: Dodson (2017) focused on the role of funders in equitable and effective international development collaborations while Kennedy *et al.* (2006) designed their guideline for midwives, although the authors commented that it could be used by researchers in other fields. No guidelines explicitly articulated a distinction between audiences in the global North and the global South.

How guidelines were developed

A range of research methodologies and consultative techniques were used to inform guideline development. Half (*n*=11) of guidelines were informed by existing literature. Faure *et al.* (2021) used a scoping review to identify 10 key areas for equitable partnership, drawing largely on qualitative empirical studies, while other authors used a literature review in combination with empirical research. For example, Alba *et al.* (2020, b) drew on the literature from two domains: best practices in epidemiology and research fairness to develop provisional guidelines which they tested and refined using a Delphi consultation to create the BRIDGE guidelines. The Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada (AUCC) developed an analytical framework (Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada, 2013) based on literature, which informed the design of data collection and analysis tools that they used to assess a number of partnership case studies. Two guidelines used the KFPE principles (Stöckli *et al.*, 2018) as a starting point: Costello and Zumla (2000) used them to inform a checklist of questions to consider, and Migot-Adholla and Warner (2005) integrated them with personal experience to identify five characteristics of successful partnerships. Most guidelines (*n*=15) were developed using multiple methods, while seven guidelines were developed based on a single method.

A third of guidelines (*n*=8) used round table discussions and workshops to generate data, and over a quarter (*n*=7) used interviews. All five studies that employed surveys did so in combination with at least one other data collection method. Four guidelines documented their use of stakeholder consultation (Research Fairness Initiative 2018; Stöckli *et al.*, 2018, Trust, 2018; Taylor and Berg 2019). In four guidelines, the authors described drawing on their personal experience as practitioners (Costello and Zumla 2000; Migot-Adholla and Warner 2005; Leffers and Mitchell 2011; Taylor and Berg 2019) and in two guidelines documents pertaining to particular North-South partnerships were analysed (Gaillard, 1994; ESPA Directorate, 2018). Two guidelines were developed using a grounded theory approach: Leffers and Mitchell (2011) interviewed 13 global health nurse experts and compared empirical findings with themes from the literature to develop a model of partnership and sustainability in global health, while Larkan *et al.* (2016) used a questionnaire and consultative meetings to develop a unifying framework for partnership.

Stakeholders from the global North featured more prominently as participants in the research and consultations, which led to guideline development than stakeholders from the global South (see Table 2). Ten guidelines were developed predominantly or exclusively drawing on Northern stakeholders as participants, while only two were developed predominantly or exclusively drawing on Southern stakeholders as participants. In almost a third of guidelines (n=7) it was not clear from the methods described within the guideline what the balance was of Northern and Southern participants who contributed to guideline development.

Stakeholder geographic location	Number of guidelines
More Northern than Southern	7
Not specified	6
Equal balance of Northern & Southern	3
All Northern	3
All Southern	1
Mix of Northern & Southern – balance unspecified	1
More Southern than Northern	1

Table 2. Geographic location of participants contributing to guideline development

Guideline structure

A number of guidelines were structured as representations of the research partnership lifecycle. For example, the Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research's Partnership Assessment Toolkit (Afsana *et al.*, 2009) comprised four phases: *Inception*, *Implementation*, *Dissemination* and 'Good *endings and new beginnings*'. The AUCC organised their guideline (Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada, 2013) into items under three headings: *foundational principles*, *sustaining*

processes and *results and activities*, and the Research Fairness Initiative (2018) identified five topics and three indicators per topic within the domains of *fairness of opportunity* before research starts, *fair process* during research and *fair sharing of benefits, costs and outcomes* at the end of a research partnership. In the Rethinking Research Partnerships report (Cornish *et al.*, 2017) the authors highlighted six phases and structured the report into chapters around these: *understanding the context, establishing the partnership, sustaining the partnership, designing and implementing research, communicating and ensuring impact* and *beyond the partnership,* while Alba *et al.*'s (2020a) guidelines comprised six standards, or phases, of the research process. The phases were: *study preparation, protocol development, data collection, data management, data analysis* and *dissemination and communication*. The KFPE principles (Stöckli *et al.*, 2018) partially mapped onto the research partnership lifecycle. The principles were: *set the agenda together, interact with stakeholders, clarify responsibilities, account to beneficiaries, promote mutual learning, enhance capacities, share data and networks, disseminate results, pool profits and merits, apply results,* and *secure outcomes.* Each principle was accompanied by a description of the issues within the principle, the main challenges in upholding it and a checklist of steps to follow when applying the principle.

Taylor and Berg's guideline for partnership (Taylor and Berg 2019) focused on trust, and they articulated seven steps to developing trust. Whilst not mapped directly to the research lifecycle, these steps offered a set of consecutive instructions to follow. Kennedy *et al.* (2006) also used the concept of steps, describing 10 steps in the process of ethical research collaboration across ethnically and culturally diverse communities.

Guidelines were further categorised as values-based, activity-based or combined values- and activity-based. An example of a values-based guideline was the Global Code of Conduct for Research in Resource-Poor Settings (Trust, 2018), which was organised into four domains: fairness, respect, care and honesty with four to eight articles within each domain. The Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research (2015) also followed a values-based approach. The authors identified six principles, all linked to a core concept of equity. These were: authentic partnering, inclusion, shared benefits, commitment to the future, responsiveness to the causes of inequity and humility. Newman at al.'s eight principles for fair and equitable research partnerships (Newman et al., 2019) were predominantly values-based and addressed the following issues: put poverty first, critically engage with context(s), redress evidence hierarchies, adapt and respond, respect diversity of knowledge and skills, commit to transparency, invest in relationships and keep learning.

Activity-based guidelines were organised around concrete actions or topics. For example, the Netherlands Development Assistance Research Council (RAWOO, 1999) proposed three conditions

for a fruitful partnership: a broad based consultative process should precede any programme, the Northern partner should be prepared to relinquish control and accept considerable Southern partner autonomy and capacity strengthening should be a specific aim of the partnership. The KFPE principles (Stöckli *et al.*, 2018), Dodson's guidelines for funders (Dodson, 2017) and the Overseas Development Institute guidelines (Migot-Adholla and Warner 2005) were also categorised as activity-based. The Montreal Statement on Research Integrity (3rd World Conference on Research Integrity, 2013) organised its largely activity-based guideline into four areas of responsibility: general collaborative responsibilities, responsibilities in managing the collaboration, responsibilities in collaborative relationships and responsibilities for outcomes of research. The statement listed 20 responsibilities divided across these four areas.

Guidelines that combined values and activities included Costello and Zumla (2000) who highlighted the importance of *mutual trust and shared decision-making, development of national research capacity, national ownership* and *emphasis on getting research findings into policy and practice* and Larkan *et al.* (2016) who derived seven core concepts from a set of attributes for successful global health partnerships. These were: *focus, values, equity, benefit, leadership, communication* and *resolution*. Faure *et al.'s* 10 key areas for developing equitable international collaborations (Faure *et al.,* 2021) and Gaillard's charter of North-South partners (Gaillard, 1994) also combined values and activities.

One guideline was a model for understanding partnership (Leffers and Mitchell 2011). This conceptual model for partnership and sustainability in global health integrated partner factors or characteristics, key components and processes for partnership development and factors affecting sustainability.

Key areas of attention for North-South partnerships

The topic areas that partnerships should focus on are summarised in Table 3 below, ranked in order of the number of guidelines which included a particular area. A total of 21 topic areas were included in two or more guidelines. Supplementary Table S1 shows which topics were included within which guidelines. The top 11 topic areas are discussed below.

Ranking	Торіс	# Guidelines
1	Roles, responsibilities & ways of working	18
2	Capacity strengthening	15
3	Motivation & goals	14
=3	Resource contributions	14
5	Agenda setting & study design	11
=5	Governance structures, institutional agreements	11

Table 3. Topics addressed by partnership guidelines

7	Dissemination	10
=7	Respect for affected populations, including local relevance	10
=7	Data handling and ownership	10
10	Funding	8
=10	Long term commitments	8
12	Acknowledging power dynamics and inequalities	7
=12	Trust	7
14	Monitoring & evaluation	6
=14	Ethical approvals	6
=14	Shared benefits	6
17	Justification for research	5
18	Appreciation of context	4
19	Administrative support	2
=19	Closure plans	2
=19	Leadership	2

The topic *roles, responsibilities and ways of working* was present in 18 of the 22 guidelines. This topic encompassed several sub-topics, including *processes to support regular, open and transparent communication between partners* (n=8) and a *commitment to transparency* (n=5), particularly around finance and administration. Several guidelines described the importance of *jointly agreed mechanisms for conflict resolution* (n=5), while *decision-making* (n=5), *accountability* (n=3) and the *role of brokers* to represent constituent organisations within a partnership and the partnership as a whole (n=3) were also highlighted.

Capacity strengthening was the second most prominent topic, featuring in 15 of 22 guidelines. Guidelines differentially emphasized whose capacity was to be strengthened and how, with attention drawn to individual, institutional and systemic or national capacity, and focusing both on capacity for research and for research management, including budgeting, contracting and ethics. Some guidelines framed the provision of resources and expertise to support the development of the weaker partner as a fundamental responsibility of the stronger partner in order for partners to collaborate on a more equal playing field. Other guidelines presented capacity strengthening as bidirectional and talked about mutual learning and growth.

The topic *motivation and goals* was addressed in 14 guidelines. Guidelines emphasised the importance of discussing and legitimizing each partner's respective interests and priorities as well as identifying mutual benefits and shared goals for the partnership. Balancing individual and joint objectives was seen to be important for the sustainability of a partnership and for developing trust.

The topic resource contributions was also addressed in 14 guidelines. Guidelines emphasised the need to discuss and agree what resources each stakeholder would commit to the partnership, and for different types of contribution to be recognised and valued. Several guidelines highlighted the

relationship between costs and benefits and suggested that the benefits accrued by each partner should be in proportion to the costs of participating in the partnership.

Agenda setting and study design were combined into a single topic that was represented in half (n=11) of the guidelines. This topic emphasized the importance of the research agenda being set jointly, all partners being involved in proposal writing, and agreement being reached on study design, especially in multi-sectoral research studies.

The topic governance structures and institutional agreements was closely aligned with roles, responsibilities and ways of working, but was classified as a separate topic because of the number of guidelines (*n*=11) that specifically mentioned the need for partnership arrangements to be documented in a formal agreement and enacted through governance structures. The types of agreement described included memoranda of understanding, codes of conduct, terms of reference and research agreements.

The topic *dissemination* was identified in 10 guidelines. Issues addressed included the obligation on partnerships to make research findings available in a format appropriate to the audience and for a wide range of audiences to be considered in dissemination plans, including the populations involved in and affected by the research. This topic also included the issue of authorship, and the need for expectations and opportunities for authorship to be clear and agreed on by all partners.

The topic *respect for affected populations, including local relevance* was identified in 10 guidelines. The topic overlapped with *dissemination* but went further to include the expectation that research results should be not only be made available in the public domain, but partners should push for translation of findings into policy and practice. This topic also addressed the imperative for research only to be done where there was buy-in from and relevance to the communities in which it was planned to take place and where it addressed a priority health issue in the country or region.

A number of issues involving research data collection, management, storage, sharing, use and ownership were reflected within the topic *Data handling and ownership* and featured in 10 guidelines. Many of the issues pertained to the need for clear and jointly agreed plans between partners for all data-related issues, with particular emphasis on data ownership and use.

Funding featured as a topic in eight guidelines and covered a range of issues, including the need to secure long-term, core funding to achieve sustainability whilst recognising the typically short, e.g. 3-5 years, time horizon of individual research grants, and recognizing the differential funding opportunities available to partners in the global North and global South. Knock-on issues included how funds were channelled to each partner, the need for funds to be fairly distributed between

partners, the need for funds to adequately cover the costs of engaging in research and the need to consider the implications of funder-specific rules and requirements on project feasibility. The topic long-term commitments was addressed by eight guidelines. As with the topic of funding, several guidelines linked long-term commitments to sustainability and to the elevation of relationships above individual projects toward institutional relationships. The time required to establish and build meaningful relationships at an individual and institutional level was also captured within this topic.

Ten other topics were identified in two or more guidelines. These were: acknowledging power dynamics and inequalities (n=7), trust (n=7), monitoring and evaluation (n=6), ethical approvals (n=6), shared benefits (n=6), justification for research (n=5), appreciation of context (n=4), administrative support (n=2), closure plans (n=2) and leadership (n=2).

Comparison of topics across disciplines

The topics identified were compared by discipline to establish whether guidelines from the discipline of global health had a substantially different emphasis compared with international development. Table 4 shows the topics disaggregated by discipline. Topics are emboldened where they were more than twice as prevalent in guidelines from one of the disciplines compared to the other. The two guidelines from the field of research integrity and ethics were included in the comparison table, but no attempt was made to compare them against the other disciplines due to the small sample size.

The top three topics identified overall: roles, responsibilities and ways of working, capacity strengthening and motivation and goals, featured equally prominently in guidelines from the fields of global health and international development. Two topics featured more prominently in guidelines from international development compared to global health: resource contributions and shared benefits. In contrast, eight topics featured more prominently in guidelines from global health compared to international development: governance structures and institutional agreements; respect for affected populations; data collection, management, storage, sharing, use and ownership; acknowledging power dynamics and inequalities; trust; ethical approvals; justification for research and administrative support.

Table 4. Topics by discipline

...

Topics addressed by partnership guidelines	Numbe topic	Number of guidelines addressing each topic								
	Total	Global health	Int dev	Integrit y & ethics						
Roles, responsibilities & ways of working	18	8	8	2						
Capacity strengthening	15	7	7	1						
Motivation & goals	14	6	6	2						

Resource contributions	14	4	9	1
Agenda setting & study design	11	4	7	0
Governance structures, institutional agreements	11	7	3	1
Dissemination	10	5	3	2
Respect for affected populations, including local	10	7	2	1
relevance				
Data handling and ownership	10	6	2	2
Funding	8	4	3	1
Long term commitments	8	3	5	0
Acknowledging power dynamics and inequalities	7	5	2	0
Trust	7	5	1	1
Monitoring & evaluation	6	2	3	1
Ethical approvals	6	4	1	1
Shared benefits	6	1	3	2
Justification for research	5	3	1	1
Appreciation of context	4	2	2	0
Administrative support	2	2	0	0
Closure plans	2	1	1	0
Leadership	2	1	1	0

Comparing the findings with reviews specific to global health partnerships

Topics identified from this scoping review were compared with the topics identified in scoping reviews from the field of global health conducted by Faure *et al.* (2021) in October-November 2019 and Monette *et al.* (2021) in February 2020. These scoping reviews included 11 and 9 resources, respectively, while the current study included 22 guidelines. There was strong overlap in the themes identified across all three reviews. The 10 topics identified in Faure *et al.'s* review were also reflected within the top 12 topics of this review, while of the 18 principles which featured in at least two of Monette *et al.'s* sources, 14 were also identified in this review (see Table 5).

Rank	This review	Fhis review Faure <i>et al.,</i> Jan 2021 ¹							
1	Roles, responsibilities & ways of working	Communication (10)	Define Roles (2); Communication (2); Transparency (2)						
2	Capacity strengthening	Capacity building (2)	Capacity Building/Strengthening (3); Mutual learning (2)						
3	Resource contributions								
4	Motivation & goals								
5	Agenda setting & study design		Agenda Setting (3)						
6	Governance structures, institutional agreements	Research agreement (5)	Accountability (3)						
=6	Dissemination	Authorship (3)							
8	Respect for affected populations, including local relevance	Local health priorities (6); Recognition of stakeholders (9)	Engage stakeholders (2); Actionable Research (2)						
=8	Data collection, management, storage, sharing, use and ownership	Sample ownership (4)	Data Access (2)						

Table 5. Comparison of themes between three scoping reviews on North-South research partnerships

10	Funding	Funding (1)	
=10	Long term commitments		Sustainability (3)
12	Acknowledging power dynamics and inequalities	Acknowledging inequalities (8)	
=12	Trust	Trust (7)	Trust (2)
14	Monitoring & evaluation		
15	Ethical approvals		
=15	Shared benefits		Mutual Benefits (6)
17	Justification for research		
18	Appreciation of context		Understand the Context (2)
19	Administrative support		
20	Closure plans		
=20	Leadership		

Discussion

The current study summarized and reported on the key features of principles, guidelines, frameworks and models for North-South research partnerships drawn from the academic, policy and practitioner domains. It endorses and extends the findings of two scoping reviews specific to global health which were published in early 2021 (Faure *et al.*, 2021; Monette *et al.*, 2021). The recent publication of these reviews and the trend indicated by the publication dates of guidelines included in the current study are consistent with the growing momentum in global health to address issues of inequity between Northern and Southern stakeholders and to improve how research partnerships work.

In contrast to Faure *et al.'s* (2021) and Monette *et al.'s* (2021) reviews which focused on global health, the current study did not limit the search to any particular discipline. However, despite this, two fields strongly dominated the search results: global health and international development. This cannot be explained by selection bias alone since, although one of the databases searched specializes in health, the other two and Google have broad coverage. A possible interpretation is that practitioners and researchers in these fields are more acutely aware than those from other fields of the colonial roots of their disciplines and the need to challenge the systems and structures that perpetuate inequities.

A quarter of guidelines did not specify their target audience. A further third included a broad category of 'all other stakeholders' to mop up unspecified audiences alongside major stakeholder groups such as researchers and funders. Imprecision in defining who the guidelines were designed for may reflect the broad applicability of principles of partnership, but in some cases may imply a lack of critical engagement in how guidelines are operationalized in a real-world context. This would be consistent with claims that imprecision in defining partnership has contributed to a lack of progress in addressing partnership inequities (Crane, 2010; Gautier *et al.*, 2018) No guideline overtly distinguished between Northern and Southern audiences. In so doing, they avoided engaging with the intractable issues of imbalances in power, control, access to resources and capacity (Healey-Walsh *et al.*, 2019; Craveiro *et al.*, 2020), which have underpinned the development of many guidelines.

All guidelines were evidence-informed. Half drew on existing literature, including other guidelines. Two thirds combined multiple methods of research and consultation. More Northern participants were consulted during guideline development than Southern participants: this is consistent with the broader partnership discourse in which Southern perspectives on partnerships are underrepresented (Bradley, 2007). A limitation of the review was that only English language publications were included, which may exacerbate the over-representation of Northern stakeholder perspectives.

The structure of guidelines varied considerably. Several guidelines used a lifecycle concept to highlight issues to be addressed during different phases of a partnership from initiation through to conclusion. Guidelines were mapped along a continuum from *values-based* to *activity-based*. Values-based guidelines emphasised relational constructs such as fairness, respect, inclusion and humility while *activity-based* guidelines were organized around concrete topics and actions. Faure *et al.* (2021) applied a similar distinction in their review of equity in international health collaborations describing these dimensions as *relational* and *structural*. While values-based guidelines may be more flexible and can be adapted to a wider variety of partnership arrangements, the strength of activity-based guidelines is that they address concrete issues and can be followed as a set of instructions for good practice. A number of the guidelines occupied the middle ground and combined values-based and activity-based components, enabling users to exploit the advantages of each.

A number of guidelines revolved around equity, or fairness, as a central construct, a finding also reflected in Monette *et al.* (2021) scoping review which described equity as 'a shared vision, fundamental goal, or encompassing value' (p.9). Some guidelines referred to equity interchangeably with equality. This risks downplaying important structural imbalances often existing between Northern and Southern partners (Boum Li *et al.*, 2018) since while partnerships may strive to be equitable, partners often do not have equal opportunities, resources and capacities. Whilst several guidelines embraced the construct of equity as a normative position, that is, for it to be right that

partnerships are fair, there was little discussion about whether equitable partnerships deliver 'better' outcomes. Alba *et al.* (2020) addressed the issue to some extent in their guideline for bridging research integrity with standards of global health epidemiology, but further exploration of whether fairer leads to better is needed and requires interrogation of what 'good' research is and whose opinions on this matter.

To summarize the content of the 22 guidelines included in this scoping review presented a challenge due to the volume of material and the diverse structure and style of the various guidelines. The summarizing process risked losing specificity through the abstraction of concepts. Nevertheless, the structured process that was followed of coding the content of guidelines and organizing codes resulted in an interpretable set of topics. A further step was taken to disaggregate the topics by the two major disciplines which contributed guidelines to the scoping review: international development and global health. A comparison of the topics covered in guidelines from these disciplines showed that the three most prevalent topics were addressed equally by both fields. After this, there were some differences in the emphasis of guidelines from global health and international development, but rather than focus on the differences, the authors suggest that there is greater value in pooling the guidance from the two disciplines.

A comparison of the topics, combined across disciplines, from this review with the themes identified in reviews by Faure et al. (2021) and Monette et al. (2021) identified substantial overlap. Faure et al.'s scoping review focused on experiences and perspectives of equity in international health collaborations and included qualitative empirical studies, opinion pieces and editorials. The authors reflected in their discussion on the need to expand the review of the literature to encompass frameworks and guidelines. The current study sought to address this issue by seeking out principles, guidelines, frameworks and models of partnership. The scoping review by Monette et al. (2021) published in March 2021 sought to elicit the principles of 'good' global health research partnerships. It was informed by nine documents, six of which were also included in this review. The concordance of themes from across these three complementary reviews form a solid base from which to focus efforts to improve how partnerships work. However, there is a risk that guidance becomes selfreferencing and fails to identify blind spots arising from the under-representation of Southern stakeholder perspectives in guideline development. Further, while the number of separate guidelines addressing a particular topic area provides an indication of its importance, individual guidelines typically presented topics as a package and not hierarchically. Further work is needed to explore the interplay between topics, whether some matter more than others and how this varies from the perspective of different stakeholder groups. This would be valuable for focusing efforts

where partnership resources and time are limited and to provide leverage in negotiating funder and institutional policies toward more equitable partnership arrangements. Other issues to explore in future studies include: how Southern institutions can best advocate for equity in partnerships, what else funders should do to promote fairness and how best to share exemplars of good partnership practice.

Conclusion

There is no shortage of guidance for North-South research partnerships, and considerable agreement on the key areas where attention needs to be paid in order for partnerships to be fair. However, Northern perspectives dominate the guidance and further exploration of what matters to Southern stakeholders is needed. Work to explore how guidelines are used, whether they make any difference and to examine the relationship between the quality of partnerships and the quality of research generated would take the field forward.

Furthermore, challenges to the foundations of global health, an increase in funding channelled directly to the global South and the maturation of world-class Southern research institutions coalescing with truly global challenges, such as COVID-19 and climate change, are likely to stimulate new partnership dynamics to take hold.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data are available at *Health Policy and Planning* online.

Data availability

The data underlying this article are available in the article and in its online supplementary material.

Funding

No external funding was provided to support the research and writing of this article.

Ethical approval. Ethical approval for this type of study is not required by our institute. *Conflict of interest statement.* None declared.

Author contributions

Conception or design of the work: S.V., J.S., N.T. and P.C.

Data collection: S.V.

Data analysis and interpretation: S.V.

Drafting the article: S.V.

Critical revision of the article: S.V., J.S., N.T. and P.C.

Final approval of the version to be submitted: S.V., J.S., N.T. and P.C.

References

- 3rd World Conference on Research Integrity. 2013. Montreal statement on research integrity in crossboundary research collaborations. 5–8 May 2013. Montreal.
- Abimbola S, Asthana S, et al. (2021). Addressing power asymmetries in global health: Imperatives in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLOS Medicine*, *18*(4), e1003604. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003604
- Afsana K, Habte D, Hatfield J, Murphy J, Neufield V. 2009. *Partnership Assessment Toolkit*. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research.
- Alba S, Lenglet A, Verdonck K *et al.* 2020a. Bridging research integrity and global health epidemiology (BRIDGE) guidelines: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ Global Health* 5: e003237.
- Alba S, Verdonck K, Lenglet A *et al.* 2020b. Bridging research integrity and global health epidemiology (BRIDGE) statement: guidelines for good epidemiological practice. *BMJ Global Health* 5: e003236.
- Arksey H, O'Malley L. 2005. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology* 8: 19–32.
- Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada. 2013. Innovative North South Partnerships: synthesis of findings. Case Studies.
- Binka F. 2005. Editorial: North-South research collaborations: a move towards a true partnership? *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 10: 207–9.
- Boum II Y, Burns BF, Siedner M *et al.* 2018. Advancing equitable global health research partnerships in Africa. *BMJ Global Health* 3: e000868.
- Bradley M. 2007. North–south research partnerships: challenges, responses and trends—a literature review and annotated bibliography. IDRC Canadian Partnerships Working Papers (ed.) *Working Paper 1*.
- Bradley M. 2008. On the agenda: North–South research partnerships and agenda-setting processes. *Development in Practice* 18: 673–85.
- Bradley M. 2017. Whose agenda? North South research partnerships. In: Mougeot L. (ed.) *Putting Knowledge to Work: Collaborating, Influencing and Learning for International Development*. Rugby, UK: Practical Action Publishing.
- Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research. 2015. CCGHR principles for global health research.
- Carbonnier G, Kontinen T. 2014. North-South research partnership: academia meets development? European Assocation of Development Reseach and Training Institutes.
- Chaudhuri M, Mkumba L, Raveendran Y, Smith, RD. (2021). Decolonising global health: beyond 'reformative' roadmaps and towards decolonial thought. *BMJ Global Health*, *6*(7), e006371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-006371</u>
- Coloma J, Harris E. 2009. From construction workers to architects: developing scientific research capacity in low-income countries. *PLoS Biology* 7: e1000156.
- Corbin H, Mittelmark MB, Lie GT. 2012. Scaling-up and rooting down: a case study of North-South partnerships for health from Tanzania. *Global Health Action* 5: 18369.

Cornish H, Fransman J, Newman K. 2017. Rethinking research partnerships: discussion guide and toolkit. Costello A, Zumla A. 2000. Moving to research partnerships in developing countries. *BMJ* 321: 827–9. Crane J. 2010. Unequal 'partners'. AIDS, academia, and the rise of global health. *Behemoth* 3: 78–97.

Craveiro I, Carvalho A, Ferrinho P. 2020. "Get us partnerships!" - a qualitative study of Angolan and Mozambican health academics' experiences with North/South partnerships. *Globalization and Health* 16.

Dodson J. 2017. Building Partnerships of Equals: The Role of Funders in Equitable and Effective International Development Collaborations. London, United Kingdom: UK Collaborative on Development Sciences.

- Edejer TTT. 1999. North-South research partnerships: the ethics of carrying out research in developing countries. *BMJ* 319: 438–41.
- ESPA Directorate. 2018. *Research for Development Impact: The Role of Equitable Partnerships: Policy and Practice Briefing*. Edinburgh, Scotland, United Kingdom: Ecosystem Services for Poverty Alleviation (ESPA).

Faure MC, Munung NS, Ntusi NAB, Pratt B, De Vries J. 2021. Mapping experiences and perspectives of equity in international health collaborations: a scoping review. *International Journal for Equity in Health* 20: 1–13.

Feld A, Kreimer P. 2019. Scientific co-operation and centre-periphery relations: attitudes and interests of European and Latin American scientists. *Tapuya: Latin American Science, Technology and Society* 2: 149– 75.

- Forti S. 2005. *Building a Partnership for Research in Global Health: An Analytical Framework*. Canada: Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research Research.
- Franzen SRP, Chandler C, Lang T. 2017. Health research capacity development in low and middle income countries: reality or rhetoric? A systematic meta-narrative review of the qualitative literature. *BMJ Open* 7: e012332.
- Gaillard JF. 1994. North-South research partnership: is collaboration possible between unequal partners? *Knowledge and Policy* 7: 31–63.
- Gautier L, Sieleunou I, Kalolo A. 2018. Deconstructing the notion of "global health research partnerships" across Northern and African contexts. *BMC Medical Ethics* 19: 49.
- Gonz'alez-Alcaide G, Menchi-Elanzi M, Nacarapa E, Ramos-Rinc'on J-M. 2020. HIV/AIDS research in Africa and the Middle East: participation and equity in North-South collaborations and relationships. *Globalization and Health* 16.
- Harrison E. 2002. 'The problem with the locals': partnership and participation in Ethiopia. *Development and Change* 33: 587–610.
- Healey-Walsh J, Stuart-Shor E, Muchira J. 2019. Through the lens of postcolonial theory. *Nursing Education Perspectives* 40: 270–7.
- Hirsch L. (2021). Is it possible to decolonise global health institutions? [Perspectives]. *The Lancet, 397*(10270), 189-190.
- Hommes F, Monz'o HB, Ferrand RA *et al.* 2021. The words we choose matter: recognising the importance of language in decolonising global health. *The Lancet Global Health* 9: e897–8.
- Jentsch B, Pilley C. 2003. Research relationships between the South and the North: Cinderella and the ugly sisters? *Social Science & Medicine* 57: 1957–67.
- Kennedy HP, Renfrew MJ, Madi BC, Opoku D, Thompson JB. 2006. The conduct of ethical research collaboration across international and culturally diverse communities. *Midwifery* 22: 100–7.
- Kunert KJ, Botha A-M, Oberholster PJ *et al.* 2020. Factors facilitating sustainable scientific partnerships between developed and developing countries. *Outlook on Agriculture* 49: 204–14.
- Larkan F, Uduma O, Lawal SA, Van Bavel B. 2016. Developing a framework for successful research partnerships in global health. *Globalization and Health* 12.
- Leffers J, Mitchell E. 2011. Conceptual model for partnership and sustainability in global health. *Public Health Nursing* 28: 91–102.
- Matenga TFL, Zulu JM, Corbin JH, Mweemba O. 2019. Contemporary issues in north–south health research partnerships: perspectives of health research stakeholders in Zambia. *Health Research Policy and Systems* 17.
- Migot-Adholla S, Warner M. 2005. North-South research partnerships: a guidance note on the partnering process London Overseas Development Institute.
- Mommers C, van Wessel M. 2009. Structures, values, and interaction in field-level partnerships: the case of UNHCR and NGOs. *Development in Practice* 19: 160–72.
- Monette EM, McHugh D, Smith MJ *et al.* 2021. Informing 'good' global health research partnerships: a scoping review of guiding principles. *Global Health Action* 14: 1892308.
- Mony PK, Kurpad A, Vaz M. 2005. Capacity building in collaborative research is essential. *BMJ* 331: 843–44. Munn Z, Peters MDJ, Stern C *et al.* 2018. Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when
- choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 18: 143. Murphy J, Hatfield J, Afsana K, Neufeld V. 2015. Making a commitment to Ethics in global health research
 - partnerships: a practical tool to support ethical practice. Journal of Bioethical Inquiry 12: 137–46.

- Newman K, Bharadwaj S, Fransman J. 2019. Rethinking research impact through principles for fair and equitable partnerships. *IDS Bulletin* 50: 21–42.
- Page MJ, Mckenzie JE, Bossuyt PM et al. 2021. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 372: n71.
- RAWOO. 1999. North-South Research Partnerships: Issues and Challenges Trivandrum Expert Meeting. The Hague: Netherlands Development Assistance Research Council (RAWOO).
- RAWOO. 2001. Balancing Ownership and Partnership in Development Research: Review of 1999 and 2000. The Hague: RAWOO.
- Research Fairness Initiative. 2018. *RFI Guides*. Council on Health Research for Development. <u>https://rfi.cohred.org/rfi-guides/</u>, accessed 10 August 2021.
- Rethinking Research Collaborative. 2018. Promoting fair and equitable research partnerships to respond to global challenges: recommendations to the UKRI UK research and innovation.
- Sawyerr A. 2004. African universities and the challenge of research capacity development. *Journal of Higher Education in Africa* 2: 213–42.
- Stöckli B, Wiesmann U, Lys J-A. 2018. A Guide for Transboundary Research Partnerships, 11 Principles, 3rd Edition (1st Edition 2012). 3rd edn. Bern, Switzerland: Swiss Commission for Research Partnerships with Developing Countries (KFPE).
- Taylor LA, Berg DN. 2019. The challenge of mutual disclosure in global health partnerships. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine* 62: 657–74.
- Trust. 2018. Global code of conduct for research in resource poor settings. Trust.
- United Nations. 2020. *Goal 17: Strengthen the Means of Implementation and Revitalize the Global Partnership for Sustainable Development* [Online]. ttps://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/globalpartnerships/, accessed 30 August 2021.
- Viergever RF, Olifson S, Ghaffar A, Terry RF. 2010. A checklist for health research priority setting: nine common themes of good practice. *Health Research Policy and Systems* 8.
- Walsh A, Brugha R, Byrne E. 2016. "The way the country has been carved up by researchers": ethics and power in north–south public health research. *International Journal for Equity in Health* 15.
- White MT. 2007. A right to benefit from international research: a new approach to capacity building in lessdeveloped countries. *Accountability in Research* 14: 73–92.
- White SC. 2020. A space for unlearning? A relational perspective on North–South development research. *The European Journal of Development Research* 32: 483–502.

	Roles, respons- ibilities & ways of working	Capacity strength ening	Resourc e contribu tions	Motivati on & goals	Agenda setting & study design	Governa nce structur es, instituti onal agreem ents	Dissemi nation	Respect for affected populati ons, includin g local relevanc e	Data handlin g and owner- ship	Funding	Long term commit- ments	Acknow -ledging power dynamic s & inequal- ities	Trust	M&E	Ethical approva ls	Shared benefits	Justifica tion for research	Appreci ation of context	Admin support	Closure plans	Leader -ship
Rank	1	2	3	=3	5	=5	=7	=7	=7	10	=10	12	=12	14	=14	=14	17	18	=19	=19	=19
Count	18	15	14	14	11	11	10	10	10	8	8	7	7	6	6	6	5	4	2	2	2
Afsana et al, 2009	1	~	~	~	~	1	1	~	~		~			~	1					~	
Alba et al, 2020		· ·					~	~	~						· ·		~				
Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada/IDRC 2013	√	~	1	~	~							√	~								~
Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research, 2015	~						~	~	~		~	~	~			~		~			
Carbonnier & Kontinen, 2014				~	~						~					~					
Cornish, Fransman & Newman, 2017	~	~	~	~	~		~		~	~		~		~	~			~		~	
Costello & Zumla, 2000	1	~				~		~					~								
Dodson, 2017		~	~		~					1								~			
Ecosystem Services for Poverty Alleviation (ESPA), 2018	~			~												√					
Faure et al, 2021	~	~	~			~	~	~	~	~		~	~								
Gaillard, 1994	~	~	~	~	~		~			~	~			~							
Kennedy et al, 2006	~		~	~		~	~	~	~	~		~		~	~		~				

Supplementary table 1: Topics addressed by each partnership guideline

Larkan et al, 2016		Ì]													Ì		
Leffers & Mitchell, 2011	×		✓	×		~						~	~						~	~
Montreal Statement on Research Integrity, 2013	✓ ✓	✓		✓ ✓		~	~		~				~	~		✓	×			
Newman & Fransman, 2019/ Rethinking Research Collaborative, 2018	~	×	✓	~		~		~			✓							~		
Overseas Development Institute (ODI), 2005	~	~		~		~					~									
RAWOO, 1999	~	~		~	~															
Research Fairness Initiative, 2018	~	~	~		~	~		~	~	~	~	~			~		~		~	
Swiss Commission for Research Partnerships with Developing Countries (KFPE), 2018	~	~	×	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~			~		~	~			
Taylor & Berg, 2019													~							
TRUST, 2018	~	~	~				1	~	~	~					~	~				

Chapter 3: Methods

This chapter focuses on the methods used to address the second objective of my study, which was to explore the perspectives of stakeholders from low- and middle-income country research institutions on partnership with high-income country collaborators, drawing on interviews with staff working at a sample of research institutions in eastern and southern Africa as examples. In this chapter, I present my philosophical orientation, positionality and reflexivity and describe the data collection and data analysis methods used. In the next paragraph, I briefly explain the link between objective 1 and objective 2 of the study.

I started the study with a broad look at the literature on global health research partnerships for orientation with current issues and debates on the topic. It became clear that there had been a variety of attempts to crystallise the elements of effective partnership and principles and guidelines had been developed to improve how partnerships work. At the time, in mid-2020, I found no synthesis of these guidelines which prompted my decision to organise the evidence base as the first objective of the study. The first study objective was thus *to synthesise the academic and practitioner literature on principles and guidelines for equitable global health research partnerships*. This was done by conducting a scoping review of the literature. The methods used for the scoping review are described in detail in Chapter 2: Scoping review and are not repeated here.

The second objective of the study was informed by the themes identified from the scoping review conducted under objective 1.

Philosophical orientation

Objective 2 set out to explore study participants' reported personal experiences of partnerships. The type of study (exploratory), the findings as projected representations of reality (reported), and the subjective and individual nature of these reports (personal experiences) contextualised to a phenomenon with observable characteristics (partnership) are consistent with a critical realist ontology and constructionist epistemology.

Ontology is concerned with the nature of being (Moon & Blackman, 2014). Researchers may identify with a position along a spectrum from realism, which states that one reality exists that can be studied and understood, independent of human experience (Moses & Knutsen, 2014) to relativism, where reality is a construct of the individual mind and there is no single independent reality. Moon and Blackman (2014) describe these ontological positions in relation to an individual's confidence about the certainty of there being a single reality. In this study, I consider that global health

research partnerships have certain characteristics that exist independently of an individual's understanding, for example, a legal contract, a budget, a health-related purpose. However, the meaning that any individual attaches to the partnership, for example, how well it is working and whether or not it is fair, is individually constructed. As such, I position myself part-way along the spectrum from realism to relativism at the point of critical realism (O'Mahoney, 2016). This philosophical position was first described by Bhaskar in 1975 in his *Realist Theory of Science* (Bhaskar, 1975) and it posits that independent entities exist but how they are understood is not singular or fixed.

Epistemology is concerned with all aspects of the validity, scope, and methods of acquiring knowledge (Moon & Blackman, 2014) and can be understood by considering the relationship between subject and object. As with ontology, epistemology can be considered along a spectrum. At one end is objectivism, which promotes the existence of an objective reality in an object independent of the subject. At the other is subjectivism, which argues that meaning exists within the subject and the subject imposes this meaning on an object (Crotty, 1998). Between these two poles is constructionism, which posits that individuals construct meaning about an object or phenomenon and this meaning is based on their cultural, historical and social perspectives (Crotty, 1998). In this study, I consider that the phenomenon of *partnership* in global health research, while definitionally ragged around the edges, exists as an entity independent of those observing it, but that the way in which people relate to and conceptualise it is influenced by their position in any given situation and their history, culture and social standing (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Furthermore, what an individual reports at any one point in time is influenced by many factors, including recent experience and the circumstances under which they are reporting, which suggests that this knowledge is not absolute or fixed, but a representation of the 'truth' at a particular point in time and space. Thus I have adopted a constructionist epistemology.

Positionality and reflexivity

My philosophical position in this study is interpretivist, a position that acknowledges that a researcher's experience, biases and perspectives influence data collection and analysis (Patton, 2014). With an educational background in the natural sciences and having been embedded for the last six years in a health sciences department that is heavily positivist in outlook, it has been a challenging journey towards this position, but one which feels congruent with my area of research interest. In the interpretive tradition, a researcher's understanding of the world is accessed through ideas and subjective experiences, the researcher is not objective nor do they remain completely outside of having an influence on the topic of inquiry (*The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Methods in Health Research*, 2010). The researcher brings embedded values to their stance, and cannot, nor

should they aim to, detach these from the research endeavour since 'to do so entails leaving the web of ideas that allow them to recognise and understand the facts in the first place' (The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Methods in Health Research, 2010, p. 134).

I fully acknowledge that I am influenced by my background as a privileged white female with European heritage and by my professional and personal experience of working in global public health. I have worked for London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) since 2011. I have spent the last six years living in Kilifi in coastal Kenya and working as an employee of LSHTM based at the Kenya Medical Research Institute-Wellcome Trust Research Programme (KWTRP). This experience has had a profound impact on how I understand my position within the world, and within global health. At work, I am in a senior administrative position within KWTRP as Programme Manager and Department Manager in the Epidemiology and Demography Department. KWTRP is run largely by Kenyans but has obvious vestiges of the British university system and of the UK-based Wellcome Trust's policies and in how it is structured and organised. I am responsible to a Kenyan Head of Department and line managed by a British professor and I line manage a team of KWTRP operational and administrative staff and LSHTM staff in Ethiopia and London. I have experienced privilege as a consequence of my senior role at KWTRP and because of my 'insider-outsider' position: I have access to KWTRP's systems and resources as a regular member of staff but I am not obligated to follow all KWTRP rules and regulations due to my employment being through LSHTM. I have seen such arrangements for other expatriate staff working in health research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa although they would be considered highly irregular in a HIC academic context. While I have tried to contribute meaningfully to KWTRP as an institution and to the community of colleagues with whom I work, it has also been with huge personal reward, both at work and outside of work. The opportunity to live in Kenya on a UK salary has catapulted me into a socioeconomic stratum that I would never reach on the same salary in the UK. This is not to say that I have had an exclusively advantaged position. Salaries of similarly qualified staff employed by KWTRP are equivalent to mine, and while my role is fully supported within the Epidemiology and Demography department, it is not recognised institutionally. I have no formal legitimacy to engage with KWTRP central administration and operations and I have felt prejudiced against and disadvantaged as I have tried to navigate the foreign culture in which I am immersed.

I recall a colleague exclaiming, when she saw me eating lunch at the restaurant around the corner from work: *'People like you don't come to places like this!'*. In her observation, she succinctly and eloquently encapsulated my experience of being a privileged outsider in Kenya.

Alongside working at KWTRP, which is a world class research institution with great depth of resources and experience, I have worked with colleagues at Haramaya University in Ethiopia since the initiation of a collaboration with LSHTM in 2015 which has become known as the Hararghe Health Research partnership. This partnership has grown into an active research collaboration with a very small team in London and over 150, mostly Ethiopian, staff in Harar where there is now an internationally accredited laboratory, facilities for conducting advanced clinical investigations and a strong community engagement programme. However, Harar is in a very poor region of Ethiopia and remains heavily resource constrained. The engagement between Haramaya University and LSHTM has been an experience of partnership development in practice, and I have become increasingly aware of the assumptions that I have brought into the relationship.

The experience of working with KWTRP and Haramaya University has also had a strong influence on my realisation of the diversity of capacity in research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa and it has afforded me a glimpse of how HIC institutions operate as seen from a sub-Saharan African institutional perspective. This experience, along with the day-to-day challenges of trying to manage grants when faced with internal and external bureaucracy, set up systems to improve research management processes and represent sub-Saharan African institutions in interactions with HIC partners are all factors that have contributed to my interest in improving how research partnerships work. I was keen through this study to broaden and deepen my appreciation of how stakeholders in sub-Saharan African research institutions experience partnership with HIC research institutions. I acknowledge that I will have filtered information through the lens of my own experience, but I hope that the experience of living and working in Kenya has elevated my sense of self-awareness in relation to issues of partnership and contributes constructively to my reflexivity and positionality.

Data collection methods

In congruence with the study's ontological and epistemological underpinning, and acknowledging my interpretivist stance, I used qualitative semi-structured interviews to collect data. Other studies investigating global health research partnerships have used a range of research designs and methods, with qualitative methods running as a consistent thread through these studies. For example, Leffers and Mitchell (2011) used in-depth interviews in a grounded theory study design to develop a conceptual model for partnership and sustainability while Matenga et al (2019) conducted in-depth interviews informed by a model of collaborative function to explore Zambian stakeholders' experience of partnership.

A data management plan for the study was developed in advance of data collection. An updated version of the plan reflecting minor adjustments to how data was collected, stored and managed is attached at <u>Appendix A</u>.

Sample selection - institutions

I identified key informants to interview from a sample of research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa that collaborate with LSHTM. Given the large number of institutions with which LSHTM collaborates, on a pragmatic level it was helpful to narrow the potential sample from which to select. The justification for focusing on institutions located in sub-Saharan Africa was that this region remains the poorest geographic region of the world: sub-Saharan Africa received one third of all development assistance in the form of loans, grants, equity investments and guarantees development from the World Bank in 2020 (The World Bank, 2021). Yet sub-Saharan Africa remains under-represented in receiving funding for health research: based on data from 11 major US and European funders, direct recipients of biomedical research grants from Africa (including upper middle-income country recipients) represented only 0.9% of global grant recipients in 2019 (World Health Organization, 2022a). Partnership with high-income country partners remains a prominent model for research financing ("Developing partnerships," 2015). Examples from sub-Saharan Africa are widely referenced in the literature on global health research partnerships, more so than other LMIC geographies, and I considered that this would be beneficial for contextualising the research findings. Furthermore, my experience of living and working in sub-Saharan Africa is substantially greater than in other low- and middle-income regions, which I felt would support my ability to interpret the findings.

I identified institutions to invite to participate from the list of partners of the Global Health Department at LSHTM. I had been collaborating with the Global Health Department on an initiative to improve how the department engaged with its partners. My hope was that because of this, staff in the department would be supportive and would help facilitate contact with partner institutions. A limitation of this approach was that there may have been less diversity in some partner characteristics, for example, the type of health research that partners engaged in, because the research focus of a single LSHTM Department is narrower than the whole of LSHTM.

I filtered the list of the Global Health Department's partners using data from LSHTM's research management system. To be considered, an institution had to meet the following inclusion criteria:

 Located in a country where English is an official language - since my language proficiency did not stretch to other languages and I did not have funds for interpreters and translation

- Active partner defined as having at least one ongoing research agreement with the department
- 3. Primary institutional focus on research, rather than implementation or advocacy.

The sampling approach was purposive with the intention of achieving diversity across the institutions sampled in terms of geographic location, type of institution (e.g. University, non-governmental organisation (NGO), independent research institute, national public health research institute), maturity as a research institution (for which the duration of the collaboration with LSHTM was used as a proxy), and scale of research activities (for which the size of the grant portfolio with LSHTM was used as a proxy). Selecting institutions in different geographical locations was intended to reduce the potential cultural bias of any single country. Seeking diversity in type of institution, institutional maturity and scale of research activities was intended to incorporate differences in domains that may affect partnership equity. For example, universities typically operate under considerable institutional bureaucracy which affects organisational agility when working in partnership, while smaller and newer organisations may have more limited capacity which can contribute to power differentials in partnerships. Discipline and type of research were not included as selection criteria because I assumed that institutions would conduct research across a range of disciplines and types.

I generated a shortlist of institutions to approach purposively which represented diversity across the above-mentioned variables. I divided the shortlist into two groups: group 1 and group 2. I approached institutions in group 1 first with the intention of reaching out to group 2 if I was not able to generate enough interest from group 1.

I approached each institution through the LSHTM principal investigator of a grant held with that institution. Once an introduction had been made, I followed up with the key contact for the institution. I provided details about my study to enable the key contact to decide whether they were able to support me to pursue my research. During initial discussions I also established what institutional and national approvals would be required. I began the process of identifying institutions in March 2021 and approached three institutions in April and one each in May, July and August 2021. The engagement process varied for each institution. I was able to engage two institutions early on, initiate the necessary approval processes and start data collection by June 2021. For two of the institutions approached I was unable to secure the necessary support to proceed. In one of these cases, I spoke to six different people in trying to establish the appropriate entry point to the organisation and received conflicting advice exacerbated by a complicated institutional governance structure. I did finally reach the person who was probably the appropriate

gate-keeper to the organisation but, after an initial conversation, my subsequent attempts to progress the relationship failed. The second 'failed entry' followed a similar trajectory: I was passed to different sections of the institution, and while each person I interacted with was helpful and polite, they were not able to permit access. In the end, I reached the appropriate entry point, but was stalled by a moratorium on all external research until exam season had passed and was advised to re-initiate contact after this. The likelihood of successfully gaining access seemed low, particularly now that I was several steps removed from any personal relationship with LSHTM, and I decided not to pursue this institution any further. These 'failed entries' were time-consuming and frustrating, but also instructive. I became humbler in my requests for help and realised that, while the study mattered to me, there wasn't much in it for the people I contacted and they were helping me out of good will and perhaps courtesy, or possibly obligation, toward the LSHTM investigator. The experience also made me open to including one institution with strong links to a different department of LSHTM which one of my supervisors had worked closely with. I included this institution because it had characteristics that were different to the institutions I had already engaged with and it added diversity to the sample.

I had a plan to broaden the sampling approach to include institutions that partnered with any department of LSHTM in the event that I was unable to engage enough institutions through the Global Health Department. I integrated data from three lists in preparation for this possibility:

- Institutions with which LSHTM had a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) or other Agreement (though not legal contracts for the purposes of transferring funds for research activities) (n=103)
- 2. Institutions that the LSHTM Strategic Research Office considered to be strategic partners but with which LSHTM did not have an MOU (n=37)
- Institutions named in the Africa Partnerships Review (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2016a) (n=31).

After consolidating and refining these lists to remove high-income country institutions and duplicates, 60 unique institutions remained. Of these, 37 were institutions based in sub-Saharan Africa, in 15 different countries. Ultimately, this list was not required, but the exercise of generating it made me reflect on the extent to which LSHTM depends on partner institutions in other countries and how wide-ranging these institutions are.

The final sample comprised four institutions in four countries in eastern and southern Africa: Malawi, Tanzania, Uganda and Zambia. One was a small NGO, one an independent research

institute and two were Universities. Two of the institutions had collaborated with LSHTM for over 20 years, while two had become partners within the last five years. The size of the active grant portfolio with LSHTM varied from under £100,000 to over £1 million across the four institutions.

Sample selection – individuals

Having secured an institution's participation, I asked the key contact for a list of colleagues in academic and research administration roles at varying levels of seniority who had experience of working in partnerships with high income country research institutions. The rationale for including stakeholders representing academic and administrative perspectives was that the dimensions of equitable partnership described in published guidelines are relevant both to the systems and processes of research management and to the processes of research. The rationale for including stakeholders at different levels of seniority was because of the different positions in a partnership's hierarchy that these participants would likely occupy, potentially leading to different experiences of partnership.

I started by contacting individuals on the list provided by the key contact. For two of the participating institutions, to supplement the initial list I used a snowballing approach (Frey, 2018) to identify additional participants by asking early interviewees to suggest names of one or two more colleagues.

In order for individuals to decide whether or not to participate in the study, I sent each potential interviewee an introductory email with the participant information sheet as an attachment (Appendix B). Of those approached, eight individuals either failed to respond, declined the invitation, or it was not possible to schedule a convenient time for an interview. For those who agreed to be interviewed, I followed up by sending the informed consent form (Appendix C) which participants were asked to initial, sign and return for countersignature before the interview. In total, I conducted between four and six interviews per institution and 20 interviews in total over a six-month period. I conducted the first interview on 16 June 2021 and the last on 7 December 2021. Since institutions were engaged in a staggered manner and it took varying amounts of time to gain entry and secure approvals, interviews were conducted with participants from each institution largely sequentially though there was some overlap between institution B and C. Figure 2 shows this sequencing of interviews. Conducting interviews with participants from one institution over a relatively short period of time was helpful for building up a mental picture of the organisation and contextualising participants' responses. It also allowed me to cross-reference examples of particular issues or partnerships described by one participant in interviews with another.

Figure 2. Sequencing of interviews



Data collection procedures: Semi-structured interviews

Interviews were semi-structured and were informed by a pre-existing framework of topics which had been identified as being important in relation to the functioning of research partnerships – see Chapter 2: Scoping review. Green and Thorogood (2018) characterise semi-structured interviews as those in which *"the researcher sets the agenda in terms of the topics covered, but the interviewee's responses determine the kinds of information produced about those topics, and the relative importance of each of them"* (Ch. 5, p. 3). There was also scope within each interview for participants to talk about other issues of importance to them within the broad frame of research partnerships. This part of the interview was more like an in-depth interview in which the interviewe determines and describes the issues that matter to them (Green & Thorogood, 2018).

I developed two interview topic guides: one was a detailed topic guide informed by the scoping review of principles and guidelines for research partnerships conducted under objective 1 of this study and described in Paper 1. It included prompts on topics which the review had identified as being important for good partnership functioning. These were: partner roles, responsibilities and ways of working, capacity strengthening, motivation and goals, resource contributions, agenda setting and study design, governance structures and institutional agreements, dissemination, national relevance, data handling and ownership, and funding. The second topic guide was less detailed and contained broad questions about participants' experience of partnership. The topic guides are available at <u>Appendix D</u> and <u>Appendix E</u>.

I piloted the topic guides with a small number of stakeholders who were known to me and were not affiliated with any of the institutions included in the study. I refined the topic guides after piloting and continued to refine how I used them as I proceeded with interviews. The staggered process of engaging institutions was helpful as it allowed time for reflection on early interviews, and I was able to improve my interviewing skills as I went along. Having said this, even the early interviews yielded rich data from participants and had the benefit of all topics being 'fresh'. In later interviews, I had to be mindful to pay close attention to responses that seemed repetitive and ensure that I listened closely to what participants said in case they revealed a new perspective on a familiar topic.

My intention had initially been to use the detailed topic guide with participants who were closely involved in a partnership with LSHTM and the broader topic guide with participants who were less involved in this partnership. However, I found that most participants had a wealth of experience across different partnerships and participants were encouraged to reflect on their experiences of partnership with any HIC partner, i.e., LSHTM provided the entry point into each organisation, but the scope of interviews covered participants' experience with any HIC partner. The conversation was richer when participants illustrated issues drawing on a range of examples and made comparisons between situations that they had been involved in. As such, for most interviews I asked broad questions first about, for example, the benefits of partnership, challenges, what worked well and where there was room for improvement, and followed up with prompts on specific issues, such as funding, governance structures, data sharing and authorship, if these issues had not already come up earlier in the interview. The topic guides were also used flexibly to suit participants' varying experience of different aspects of partnership.

Interviews were conducted in English. All participants had sufficient fluency to understand the interview questions, though some required occasional re-phrasing of a question or an example to illustrate the issue I was trying to get at. I was aware that comprehension was only one factor influencing participants' responses and that other factors may have influenced what they said and how, including cultural norms about the formality of language and how participants perceived me and the purpose of my research. I acknowledge my limited ability to comprehend and influence these factors. I tried to put participants at ease and encourage them to talk openly by explaining that the study was for research purposes only and was not part of any audit or evaluation and I would not be sharing information with anyone at LSHTM who was involved with the individual or their institution.

Despite such assurances, it remained the case that I am an LSHTM staff member as well as student and LSHTM was the lead HIC institution in the partnerships which facilitated my entry into the participating institutions. Given this asymmetrical power relationship, participants may have felt an obligation toward agreeing to be interviewed, and the dynamics may have affected participants' responses during interviews. Interviews were almost all conducted voice-only, for reasons described below. As such, visual clues were not available to most participants, or to me, to inform assumptions about the other person, or to influence how rapport developed through the interview. It would be interesting to explore how the interview relationship is affected by having or not having a face to put to the name and voice.

I noticed that during introductions, I was keen to emphasise that I had been working at KWTRP in Kenya for six years, and that my role was as a research manager. My experience of living and working in Kenya felt like a way to establish credibility and to indicate that I understand the issues of operating in a resource-constrained setting and as both the recipient of contracts issued by HIC partners and as the lead partner. My experience as a research manager felt useful in demonstrating that I am familiar with the systems and processes which underpin grant management. Furthermore, I know what it is like to be a member of professional services staff in an academic institution, and I am aware of the subservience that is sometimes required when working with academic colleagues. This helped me to try to be humble in my interactions with all participants. I conducted all interviews using the web-based Zoom platform (Zoom.us licenced education version). Since this was a self-funded DrPH, I did not have funds for travel. Even if funding had been available – and I did consider the feasibility of combining work travel with DrPH research 'add-on' travel to minimise cost - since the period of data collection coincided with tight domestic and international travel restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is highly likely that no travel would have been possible anyway. I used the voice-only function of Zoom to minimise any potential cost to the interviewee and to reduce interruptions and degradation of call quality where internet connectivity was poor. Two interviewees switched on their cameras, and in those cases I did the same, but all other interviews were conducted voice-only. This was the standard practice followed at my place of work, KWTRP, for virtual one-to-one and group meetings during the pandemic and – also prior to the pandemic – for communicating with colleagues in Ethiopia. As such, it felt appropriate for the conduct of my study. I found that not seeing participants helped me to listen intently to what they said and how they said it and to take notes without worrying about maintaining eye contact and providing visual encouragement. That is not to say that this was a better approach than using video, or to face-to-face interviews. Methodological guidance in qualitative research has previously emphasised the value of face-to-face interviews because the visual cues of being in the same space allow for good communication (Fielding & Thomas, 2008) and help in establishing rapport (Fontana & Frey, 1998). In their scoping review of collected accounts of health and illness experience, Davies et al. (2020) found that online methods compared to face-to-face resulted in shorter participant responses, less contextual information being obtained, and lower relational satisfaction and consensus development. It should be noted that their source documents were all from the prepandemic era, and this is worth being aware of given the sweeping and radical changes in communication that COVID-19 precipitated.

Carter et al. (2021) described three kinds of adaptation that are required in the shift from in-person to online qualitative research: adaptation to ethical challenges, adaptation to a new technological

environment, and adaptation to a new social environment. Ethical challenges include the potential for invasion of privacy, the loss of embodied care, how consent is taken, and the security of how data is collected and stored. Using the audio-only function of Zoom reduced the potential invasion of privacy for participants who took the interview in a private space, such as their home. The opportunity to demonstrate embodied care - which means the use of ordinary actions to demonstrate presence and care - was difficult to achieve virtually. Spending time at the start of the interview on introductions, respecting the time that participants had available for the interview, and inviting comments and questions at the end were efforts in the direction of demonstrating care. Regarding consent, I sent the participant information sheet and informed consent form to participants in advance. I countersigned and returned the informed consent form before the interview and reiterated at the start of each interview participants' right to withdraw from the study and asked if they had questions before commencing the interview. Where participants consented to the interview being recorded, I used the Zoom recording and auto-transcription functions to record and generate a preliminary transcript from each interview. I considered that Zoom's Privacy and Security statement (https://explore.zoom.us/docs/ent/privacy-and-security.html) provided adequate assurance about data encryption and secure storage of audio recordings and transcripts.

With respect to adaptation to a new technological environment, Carter et al. (2021) describe the need to ensure that participants have access to hardware, are familiar with the platform, have a stable internet connection and have the necessary access to help to address technological issues. Since participants were all professionals with experience of international partnerships and the initial mode of contact was through email, I assumed that all had access to computing hardware. I offered participants alternatives to Zoom, in case they preferred a different platform (though all were happy to use Zoom). Participants selected the time and date for the interview, which meant that they were able to locate themselves somewhere where they expected to have reasonable internet and, fortunately, only one interview was hampered by an unstable connection.

Adaptations to a new social environment include managing interruptions, unpredictability and the varied level of comfort that participants have with online interactions (Carter et al., 2021). The participants in my study were all adept at interacting online and adhered to meeting conventions, such as keeping time and identifying a suitable location in which to conduct the interview. One participant was travelling back from a field visit during the interview but managed the background noise level and quality of connection despite this potential complication.

Recent work on the use of online video technology for qualitative research interviews (De Villiers et al., 2022) used a conceptual framework combining two theories from the field of management. These theories offer insight into the factors that have potential to affect the richness of qualitative

research evidence acquired using different communication tools. Information Richness Theory (Daft & Lengel, 1986) highlights the capacity for immediate message feedback, diversity of cues, personalisation and variety of language, while Channel Expansion Theory (Carlson & Zmud, 1999) looks at four aspects of participants' experience: experience of the communication channel, the discussion topic, the context of communication and other participants. While there were no 'other participants' in my study since interviews were conducted one-on-one, other components of these theories are relevant and helpful for reflecting on the richness of data collected. For example, as noted above, participants had good experience of online meeting technologies including Zoom and were selected because of their experience of working in global health research partnerships, so were familiar with the discussion topic. Zoom allowed for immediate feedback to participants as interviews were synchronous, and I tried to personalise each interview by listening to what participants said and taking this into account in my responses and follow-up questions.

A final reflection on the use of online interviews is that even without the constraints imposed by time, budget and COVID-19 travel restrictions, there were two additional arguments to conduct data collection remotely. Firstly, travel opportunities are often the prerogative of HIC researchers making flying visits to 'the field'. Given my research topic of equity in partnerships, it was useful not to be enticed into reinforcing this stereotype. Secondly, the environmental impact of flying to up to four countries to conduct a small number of interviews is considerable. Had travel been an option, I would have had to consider carbon footprint as a factor when planning my study, and it would have been difficult to justify the benefits over the costs.

Interviews typically lasted for 45-60 minutes and all were conducted in English. After each interview I wrote field notes to capture my immediate reactions, note down issues that had surprised or interested me and remind myself of quotes which I had found particularly striking. My field notes also included comments on how I felt the interview had gone and what I might do differently in later interviews. I listened back to the audio-recording as soon after the interview as possible – in most cases within 48 hours – and corrected errors in the auto-transcript to produce a final version. This was a verbatim transcript, written using conventions described in Green & Thorogood (2018). I removed individuals' names from the transcript at this point. Only the audio-recording and a password-protected participant masterfile retained participants' names. This is not full anonymisation since I knew whom I had interviewed, and the descriptive nature of the transcripts had the potential to lead to the identification of participants and other individuals. To ensure that confidentiality was maintained, transcripts were kept securely and were accessed only by me and,

occasionally, by my supervisors. Whilst not achieving full anonymisation, removing names from transcripts was, however, the first step towards ensuring that no participant or other individual would be identifiable when data were used in the thesis. The participant masterfile included a unique reference for each interviewee and their contact details. Quotes used in the Findings chapter incorporate the reference for each interviewee and a role descriptor, e.g. *A02_EMR* indicates that the quote was from participant two from institution A who was an early-mid career researcher (EMR). *C03_SA* indicates a quote from participant three from institution C who was a senior administrator (SA).

Data analysis

Interview transcripts were analysed following a thematic content analysis approach which incorporated four steps: 1. Familiarisation with the data, 2. Identifying themes, 3. Coding the data, 4. Organising codes and themes (Green & Thorogood, 2018). I transcribed all interviews myself and the act of listening back to the interview recording and doing the transcription formed part of the familiarisation process. I transcribed each interview as soon after conducting it as possible to support recall and start the process of reflecting on the data. Each interview transcript was accompanied by field notes, also produced as close to the time of interview as possible, which captured my initial reflections on the interview. Participant demographic data including institutional affiliation, job role, gender and years of work experience in current organisation were documented and subsequently summarised (see Table 7 in the Findings chapter).

In step 2, themes were identified from segments of the data that characterised what the segment was about. In my first round of analysis, I annotated each of the first 11 transcripts by hand and wrote a descriptor for each segment. Some themes identified were repetitions of themes found in earlier transcripts whilst others were novel, though by the end of the 11 transcripts, there was high repetition of themes identified in earlier transcripts.

In step 3, segments were refined into codes. I used NVivo (Release 1.6 1121) to organise the analysis. A provisional coding structure from the hand-annotated transcripts was set up in NVivo, and I coded the initial batch of transcripts using this, adding new codes and re-organising codes where they were too broad, too narrow or seemed to work better with a different name. I realised while working through this process that many of the codes corresponded with themes from the literature on partnerships, both those describing data where participants had given a response to a question directing them towards a specific theme, e.g. funding, dissemination, and when participants were responding to open questions. At this point I decided to re-code the initial batch of transcripts deductively using the topics identified from

the scoping review of principles and guidelines for partnership described in paper 1. I also coded the data using the broad categories of benefits of partnership, problems, areas to improve on and fairness. I saved the inductively- and deductively-coded versions of the dataset as separate files in NVivo with their own date stamp and title to support the final step of the analysis.

In Step 4, organising codes and themes, I made comparisons between interview transcripts and generated meaning from across the data set. During this step I also re-read the transcripts from each institution as a group and wrote a summary of the key themes emerging from each institution. The process of writing the results section of the manuscript which forms Paper 2, included as an Annex to this thesis, involved both working with the coded data set and returning to the transcripts to make sense of and contextualise the data in an iterative manner. This was a valuable part of the analysis.

A note on scheduling and sampling

Ideally, I would have analysed each interview before conducting the next. However, given the need to schedule interviews in advance, respect the commitment given by participants to make time for an interview, and to progress data collection in a timely manner, I took a pragmatic approach whereby I conducted interviews in batches. I used the process of listening back, transcribing, reflecting and making notes to learn and adapt how I conducted later interviews. There was not a pre-determined sample size for the study and my plan had been to interview stakeholders from at least four and up to six institutions if my preliminary analysis suggested that there was low convergence on themes or insufficient diversity in partner type or experiences and additional examples would add richness to the study. By the time of conducting interviews in the fourth institution, there was good convergence on themes and I considered the data from 20 interviews would be adequate.

A sample of four research institutions in anglophone eastern and southern Africa is clearly not representative of all research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa, let alone other low- and middleincome country regions. However, within the scope of feasibility for this DrPH study, I felt that the richness achieved by conducting interviews with multiple stakeholders from a small number of institutions would yield greater insight and contextual understanding than interviewing fewer individuals from a larger number of institutions. On a pragmatic level, given the effort required to initiate contact, gain access and secure approval to conduct interviews in each institution, conducting multiple interviews within each institution involved in the study reduced the burden of interview 'set-up' and allowed more effort to be spent on the interviews themselves.
Ethics and consent to participate

Ethical approval was obtained from the LSHTM observational ethics committee (reference number 25762). Institutional approval for the study was granted by all participating institutions, including institutional and national research ethics approval where required. This was applicable only in Zambia, where approval was sought from the University of Zambia Biomedical Research Ethics Committee (reference number 2128-2021) and National Health Research Authority (reference number NHRA0000010/20/11/2021). There was discussion with all four participating institutions about the approvals that should apply to this study. Three of the institutions determined that since the study was not health-related, the interviews were conducted remotely and on condition of full LSHTM ethics approval, institutional review board and national ethics approval were not required.

Written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to their participation in the study. All study participants were informed as part of the consenting procedure that their personal details would be kept confidential. They were also informed that they would not be identifiable from the data they provided while their institution would be named in the thesis and any associated research outputs (see Participant Information Sheet at Appendix B). A report of the study findings was shared with all participants, and the key contact who had facilitated access to each institution was invited to contribute as an author to Paper 2. For those key contacts who opted into co-authorship (- not all did), their participation in the study was not anonymous. However, efforts were made to ensure that no data segment used as a quote in the thesis or in paper 2 could be linked to a specific individual. Furthermore, all co-authors were asked to confirm that they had read and were satisfied with the version of the paper accepted for publication.

Chapter 4: Findings

The first objective of the study was: *to synthesise the academic and practitioner literature on principles and guidelines for equitable North South research partnerships.* This objective was addressed by conducting a scoping review which was published in the journal *Health Policy and Planning* and is included as Chapter 2 of this thesis. The findings from objective 1 are not repeated here since they are described in detail in the paper. The findings from the scoping review did, however, inform how I analysed and presented the findings for objective 2, and this is discussed below.

This chapter focuses on the findings from the qualitative primary data collection conducted to address objective 2 of the study. Objective 2 was: to explore the perspectives of stakeholders from low- and middle-income country research institutions on partnership with high-income country collaborators, drawing on interviews with staff working at a sample of research institutions eastern and southern Africa as examples. In presenting these findings, I first provide a description of the study population. I then present a thematic analysis of the findings as they relate to key areas for effective partnership. The key areas were identified from the literature as described in Chapter 2: Scoping review. I end the chapter with an overarching analysis which takes a step back and attempts to describe 'what is going on' in contemporary global health research partnerships.

Paper 2, included as an <u>Annex</u> to this thesis and published in the *International Journal for Equity in Health* in August 2022, also reports the findings from the qualitative primary data collection. For the analysis in Paper 2 I organised the findings under broad headings of *benefits of partnership, what makes partnerships work well, problems in partnerships* and *perspectives on fairness*. The analysis in Paper 2 complements the analyses presented in this chapter and can be read as supplementary material.

Study participant characteristics

I interviewed between four and six individuals in each of the four institutions that participated in the study (see <u>Table 6</u>). The total study population was 20 participants. Participants were classified according to their primary affiliation as a researcher or an administrator (which included senior management). Researchers were specialists in a range of disciplinary areas, while administration roles included staff working in finance, the grants and contracts office, quality assurance, compliance and the executive function. I had hoped to interview an approximately equal number of research and administration staff. However, the final participant list comprised five staff in administration roles and 15 researchers. Participants were identified using the contact list provided by the key

contact in each institution and supplemented, where I needed to identify additional participants, by snowballing. There are several possible reasons for the bias in the split between research and administration staff: possibly the institutional contact was selective in favour of researchers in choosing who they put forward as potential participants. Alternatively, researchers may be more likely to have opportunities to engage with HIC partners than administrators and thus meet the study inclusion criterion of having experience of working with HIC partners. Another possibility is that there are more researchers than administration staff employed in research institutions and this was reflected by the proportion of participants put forward and interviewed in each category. I was not able to ascertain which of these, or potentially other reasons, led to the uneven split between the number of research and administration staff included in the study population.

Six participants were female while 14 were male. Gender was not used as a selection criterion and the unequal distribution of participants may reflect bias in the research sector at large towards employment of more men than women. Alternatively, there may be other reasons similar to those that may have led to unequal numbers of research and administration staff being included in the study.

In terms of seniority, 12 participants were in junior or mid-career roles, while eight were at a senior stage in their careers. Career stage was assigned as *Senior* where a participant held a position at Assistant Director or Director Level or Professor on the academic career path or had more than 15 years of experience within the organisation. Career stage was assigned as *Early- or mid-career* for all other participants, i.e. those whose job level and experience did not meet the threshold for Senior.

Participants were also classified according to the type of institution that they worked for. Nine participants were employed by a university, six worked for an independent research institute and five worked in the NGO sector.

Participant characteristics are summarised in Table 7.

Institution	Number of participants interviewed
А	5
В	4
С	6
D	5

Table 6. Participants per institution

Table 7. Participant characteristics

Gender		
	Female	6
	Male	14
Role type		
	Management/administration	5
	Research	15
Career stage		
	Early or mid-career	12
	Senior	8
Institutional affiliation		
	Research institute	6
	NGO	5
	University	9

Note on HIC collaborators named during data collection

Since naming HIC collaborators may potentially risk participants being identifiable due to having long-standing relationships with some of these collaborators, HIC institutions that were used as examples during interviews are not identified by name in this thesis. Participants drew on experiences of partnership with a range of institutions in Canada, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, UK and USA. A total of 22 HIC research institutions were named during interviews, of which half (*n*=11) were in the USA and five were in the UK.

Thematic analysis: findings in relation to principles of partnership

The scoping review of principles and guidelines for 'North-South' research partnerships described in Chapter 2 generated a list of topics that partnerships should pay attention to. I used the top 10ranked topics from the review (see Table 8) as the framework for a thematic analysis of the primary qualitative data. In the sub-sections that follow, I have included a brief description of each topic, derived from the scoping review, and then presented an analysis of the primary data relating to each topic.

Table 8. Topics addressed	by partnership guidelines
---------------------------	---------------------------

Ranking*	Торіс
1	Roles, responsibilities & ways of working
2	Capacity strengthening

3	Motivation & goals
=3	Resource contributions
5	Agenda setting & study design
=5	Governance structures, institutional agreements
7	Dissemination
=7	Respect for affected populations, including local relevance
=7	Data handling and ownership
10	Funding
=10	Long term commitments

*Ranked in order of the number of guidelines which included the topic as identified from the Scoping review in Chapter 2.

Roles, responsibilities & ways of working

Partnerships should have processes to support regular, open and transparent communication between partners and commit to transparency, particularly around finance and administration. There should be jointly agreed mechanisms for conflict resolution and decision-making and partners should be accountable to one another.

Since the discipline of global health remains, by and large, concerned with improving health in LMICs, it was not surprising that participants exclusively described partnerships that focused on health issues within their own countries rather than in HICs. Nevertheless, it is worth making this point explicit since it had implications for the roles and responsibilities performed by each partner. Many participants described how their institution led project implementation, including field and clinical activities, while HIC partners usually occupied a technical advisory role. The roles occupied by each partner were also strongly influenced by which institution had initiated the research idea. In the majority of the examples that participants gave, HIC institutions had initiated the research projects described. The balance had shifted in three of the four institutions towards more projects being initiated and led by the sub-Saharan African partner, and one of the four organisations included in the study now initiated and led more than half of its partnership projects.

Where a HIC partner had seeded the research idea, participants described a range of experiences both about the roles that they had in the project and how these were agreed. A number of participants described positive experiences where they had been consulted from the outset, had codesigned and co-developed projects and where structures were put in place to facilitate joint contributions, e.g. senior staff appointed to equivalent positions within each partner institution. Even where contributions were not equal, as long as roles and responsibilities were clear and jointly agreed at the outset and boundaries were respected, a number of participants were satisfied. They felt that clarity of roles was important for avoiding conflict, e.g.:

"I'm always very, very keen on 'let's be clear on what the roles are and what is expected and what we each are supposed to achieve', so that there is no misunderstanding and nobody ends up feeling short-changed." [D01_EMR]

In contrast to these positive examples, a number of participants described situations in which they had been involved late, had limited scope to contribute to study design and the HIC partner had controlled the decisions about who performed which roles, which they found demotivating e.g.:

"I have worked on studies where I knew I could contribute more, but your role is already defined: 'You are managing fieldwork, you are recruiting and overseeing data collectors, and sending us the data'. End of story. I'm like, 'I want to be involved in the analysis, it's qualitative data, I am excited about these things, I want to be involved and maybe co-author', but that option is not provided many times." [A01 SR]

"At the beginning, if you really explain to me some of my roles and responsibilities, then I begin to lower my expectations." [D03_JMR]

Several participants commented on roles shifting as a partnership went on. This flexibility was regarded both positively, for instance, where participants had been happy to step in and assume responsibilities that had initially been assigned to the HIC partner, and negatively, for example where the HIC partner had overridden a prior agreement and interfered in activities and decisions which were within their partner's remit.

A number of participants talked about the importance of communication between partners that was frequent, timely, transparent and two-way. Where there was strong communication, participants felt that this helped to generate a shared vision about the purpose of partnership and each partner understood what the other wanted to get out of the relationship. The ability to discuss issues and address them openly and respectfully was seen to be critical, e.g.:

"If there are issues that, you know, perhaps we need to deal with, or that we were not comfortable with, we must be able to sit as partners and talk about them, rather than one of the partners being the partner, at the same time, the Court". [A03_EMR]

Participants described both positive and negative experiences of structures put in place to support project communications. Several participants talked about the value of holding regular meetings to keep abreast of project progress, share ideas and make decisions, but a couple of participants had experienced meetings being used as a form of control, as this quote illustrates:

"Another problem is micromanagement. There have been some sub-agreements where the other partner schedules weekly calls...but then you find the team here can almost make no decision if the partner does not agree, which can quickly defeat the purpose of being the local expert if you cannot contribute to the implementation locally." [C02_JMA]

Several participants described the importance of mutual respect and appreciation between partners irrespective of their differences, and this framed the way in which partnerships unfolded, e.g.:

"Coming into the partnership with the attitude that...everybody has something to offer. It may not be equal. but just having that attitude that...everybody going into it has something to bring onto the table. I think is a very critical aspect in determining how the partnership is going to flow." [A05_SA]

Meanwhile, several other participants described how HIC partners lacked humility and brought an attitude of entitlement and superiority into the partnership, e.g.:

"The attitude is that you don't know it, and they know it all, and so your responsibility...is to follow direction and not to contribute alternative views and where you contribute alternative views they are shot down." [A05_SA]

"...they go in, like IN. It's like when you enter the house and you are invited to sit in the sitting room, someone can go up to the bedroom." [CO3_EMR]

Participants gave examples of where an attitude of superiority had manifested as the HIC partner interfering in the implementing partner's operations and trying to dominate decisions and exert control even when they were not in the lead role. These participants also felt that HIC institutions

attributed greatest value to their own contributions and undervalued the contributions of their partners, e.g.:

"I think that our northern partners or Western European partners have been a little bit slow to realize two things: one is the historical predisposition that has created... a lopsided system, where one person is seen to be more important or cleverer. A lot of these sort of historical predispositions have nothing to do with innate ability. They've also failed to realize that a lot of their own growth is the result of these partnerships and that there is probably more they are gaining from the partnerships than the so-called Southern partners are gaining." [C01_SR]

One participant speculated that an attitude of superiority might be associated with a fear of losing status and funding. An example that illustrates this possibility was a project where a funder changed their approach between two phases of work and decided to fund sub-Saharan African institutions directly rather than through HIC institutions. Under the new model, the sub-Saharan African institutions decided what technical support they needed and chose which HIC institutions to partner with, rather than these decisions being made by HIC partners. The two HIC partners who had been involved in the first phase of work resisted the change, though ultimately they conceded to it.

Several participants felt that it was important that their institution set out its expectations of partnership when engaging with HIC institutions and felt that this was not something they had historically done well. This appeared to be changing, and participants described having greater confidence to negotiate their position when engaging in new collaborations. For example:

"Initially we were more in the 'take what you're given' kind of scenario. But I think through these experiences it's built our capacity to be more choosy...about...who we get into partnerships with and ensure that there's actually value in those partnerships and it's not an exploitative kind of partnership." [D01_JMR]

"Once you put down what you also expect from this partnership as a local researcher, it has tended to work well... Now, things have changed. People are more aware people know stuff so you are able to outline your needs and meet each other halfway and get a better relationship out of it." [D02_SR]

Capacity strengthening

Strengthening of individual, institutional and systemic or national capacity, encompassing research and research management, including budgeting, contracting and ethics. Some guidelines argue that stronger partners should provide resources and expertise to support the development of weaker partners, while others emphasise the bi-directional nature of capacity strengthening that results in mutual learning and growth.

A number of dimensions of capacity strengthening in partnerships emerged from the data. These included: capacity strengthening as a formal component of a project or achieved informally through working collaboratively towards a project's goals, capacity strengthening as an intentional aim or a by-product of the collaboration, capacity strengthening with a focus on research skills or research administration, capacity strengthening for individuals or for institutions, and capacity strengthening as uni-directional or bi-directional. These dimensions are listed here as dichotomies but in the examples given, partnerships were often described as supporting capacity strengthening in multiple ways.

PhD training was frequently cited as a major benefit of partnership for individuals, their institutions and nationally through the creation of a *"pool of scientists"* [C04_SR], many of whom were reported to have progressed to senior leadership and management positions in participants' own or other African institutions. Participants emphasised the value of studying at and being awarded a degree by a HIC institution, including the academic mentorship that students received. Participants from one of the institutions in the study described how PhD positions and post-doctoral training fellowships were routinely incorporated into grant applications and partnership projects were used not only to address specific research questions but also as a platform to build individual and institutional capacity. While formal training was seen to be of great value - and this included not only PhD training but also focused technical training such as using a particular research software or learning a new research method - participants also valued the learning gained from working alongside HIC partners. Frequent and open discussion where knowledge, expertise and ideas were exchanged created a conducive environment for learning and both partners were felt to benefit. Several participants felt that HIC partners failed to adequately acknowledge the learning that they themselves gained from collaborating and undervalued their partners' expertise, e.g.:

"There's still that resistance, the feeling that the North is always superior in terms of having capacity and technical expertise...Can we reach a stage where we take stock of where each partner's

strengths and weaknesses are and build this capacity...based on those strengths and weaknesses, rather than simply saying, 'because you're from the north, you are the stronger partner'?" [D01_JMR]

Several participants described how the research management and support systems in their institutions had improved through working in partnership, for example, through adopting and adapting templates and policy documents from HIC partners. However, capacity in this area was typically seen to be *"lagging behind"* [B02_SA] improvements in researchers' skills and qualifications. Several participants suggested that HIC institutions should do more to support their partners to overcome their institutional capacity constraints, or they should adapt their requirements to accommodate partners' limitations. For example, one participant explained that, despite their institution having persistently poor performance in financial reporting over a long period of time, no HIC partner had ever offered support to address this:

"We are always having the same challenges in terms of delayed reports, inaccurate reports, but I don't think there has ever been a measure taken to say 'OK...you are always delaying in reporting. What can we do to support you so that in future projects that we collaborate on, these issues are sorted out and things work out better?" [B02_SA]

Several other participants described how HIC partners with long-standing experience of collaborating with institutions in low-resource settings were generally more flexible and easier to work with than newer partners who had less understanding of the capacity constraints of the context in which they were operating, e.g.:

"Our partners in the higher income institutions may not actually understand that what appears to be a very simple task to them may not necessarily be a very simple task for us." [B02_SA]

Several other participants felt that HIC institutions could and should do more to support capacity strengthening across the broad range of areas that are necessary to succeed in research, for example by involving their partners in communications with funders, grant writing and networking skills, e.g.:

"You really don't know how that process of engagement goes when you're always in the lobby when everyone else is in the conference room." [CO2_EMA]

Two participants suggested that HIC partners may even intentionally limit the areas in which they supported capacity strengthening in order to perpetuate a relationship where their partners depended on them, e.g.:

"That really makes me sometimes question, what does capacity building mean? ... What do they mean when they say they are doing this capacity building, because you're still left dependent on them." [CO2_JMA]

In contrast, other participants described how they had benefited from partnerships through exposure to opportunities, entry into networks, and visibility to funders which might lead to future direct grant funding, e.g.:

"You want to partner with others because it also helps you to be within the community of the same people who are working over the same things and it increases your influence and net worth." [B01_EMR]

Overall, despite some problematic aspects, participants overwhelmingly considered capacity strengthening to be one of the main benefits of working in partnership with HIC institutions.

Motivation and goals

It is important to discuss and legitimise each partner's interests and priorities and to identify mutual benefits and shared goals for the partnership. Balancing individual and joint objectives is important for the sustainability of a partnership and for developing trust.

A couple of participants commented that while they had not been personally involved in setting goals in partnerships, senior staff from their organisation were involved. One participant commented on having the opportunity to *"refine and contextualise"* [B01_JMR] goals that had been defined by others. Another participant commented that once goals were jointly agreed, each partner should be trusted to work towards them independently. They implied that this was not always the case and the HIC partner sometimes interfered in areas that were outside their remit.

Two participants described internal processes that made sure their institution's needs were met, for example, using a grant review form that served as a checklist for meeting minimum institutional requirements, and internal legal review of contracts. Meanwhile one participant was critical of some

researchers in his institution who he felt took advantage of partnership opportunities to fulfil personal career ambitions, such as authorship on publications, without making a sufficient contribution to the partnership to justify these rewards.

Several participants had experienced partnerships where they felt that HIC stakeholders had prioritised their own goals over those of their partner and benefits were unevenly distributed in favour of the HIC partner, which led to a sense of being exploited, e.g.:

"You're more on the receiving end and you sometimes question and feel, 'Am I only being used to just meet the interest of somebody else?'." [A05_SA]

One participant differentiated between individuals' responsibility to negotiate a fair relationship with one another and structural unfairness which was difficult to tackle as an individual. Several other participants alluded to a blurring of the boundaries between individual and systemic inequity. For example, one participant described how individuals from HIC institutions were inclined to perpetuate systems (systemic inequity) which aligned with their own motivations and goals (individual inequity), e.g.:

"They work within this system that is designed in a super-biased way and somehow these wellmeaning people are unable to come out of this. In some cases they might even be tempted to use this system to survive. To get a favour." [C01_SR]

Two participants commented that research should be guided by a higher purpose and should aim to achieve strategic goals and one lamented that his country "piggy-backed" [B01_JMR] on external priorities to chase funding rather than adhere to its national research agenda.

Resource contributions

Partners should discuss and agree what resources each stakeholder commits to a partnership and different types of contribution should be recognized and valued. Benefits accrued by each partner should be in proportion to the costs of participating in the partnership.

Funding is discussed in detail in a later section, but relevant to this section is the relationship between money, hierarchy and power that came through in several participant narratives. These participants felt that the institution that brought the funding – usually the HIC partner – privileged this over other resource contributions and it distorted the value attributed to each partner's contribution and how the HIC partner behaved. For example:

"There will be people with the money, there will be people with expertise, with field experience, ...with political experience that are necessary to make this mission come true. ...We must put all these things on the table. The assumption that one aspect...is more important, that the person with the money is more important than the person with the knowledge, doesn't make a lot of sense." [C01_SR]

"If someone is bringing the resources, then definitely they are going to set the agenda" [D03_JMR]

Participants described how their institutions often contributed great experience of the context in which research was conducted and had capacity to mobilise and coordinate field activities, and while some HIC partners valued these contributions, others overlooked them, e.g.:

"The local experts, more or less, are just data collectors because they have no contribution that stands." [C02_JMA]

Another participant talked about how a HIC partner had not expected her to contribute very much. She did not feel patronised by this attitude but welcomed the HIC partner's acknowledgement of her contribution and she claimed to have gained in confidence because of receiving positive feedback and recognition.

Infrastructure was mentioned as a valuable resource contribution to several partnerships, for example, one participant described how they invited a HIC partner to join a project to do the laboratory analysis because their own lab did not have the capacity for the advanced techniques required.

One participant commented that each partner's contributions and the benefits they derived should balance, but there was no evidence from the interview data to suggest that this was explicitly discussed as part of establishing a partnership.

Agenda setting and study design

The research agenda should be set jointly. All partners should be involved in proposal writing and there is agreement on study design, especially in multi-sectoral research studies.

Participants reported a wide range of experiences of their level of involvement in study design. One participant categorised studies into four types which into which they had varying levels of design input. These ranged from: studies where a HIC institution wanted access to a particular country or health facility and there was low partner involvement in design; studies where the proposal was co-written by both partners (high partner involvement); studies where a HIC institution co-opted partners because of their expertise and gave them the opportunity to create a niche in the project to suit their interest (high involvement in a limited area); and studies initiated by the sub-Saharan African partner where they sought help from HIC partners (high involvement in design). Other participants described a similar pattern of variation across a spectrum from full involvement in study conceptualisation, design and throughout the project, to being co-opted on the cusp of proposal submission or once funding had been awarded and being expected to implement a pre-formed study. Participants commonly described being involved late and with limited scope to influence a study. The following quotes illustrate the two ends of this spectrum of involvement:

"It was a collaborative thing. It wasn't one organisation doing it, then seeking partnership after that. No, from the onset, it was a co-joined, developed protocol". [A04_JMR]

"I'm handed with a proposal that is already done and they say, 'You get this through the ethical clearance and then you're going to be the local investigator of that study'. I really don't hold much say". [B01_JMR]

Participants expressed their preference to be involved early in study design as this increased their engagement in and motivation towards the work and meant that the study was more likely to be appropriately costed and designed for the context, e.g.:

"If we are really partners then we should be sitting at the table together from the beginning, all the way through the budgeting, so that it's fair across the line". [C02_EMA]

Several participants acknowledged that, especially in consortium applications involving multiple institutions, the lead institution often took an expedient route of writing most of the grant before involving partners. Proposals might arrive with very short notice to respond, which limited the extent to which partners could contribute. One participant working in a research administration function commented on how, in their interactions with him, academics from his own institution

mirrored the variable ways in which HIC institutions worked with their partners: sometimes he was heavily involved in proposal development from the outset. At other times he was hardly involved at all.

Participants from two institutions had experience of leading proposal-writing. While they also participated in projects as sub-contractors, their institutions had become more selective in deciding which projects to get involved with. A couple of participants acknowledged that it had taken a long time for their institution to reach the stage where they were able to apply directly for funds, and in one case it was now their research office, rather than HIC partners, that determined how each institution participated in a bid:

"In the old days...the collaboration was mainly initiated from the researchers working from those collaborating situations, but currently we have ...a special office which is dealing with those contracts, this is called the grant office". [C04_SR]

In contrast to study design, agenda setting was largely considered to be the remit of funders. A couple of participants described the difference between research conducted with in-country funds which was scrutinised for its alignment to national priorities, and externally funded work where an overseas funder's agenda might override the implementing institution's strategic priorities and their country's national research agenda, e.g.:

"If the institution is not firm, then they are not able to negotiate, and you may realize that they have resources and...no sense of strategic direction, or even why...they're doing the work that they're doing. You become a money-oriented institution rather than pursuing certain strategic goals". [A03_JMR]

Governance structures, institutional agreements

There should be a formal agreement to document partnership arrangements which are enacted through governance structures. Types of agreement include memoranda of understanding, codes of conduct, terms of reference and research agreements.

Legal agreements or contracts documenting the financial commitments between institutions were used without exception in project-level partnerships, often accompanied by a scope of work or terms of reference. Several participants drew attention to problems they had encountered in

relation to legal agreements. For example, in one case a HIC institution had issued the sub-Saharan African partner with a consultancy contract which had unfavourable payment terms and limited their rights to use project data. In several other cases, there had been considerable contracting delays – both within the sub-Saharan African partner's institution and the HIC partner institution – which had negatively impacted on project progress.

There was variation in the use of non-legally binding documentation, such as memoranda of understanding (MOU), and differences of opinion about the value that these were seen to add. For example, one participant felt that MOUs were too remote from the engagements that they were in place to support to have any utility and were often poorly thought out, inadequately communicated and lacked a champion. This was a particular risk if the creators of the MOU left the institution without transitioning ownership for the partnership to someone else. In contrast, several other participants felt that MOUs helped to cement relationships, demonstrate commitment, define areas of collaboration, support multi-stakeholder engagements, e.g. between academic, government and implementing partners, and elevate the relationship to institutional level which created a more sustainable partnership.

Several participants referred to the value of a written agreement – whether as part of a contract or a non-legal document – to clarify roles and responsibilities, guide behaviour and ensure no partner was exploited. Such agreements could also be useful in serving as the basis for stepping away from a partnership if one or both sides felt that it was not working in the way set out in the agreement.

Only a few participants described partnership governance structures. These included a leadership working group, a steering committee and a governing council which had evolved from being a governing body for a single partnership into an independent group of interdisciplinary health professionals.

Dissemination

Issues around dissemination include the obligation on partnerships to make research findings available in a format appropriate to the audience and for a wide range of audiences to be considered in dissemination plans, including the populations involved in and affected by the research. Expectations and opportunities for authorship should be clear and agreed on by all partners.

Several participants described sharing research results with participants and government stakeholders and explained how they typically led these processes with little involvement of HIC partners. Dissemination plans were not widely mentioned, though a couple of participants described having been involved in projects where a dissemination plan was developed before data was collected and all interested parties were able to stake a claim to a topic of interest, while another had never been involved in discussing outputs until after data collection was completed.

Participants described a range of experiences with respect to authorship of peer reviewed academic journal publications. Several participants had experienced the HIC partner controlling who had the opportunity to contribute to academic papers and they had either been demoted from what they felt was their rightful position in the authorship hierarchy or had been excluded, despite their obvious contribution to the study, e.g.:

"They wanted to treat us as research assistants and not as partners in a developing country context...When it came to authorship, they wanted to be the ones who determine who was to participate". [D02_SR]

"For me, it's very demeaning when you are passed over for an opportunity to co-author on work you conceptualised from scratch and you were available, because a student somewhere has only come in to analyse the data". [A01_SR]

In contrast, some participants described situations where all contributors had been duly acknowledged according to their level of contribution and they had experienced no conflicts or constraints over authorship.

One participant called for more journals to follow the path of requiring manuscripts to include at least one author from each country in which a study was undertaken, while another mentioned the role that funders played in setting expectations for authorship. Two participants touched on situations where they felt authorship was undeservedly bestowed upon researchers from their own institution who had not contributed meaningfully to manuscripts. One implied that this approach undermined recognised conventions for authorship where an individual's contribution influenced whether and where in the authorship list they were named. The other described it as a negotiation tool whereby the HIC partner gained access to a study site in exchange for the sub-Saharan African researcher securing authorship irrespective of their contribution to the study.

Respect for affected populations, including local relevance

Research results should not only be made available in the public domain, but partners should push for the translation of findings into policy and practice. Research should only be done where there is buy-in from and relevance to the communities in which it is planned to take place and where it addresses a priority health issue in the country or region.

Several participants described how it was difficult to exert much influence over what research was done in their country since most funds came from outside the country and were almost always tied to an externally imposed agenda, as discussed above in the section on agenda setting. For example:

"You are saying 'no, but this is not the most pressing issue in the country'. And they say, 'well, it's the resources that we have and it's for [specific research topic]'." [A03_JMR]

One participant described how being the lead applicant on funding applications gave his institution significant control to align research studies with the institutional research strategy and with national priorities. This was much more difficult, if not impossible, when acting as a sub-contractor where there was often minimal room to negotiate the scope of a project. Several other participants lamented the lack of funding for research from their national government which led to dependency on international financing and an externally imposed research agenda.

Despite the challenges of influencing the scope of research, several participants described having engaged closely with policy-makers. They gave examples of government stakeholders acting as gatekeepers to study populations, e.g. school-aged children, and ensuring that all research was aligned with their local priorities and mission to improve health in their community.

Data handling and ownership

Includes issues relating to research data collection, management, storage, sharing, use and ownership. There should be clear and jointly agreed plans between partners for all data related issues, with particular emphasis on data ownership and use.

Many participants had had experience of data sharing agreements and described a range of data ownership arrangements. These ranged from shared ownership, to funder- or lead partnerownership allowing use by other stakeholders, to situations where the partner who had collected the data did not have access to it and was not involved in analysis and writing up. Several

participants described slow and bureaucratic processes to request access to data, even when it had been collected in their own country, e.g.:

"For you to have access to this data, it's close to impossible...you have to write to the funder, you apply to the ministry, the ministry has to give permission then another person has to clear you and you are wondering, 'Why is it so difficult to access information or data that pertains to the community where we're living?'." [D03_JMR]

A couple of participants described a disconnect between the principles outlined in data sharing agreements and practices operationalised at project level which resulted in situations where, for example, data was held and analysed outside of the country where it was collected, or there were conflicting interests to use the data, particularly where HIC students were involved, e.g.:

"Students...are selfish because they want to finish the PhD, so when you have that data there is some sort of scramble... Everybody's competing for the data." [C05_JMR]

Funders were seen to be influential in determining how data was shared and who owned it and their policies were seen to drive data sharing practice.

Funding

Long-term core funding is critical for achieving partnership sustainability, yet most individual grants operate over a short, e.g. three to five-year, time horizon. More funding opportunities are available to HIC than LMIC partners and this affects how funds are channelled to each partner. This context demands that partnerships strive to distribute funding fairly between partners, funds should cover the full costs of engaging in research and partnerships must consider the implications of funderspecific rules and requirements on project feasibility.

Many participants reported access to funding as being a major benefit of collaborating with HIC partners, and some correlated this with being able to leverage the reputation and capacity of HIC partners, e.g.:

"If you are trying to win a large grant, I am sure you have to demonstrate that you have the capacity to do the research. So, if we were to bid for such grants as the prime [applicant] or on our own, where there is a requirement for lab capacity or other forms of capacity, then I'm sure we would not have had the research portfolio that we have now." [B02_EMA]

The relationship between where funds originated and how they were disbursed was discussed at length by a number of participants. Funding originated almost entirely, if not exclusively, from HIC funders, but participants had a range of experiences with regards how funds were received into their institution. All four institutions had received grants directly from funders and in one case this was now the predominant mechanism. For the other three organisations, their experience was typically as a sub-contractor to a HIC institution which acted as the lead partner. Eligibility to apply for funding was one reason that participants cited as driving which institution was the primary grant recipient. One participant felt it was fair that when funding was derived from HIC taxpayers, a substantial share of this funding was retained and invested in the HIC where the funds originated. Another participant felt that it was reasonable that when funding originated from a HIC, the institution from that country should be the lead applicant, while a contrasting view expressed by a couple of other participants was that funding calls should always be open to applicants from any country.

Participants described how being in the lead partner role gave them more control over their strategic direction as they had greater influence over project scope and design, more opportunity to negotiate for funds, and more room to manoeuvre when delivering the project because of flexibility in how funds were used. This quote illustrates the opposite, i.e. the disadvantages of being in a sub-contractor position, especially as an implementing partner where operational complications could have a major impact on the resources required to deliver a project:

"Essentially, when people make decisions on your behalf, you end up running the operations which tend to be the most costly part but having the smallest proportion of the cake...If you are tied at that point, because of those lack of flexibilities, you bear that cost. So, the institution doing the actual implementation ends up subsidizing these organisations big time." [C01_SR]

The same participant described how their organisation had chosen to move away from large scale field implementation because, despite large sums of money coming into the institution, this work generated very little intellectual capital or strategic value, e.g.:

"You find yourself running this massive mundane operation on behalf of other institutions so you cannot focus on anything strategic." [C01_SR]

Several participants described being satisfied with the funding their institution received as a subcontractor and felt that they had adequate opportunity to influence budget decisions, e.g.:

"I really don't care how much money is going to the UK, because I know that I've got enough funds to do this study." [B04_SR]

Meanwhile, several others described circumstances where proposals came in at very short notice and it was not feasible to give a proper review or make substantial changes, or the study was already funded by the time they became involved and the scope of work had already been determined. One participant argued that researchers from his institution needed to take greater responsibility for negotiating a fair budget and had themselves to blame if their allocation of funding was inadequate, while others described how grant review processes in their institution helped to ensure all costs were considered and that their institution secured adequate funding to do the work.

Several participants were critical of funders with low indirect cost rates because this meant that their institution ended up subsidising projects. They were also critical of funders who offered higher indirect cost rates to the 'home country' partner compared to other institutions in a collaboration. Some participants described how their institution might waive its indirect cost policy in order to secure a grant, or their institution's policy under-estimated the real costs of running projects and exacerbated the issue of the institution subsidising research. Some funders and partners were rebuked for their stringent financial governance requirements given that they provided very little support to develop and maintain appropriate systems and disallowed financial management as a direct cost in project budgets. One participant drew attention to the imbalance in financial accountability where they had to report in great detail to a lead partner, yet the partner had no accountability towards them:

"You can't really question the decisions when it comes to how funds are spent, yet you as a partner in the south, you have to be accountable, even for a bottle of water...that you buy using Western project funds...We cannot hold them accountable, because the funding is not coming from the global south." [D03_JMR]

Several examples of partnerships were described where the sub-Saharan African partner had been the lead applicant and sub-contracted to other institutions, including those in HICs. In one example, it had been the first time the funder had issued a grant in this way. The HIC partners on the grant

were described to have initially resisted the new funding model, though they ultimately accepted and complied with it:

"The resistance was there initially in terms of them [HIC partners] being at the mercy of the Southern partner in terms of the Southern partner determining...what support they needed ... and the amount of funding that could be made available for that support." [D01_EMR]

In another case, a participant described the learning process that their institution was undergoing in deciding what requirements to place on sub-contracted partners for reporting and payment when they were in the lead partner role. They described how other partners had complained that their institution, as the lead partner, was holding onto funds, while they felt that they had a fair share of the resources given the additional responsibilities they had to manage the project. The opposite perspective on this issue was voiced by several other participants who described working with HIC partners who they felt had retained a disproportionate share of grant budgets. These participants described how feelings of mistrust and inequity were fueled when the lead partner lacked transparency about how funds had been allocated between institutions. Two specific grievances were voiced over what was perceived to be an unfair distribution of funds: firstly, that most of the funding often remained in the HIC institution when the work largely took place in LMICs. Secondly, that salaries and benefits for HIC staff were disproportionately high in comparison with the compensation that their own institution's staff received, even after having accounted for cost-ofliving differences. A third grievance, which was more about scope creep than the initial distribution of funds between partners, was that having agreed to deliver a piece of work for a specified budget their institution had been expected to take on additional activities without any extra funding, e.g.:

"When you look at it and the expectation, it is somebody asking you to deliver a Rolls Royce and they're giving you money to buy a Toyota." [A05_SA]

The very limited funding for research provided from within their country specifically and sub-Saharan Africa in general was a concern for several participants, who felt that in order to break away from the model of HIC dominance, it was necessary that their governments invested more in research, e.g.:

"In the South, governments give lip service to funding research. They'll talk big, they'll go to conferences and make all these commitments, but when it comes to actually dishing out the money

it's peanuts compared to what our Northern partners may be getting through their governments...We need to walk the talk as well and empower our own institutions". [D01_JMR]

Long-term commitments

Long-term commitments help achieve sustainability and elevate relationships above individual projects towards institutional partnerships. It takes time and commitment to establish and build meaningful relationships between individuals and institutions.

Participants from three of the four institutions included in the study described how a HIC partner had been instrumental in founding their institution and the relationship continued in some form to the present day. For at least one of the institutions, the HIC partner remained on the board and had a strong influence on the institution's research direction. With these long-term partners, participants described collaborative activities which extended beyond research, including joint PhD programmes and faculty and student exchange. One participant discussed how the HIC partner provided resources to bolster their institutional capacity, which were also beneficial to the HIC partner, for example, interns and graduate students coming in on placements to support data analysis. The potential for a partnership to leave a legacy that went beyond the specific remit of the project was particularly associated with longer term partnerships, e.g.:

"We should also remember that we need to strengthen this department as part of the capacity building within this project, so that level of consideration is also, it's beyond the research. To make sure you will also leave a footprint after the research is done." [B01_EMR]

Several participants described how it was easier to work with HIC partners who were experienced in working in low-resource settings, understood the constraints of the context and were willing to adapt their own systems and requirements to fit the needs of their partner, and this was often the case where a relationship had been established for some time, e.g.:

"When you're working with ... experienced collaborators they've got mechanisms to start asking about things...way ahead of time... so they do anticipate that things can go wrong, and they know how to communicate." [B04_SR]

Overarching analysis

In the preceding sub-sections I have presented the study findings using a thematic analysis which used key domains for effective partnership as identified in the scoping review of guidelines for

partnership described in Chapter 2. In this section I take a step back and make connections across these topics in an overarching analysis that aims to interpret 'what is going on' in contemporary global health research partnerships.

I start with the observation that all the partnerships that participants described had a focus on improving health in one or more low- and middle-income countries. No examples were given of a partnership where the focus was on improving the health of citizens of a HIC. This aligns with the widely understood mission of 'global health' to improve health outcomes for disadvantaged individuals and communities and reduce health inequities across the globe. However, it is also fundamental to framing the context within which partnerships were initiated and operated, where the sub-Saharan African partner's country was always an intended beneficiary of the research. Consequently, the sub-Saharan African partner was typically responsible for the implementation aspects of a study and sometimes ran sizeable field or clinical operations, while the HIC partner typically occupied a technical advisory role, which set up a hierarchical 'implementer-overseer' dynamic. A similar dynamic was generated in how partnerships were financed: funding was derived almost exclusively from HIC governments and donors and was typically channelled through a HIC partner. There were various reasons for this, including eligibility criteria and individual and institutional experience and expertise. Irrespective of the reason, a consequence was that the institution that received the money from the funder became the lead partner contractually, whereby it was responsible for reporting to the funder and sub-contracting to partner institutions. Most participants strongly associated the institution that brought the funding as the institution that set the agenda and held power in the relationship. However, of particular interest were the examples where a participant's institution had been the lead partner. Several participants described facing resistance from one or more HIC partners who were unaccustomed to being in a subordinate position. In some cases, HIC partners had continued to try to exert the level of control and influence that was typically associated with the responsibilities of being the lead partner. This suggests that power was in part determined by the structural relationship between partners, but also by prevailing expectations and attitudes. The sub-Saharan African institutions in the study that had considerable experience of submitting grants as the prime applicant were well established and had a long history of working with HIC partners. Participants from these institutions attributed a large part of their institutions' scientific and grant management capacity to the support they had received from HIC partners. However, they also shared examples across the research lifecycle, from conception of an idea to completion of a study, of issues that they felt were inequitable. This suggests that while many participants acknowledged the personal benefits they had received and welcomed the status that they felt HIC partners had helped their institutions to achieve, the way in which this occurred

mattered, and it remained pejorative. Examples that participants gave of HIC partners trying to dominate how partnerships worked, who could use research data and who authored papers, were seen as attempts to protect their own interests and perpetuate a position of power.

Participants also described some very constructive partnerships where they felt there was appropriate recognition and respect between partners and the partnership felt equitable even though it was not equal. Interestingly, while it might be expected that the smaller the difference between partners in terms of institutional capacity and resources the greater the chance that the partnership would be considered equitable, this did not come through in the findings. Some of the partnerships that were described most enthusiastically by participants were those where resource and capacity differences appeared greatest, and participants self-identified as subordinate to HIC partners.

While there was no sign of an increase in research funding commitments from the governments of countries in which participants were based, participants gave several examples of HIC funders changing their funding models and providing more opportunities for sub-Saharan African institutions to receive funds directly. This appeared to be contributing to a virtuous circle whereby the stronger the capacity of the sub-Saharan African institution, the more easily they could win funds directly, the more they could influence what research they engaged in and the more experience they got of managing grants as the lead partner, which further strengthened their position. This confluence of money, capacity and power seemed to be a central construct driving how partnerships worked.

My observation on fairness in the research partnerships described by participants is that there was no unified perspective. Partnerships varied from being considered very fair to very unfair, and similar issues were interpreted quite differently by different participants. For example, some participants felt it was very reasonable that the lead partner should come from the country providing the funds for research, while others felt that eligibility restrictions were unfair and grants should be available to anybody to apply for. Some participants were satisfied when their institution received adequate funds to deliver their scope of work and had no interest in what funding the HIC partner received, while others were critical of HIC partners' lack of transparency around budgetary allocation. Some participants felt that it was fair for a significant proportion of grant funds to remain in the country that provided them, while others felt that HIC partners usually retained a disproportionate share of funding. This particular issue also illustrated another consideration: that an individual's or institution's position in the partnership structure affects the extent to which something appeared fair or unfair. For example, participants from an institution that had had considerable experience of leading and managing grants had found their partners believing that they

were holding onto a disproportionate share of funds, while they felt that the funding they retained was necessary to cover the responsibilities and risks associated with administering the grant.

There was a tension between the views of participants who expected HIC partners to provide capacity strengthening as part of a partnership, and those who felt that their individual and institutional capacity was undervalued. In terms of the type of capacity development that partnerships offered, PhD training was mentioned by a number of participants as being a major benefit and something which had positively shaped the management and leadership of their institutions, while other participants felt it was unfair when capacity development opportunities focused narrowly on PhD qualifications and did not address the broader skills and knowledge required to win and manage grants. Some participants had had experience of HIC partners denying them opportunities to contribute to authorship, while others knew of colleagues who had taken advantage of partnerships to secure authorship on papers that they contributed little or nothing to.

While participants who experienced HIC partners as arrogant and supercilious never found this acceptable, there were also many HIC partners who participants described as being respectful, courteous and humble.

What emerges from this complex array of participants' experiences is that participants had varying views on fairness about similar issues, and that there was considerable variation in the perception of fairness between different partnerships, while, overall, partnerships appeared to be becoming gradually more equitable along the domains identified in guidelines for partnership.

Chapter 5: Discussion

In this study I set out to explore how stakeholders in a sample of research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa experience partnership with HIC collaborators. Partnership between HIC and LMIC institutions remains a prominent mechanism by which global health research is conducted, and at the time when I began my inquiry, in 2020, there was a sizeable body of literature in the academic and practitioner domains describing how such partnerships function, identifying challenges, and advocating for better practice. Underpinning calls for improved practice was the criticism that partnerships are unfair and disproportionately advantage HIC researchers and research institutions. In the introduction to this thesis, I have described specific problems that have been identified, many of which can be traced back to an imbalance in power and resources between HIC and LMICs. One response to tackling these problems has been the development of principles and guidelines for partnership. As the first objective of my study, I summarised this material as a way of identifying key areas of focus for partnership improvement. I conducted a scoping review of principles, guidelines, frameworks and models for partnership from the academic and practitioner domains. This is described in detail in Chapter 2: Scoping review in the form of a journal manuscript. I used the themes from the scoping review to inform the second objective of my study, which was a qualitative study of how stakeholders in a sample of institutions in eastern and southern Africa experience partnership with HIC collaborators. I wanted to explore whether participants' experiences resonated with themes that have been previously documented, whether there were other issues which need to be considered, whether there was any indication of change in partnership practices and to consider what might be driving or inhibiting change. The study contributes to the body of work on research partnerships by documenting sub-Saharan stakeholders' experience at a particular point in time in the evolution of global health.

Concurrent with my study has been an upsurge of attention on decolonising global health, the trajectory of which I have described in the introduction chapter along with definitions of key terms and a mention of influential thinkers. This movement challenges the foundations on which global health is built and demands a re-examination of the historical framing of Western science as a universally applicable epistemology (Hirsch, 2022). Proponents of decolonising global health argue that the structures and ideology of global health remain heavily imbued with neo-colonialism (Eichbaum et al., 2021). Most guidance for partnership has been developed by HIC institutions during this neo-colonial era. Guidelines have largely sought to improve practice within the existing system in order to achieve fairness. The decolonising global health movement demands a more radical approach of demolishing the existing system and rebuilding a new one, while considering

which features of the current system should be maintained. I will reflect later in this chapter on the implications of the decolonising global health movement for research partnerships. I will also draw on several theories of power - the imbalance of which between partners from HICs and LMICs has long been associated with inequities in global health research – to describe what is going on in partnerships. While I did not conduct a power analysis as part of my study, nor do I claim to have mastered the myriad theories of power, I will try to unpack the concept in order to provide a more nuanced understanding of how power relates to research partnerships. 'Power imbalances' are often referred to in the literature on research partnerships, but with rather little interrogation of types of power and how power can shift between actors. This is of particular relevance for considering what is going on in projects where a sub-Saharan African institution is the lead partner and there has been a partial shift in the balance of power. Before moving into these broader reflections on power and decolonising global health, I will discuss the findings of my qualitative study as they pertain to key domains for equitable partnership that emerged from my scoping review of principles and guidelines for partnership. I will consider the extent to which the partnerships described in my study exhibit principles of fairness, and comment on how the study findings connect with wider discussions and changing practice in the field. My interpretation of the findings is inevitably influenced by my positionality as a white European female who has worked for LSHTM - a HIC research institution - for over a decade, the last six years of which have been based at an internationally renowned research institution in Kenya. I have described my positionality and the reflexivity which I have tried to bring to this study in the Methods chapter (see p. 58). It is perhaps useful to reiterate here that I acknowledge that I am a beneficiary of the neo-colonial system of global health and am myself entangled within the partnership paradox (Crane, 2010) whereby addressing partnership inequality is my aim while also the basis on which this study has been possible.

Common ground in partnership guidance

I decided to conduct a scoping review of the academic and practitioner literature on principles, guidelines, frameworks and models for research partnership because, in my early forays into the literature, I came across a variety of tools to support research partnerships but no summary of these tools. Unbeknown to me, at the same time as I was conducting my scoping review, two other research groups, Faure *et al.* (2021) and Monette *et al.* (2021) were finalising similar reviews, both of which were published in early 2021. My review was published in April 2022. The publication of three similar reviews within a relatively short space of time suggests both the accumulation of a

critical mass of literature on the topic of partnership guidance, and an appetite from a global health audience for efforts to distil this guidance.

While the objective, scope and methods of each of the three reviews were slightly different, they shared considerable common ground in terms of the themes that they identified as being important in research partnerships. The approaches taken by each review and commonalities in the themes identified are discussed in Chapter 2: Scoping review and are not repeated here. I will, however, draw attention to the framing of equity within each review.

Faure et al. (2021) set out to define what constituted equity in international health collaborations. They identified 10 domains which were critical to the development of equitable collaborations. All sources had to have an explicit focus on equity to be included in their review. In contrast, Monette et al. (2021) sought to identify commonalities in the principles guiding 'good' health research partnerships and drew attention to principles about which consensus was lacking. They identified equity as a principle that emerged from guidance on 'good' health research partnerships and was found in multiple guidelines. They went on to reframe equity as a 'shared vision, fundamental goal, or encompassing value' (p.8) for 'good' partnership. That is to say that they did not start by selecting sources based on a focus on equity but reached the conclusion through the course of their review that equity was a value that underpinned all sets of principles for 'good' partnership. Similarly to Monette *et al.* (2021), I also did not select guidelines *because of* their focus on equity. I included sources which articulated principles, guidelines, frameworks or models for research partnerships between HIC and LMIC institutions. Sources incorporated into my review included terminology in their titles such as 'fruitful' (RAWOO, 1999), 'successful' (Larkan et al., 2016; Migot-Adholla & Warner, 2005), 'effective and innovative' (Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada, 2013) and 'ethical' (Kennedy et al., 2006) alongside 'fair' and 'equitable' (Cornish et al., 2017; Dodson, 2017; Ecosystem Services for Poverty Alleviation, 2018; Newman et al., 2019). My starting position was, nevertheless, that equity should be a normative aspiration for partnerships. That is, it is right that partnerships strive to be fair, and my assumption was that this position would be shared by guideline authors and could be used as a unifying value underpinning guidelines. Similarly to Monette et al. (2021), I did indeed find that guidance loosely coalesced around equity as a central construct and, like Faure et al. (2021), I used the common themes emerging across guidelines as indicators or domains of equitable practice. My intention was to analyse how stakeholders at institutions in sub-Saharan Africa experienced partnership in relation to the domains of equity identified in the review. I felt this would be a useful way to gain insights into any perceived inequities because principles for equitable practice are typically a response to inequities that have been identified. For example, the issue of HICs dominating what topics get researched is addressed

by a principle of joint agenda setting, and the issue of HIC researchers extracting data from LMICs is addressed by a principle of fair sharing and use of data.

At the same time as using domains of equity as a starting point for exploring stakeholders' experience, I was mindful that guideline development has been disproportionately influenced by stakeholders from HICs (Binka, 2005) and guidelines derive largely from within the neo-colonial implementation of global health that is increasingly being challenged. I was keen to remain open to the possibility that sub-Saharan African stakeholders may have other priorities to those identified in existing partnership guidance and that domains of equitable practice may look different from different perspectives.

In the next part of this chapter, I will discuss the study findings in relation to prominent domains for partnership fairness and the underlying inequities that they seek to address. I will attempt to relate participants' experiences to theory and practice in the field.

Roles, responsibilities and ways of working

Guidelines for partnership suggest that equity in roles, responsibilities and ways of working can be achieved through having regular, open communication where partners are transparent and accountable to one another, particularly around issues of finance and administration, and there are jointly agreed mechanisms for making decisions and resolving conflicts. Partnership guidelines place greater emphasis on how partners relate to one another than the roles they occupy, and a delineation of roles and responsibilities between LMIC and HIC institutions is often assumed. The most common configuration for the partnerships described by study participants in this study was one in which a HIC institution acted in a technical advisory capacity and the sub-Saharan African institution led project implementation, which reflects the division assumed in much partnership guidance. This division was exacerbated when the HIC was the prime grant recipient, which was the case in most of the examples in my study. Some of the most illuminating examples were where a sub-Saharan African institution had been the prime recipient of a partnership grant. Participants reported how HIC partners sometimes continued to act as if they were leading the project. This suggests that a degree of hierarchy is expected whereby the lead partner takes on certain roles and responsibilities. However, it also implies that a change in partnership structure may not in itself be sufficient to override engrained patterns of behaviour and self-identification in which HIC partners expect to operate as the dominant constituency. The concept of *habitus* from Bourdieu's theory of power and practice (Bourdieu, 1977), in which actors are conditioned to behave in certain ways

based on prior experience, offers a way of understanding this phenomenon and will be discussed further in the section on power, position and capacity (see p. 114).

Without exception, all examples of partnership projects in this study addressed health issues that were primarily a concern in one or more sub-Saharan African countries, rather than in a HIC setting. This remains typical in 'global' health, a term which provides a veneer of universality that is inconsistent with the discipline's focus on health issues in LMICs (Eichbaum et al., 2021) and has implicit connotations of hierarchy among the HIC health and development institutions that use it (Khan et al., 2022). Whether language entrenches or reveals underlying attitudes, it was the case in this study that some HIC partners reportedly brought an attitude of paternalism, if not superiority, to their 'global' health research engagements. This was not, however, universal: other relationships were described as mutually respectful. A division of labour was not itself considered problematic provided that both partners agreed on roles and responsibilities and co-developed processes for handling, for example, communication, decision-making and conflict.

Some HIC institutions were reportedly inflexible and reluctant to consider mutually workable solutions when in the lead partner position, while expecting different rules to apply when they were the sub-contracted partner. A pertinent example was a HIC institution that required partners to adhere to their financial reporting requirements rather than make modifications that considered the limitations of partners' financial management systems. Meanwhile, when the HIC institution was a sub-contractor in a partnership, they failed to provide the level of financial reporting detail that the lead sub-Saharan African partner requested. This could be seen as another illustration of a HIC partner displaying a dominant *habitus* (Bourdieu, 1977) arising from their habituation to setting the rules rather than being governed by the rules of their sub-Saharan African partner.

Using the same case to illustrate a different point, the sub-Saharan African lead partner felt that it was their prerogative to determine what information they shared with sub-contracted collaborators and that it was neither necessary nor appropriate to provide full transparency. This conflicts with partnership guidelines that call for transparency and mutual accountability (3rd World Conference on Research Integrity, 2013; Ecosystem Services for Poverty Alleviation, 2018; Gaillard, 1994; Newman et al., 2019; Rethinking Research Collaborative, 2018). It suggests that some issues that have been framed as inequities between HIC and LMIC partners could be interpreted through a difference lens. This example relates to structural power (Barnett & Duvall, 2005) whereby the lead partner is accountable to different stakeholders – notably funders - compared to sub-contracted partners who are accountable to the lead partner. Structural power is exercised according to the

position in the partnership structure that each partner holds. Historically, HIC-LMIC inequities and structural power imbalances have looked similar because the institution holding more structural power has been the HIC partner, but examples such as this suggest the need for a more nuanced understanding.

Capacity strengthening

Capacity strengthening was overwhelmingly considered to be one of the main benefits of partnering with HIC institutions. Guidelines for partnership focus on capacity strengthening as an intentional activity. While the study findings confirmed that capacity strengthening embedded formally into the design and delivery of a partnership was valued, so too was learning acquired informally through the process of sub-Saharan African partners collaborating with HIC partners. There was a strong sense that to succeed in the international research arena, it was necessary to learn the rules of the game as it is currently played in relation, for example, to applying for grant funds, networking and publishing. Arguments have been put forward that the 'game' of global health can only become fair if a new set of 'rules' is developed (Chaudhuri et al., 2021). The case for dismantling the existing structures within which global health operates is discussed later when we look at the implications of the decolonising global health movement (see p. 115), while examples of new rules that are already beginning to take effect are discussed in sections on dissemination (p. 104) and funding (p. 108).

There were more examples of capacity strengthening for research – particularly, PhD training - than for research management and systems strengthening, which is consistent with other evidence (for example, Franzen et al., 2017). There have been efforts to map research management capacity in Africa (Consort, 2017a, 2017c) and to strengthen research management systems within projects and consortia (Wallis & Bates, 2016). Recent initiatives such as the Research Management Programme in Africa (https://www.aasciences.africa/aesa/programmes/research-management-programme-africarempro-africa) organised by the African Academy of Sciences and the Good Financial Grants Practice standard (https://www.aasciences.africa/ggc/standard), also developed at the African Academy of Sciences, aim to strengthen research management at a systemic level. This type of strategic initiative may be more appropriate for developing research management capacity at institutional level than attempting to embed it within individual projects, because of the complexity and resources required to strengthen systems. However, given that a number of the partnerships described in this study were long-term institutional partnerships, the paucity of examples of research management capacity strengthening may also indicate a bias among HIC institutions in the areas that they prioritise and are equipped to support. This is perhaps unsurprising given that

attention on research management capacity in HIC research institutions has also lagged behind scientific capacity development and the contribution of administration continues to be underacknowledged relative to the contribution of research (Acker et al., 2019).

The study findings revealed varied opinions on whose capacity should be strengthened. Some participants were very clear that they expected HIC partners to provide resources and expertise to build their capacity. Others felt that each partner had something to offer to the other but that HIC collaborators did not always recognise this. A number of partnership guidelines advocate for mutual learning and growth (Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada, 2013; Cornish et al., 2017; Newman et al., 2019; Stöckli et al., 2018) and there is pressure to move away from a giver-receiver paradigm (Binagwaho et al., 2013; Binka, 2005; Prasad et al., 2022). There have also been calls for greater diversity in the type of knowledge that is accepted and valued in health and education. Hall and Tandon advocated for 'knowledge democracy' (2017) and Visvanathan called for 'cognitive justice' (Visvanathan, 2009), while De Sousa Santos claimed that the 'abyssal thinking' of modern science (De Sousa Santos, 2007) has killed other knowledge systems, particularly non-Western philosophies, in a process of 'epistemicide', and that this is to the detriment of our understanding of the world. In specific reference to global health, concerns have been expressed that capacity strengthening initiatives often serve to reinforce existing hegemony (Bamford, 2019) and that this is inadequate and a reassessment is required of what knowledge is valued, in a process of that Atuire and Bull describe as 'epistemic decolonisation' (Atuire & Bull, 2022, p. 67). In this study, what was apparent was the desire from stakeholders in sub-Saharan African institutions to expand their scientific technical knowledge through partnership and to increase their adeptness at operating effectively within the existing, HIC-designed, system of global health. Meanwhile, study participants also wanted their expertise and experience to be recognised and valued, especially in areas in which HIC institutions were less proficient. This is not an argument for knowledge democracy or cognitive justice in quite the way that Hall and Tandon (2017) or Visvanathan (2009) described them, but rather a request for recognition and valuing of all domains of expertise that are essential to the implementation of global health research. Currently, some domains e.g., funding and technical knowledge, are valued more highly than others e.g., organisation of field activities and understanding of the context in which research takes place. What I infer from this is that it remains essential for there to be opportunities for knowledge- and skills-based development for those who want it and that this does not need to conflict with ideals of knowledge democracy and cognitive justice which should also be pursued. Greater acknowledgement of the different domains of expertise that are needed to deliver global health research may also open the door to an appreciation of different ways of knowing and what these can contribute.

Study participants had mixed experiences about the level of HIC partner willingness to involve them in all aspects of the research process. Some felt fully engaged throughout the research lifecycle, while others felt that HIC partners manipulated the areas in which they included their partners. This range of experiences reinforces the importance of discussing each partner's roles and responsibilities early. Some HIC stakeholders may simply not perceive the value to their partners of exposure to certain aspects of the research process, for example communication with funders. If the conversation were framed around capacity strengthening, it might change the way in which HIC stakeholders think about involving their partners. It also requires a shift in the perception of what to prioritise and how success is measured: when under pressure as the lead partner to deliver outcomes, HIC partners may seek the most time efficient approach, which may conflict with an approach that prioritises partners' learning. Funder and institutional metrics that recognise capacity strengthening outcomes alongside scientific outcomes are likely to help and have been advocated (Boum Ii, 2018). The assertion made by a couple of study participants that HIC stakeholders intentionally limit development opportunities in order to perpetuate a dynamic of dominancesubordination over their partners is more sinister. It implies the persistence of a colonial mindset characterised by entitlement and control (Walsh et al., 2016) and suggests that attempts to induce change are likely to be resisted.

Motivation and goals; agenda-setting and study design

Motivation and goals and agenda-setting and study design were identified as separate topics in my scoping review of partnership guidelines. The former emphasises the need to value each partner's respective interests as well as identify mutual benefits and shared goals, and the latter is about the research agenda being set jointly and all partners being involved in proposal writing and study design. I will discuss them together because of the interaction between them in the study findings.

The study findings revealed multiple levels of influence and spheres of control in determining how research studies were designed. Funders were seen to have ultimate control over setting the broad agenda for the research they chose to fund, which has been identified as a problem because funders' interests may not be aligned with the priorities of the countries and institutions where research is conducted (Binka, 2005; Bradley, 2017; Coloma & Harris, 2009; Franzen et al., 2017; Kunert et al., 2020; Viergever et al., 2010). In this study, participants described feeling pressurised to accept partnership offers in order to secure funding for their institution and to meet individual targets for career progression. This is not unique to sub-Saharan African stakeholders – HIC researchers also scramble for funding and adapt their research ideas to meet funders' interests. This

may go some way towards explaining why identifying mutual benefits and shared goals for a partnership did not appear to be a widely pursued element of partnership development: the imperative to secure funds may have been sufficient motivation to engage in a partnership, with each partner's goals being corralled within the boundaries of funders' interests. Having said this, several participants did talk about goals. Some criticised HIC institutions for putting more emphasis on achieving their own goals than those of their partners. Seeking gains, potentially at the expense of the partnership as a whole, has been attributed to a system of benefits and rewards in HIC global health institutions which do not reward long-term commitments between partners (Bradley, 2008) nor the policy-oriented, applied research outputs which partnerships may generate (RAWOO, 2001). There is some evidence of this changing. For example, the criteria for academic promotion at one UK university, LSHTM, was updated in 2022 to place more emphasis on partnership outcomes (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2022). Using a research partnership to satisfy personal goals appeared to be something that any individual with the opportunity might exploit: several study participants described how researchers from their own institutions had used partnership projects to fulfil performance criteria in relation, for example, to funding and academic authorship.

Returning to the notion of levels of influence and spheres of control, participants felt that influencing study design was a more realistic expectation than having control over the broad research agenda. I agree that study design falls more squarely within the scope of a partnership than does agenda-setting, although some funders have very broad funding remits that allow for significant applicant discretion e.g., the Wellcome Trust's Fellowship schemes. The extent to which a partner can influence study design is moderated by who the lead applicant is and how they operate. Lead applicants choose what funding they apply for and the extent to which they involve partners in study design, and they can often engage early with funders to influence project scope. In this study, the prime applicant was more often than not from a HIC and sub-contracted the sub-Saharan African partner to work on grants that they had already identified, if not already secured. Participants had a range of experiences of involvement in study design under this configuration of partnership, from being expected to implement pre-formed proposals through to having equal design input to the HIC partner. One institution in the study was now the lead applicant for more than half of the partnership grants it was involved with. This conferred benefits, including greater autonomy and influence over study design and budget.

Partnership guidelines emphasise the importance of all partners being involved in proposal writing and contributing to study design (Afsana et al., 2009; Alba, Verdonck, et al., 2020; Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada, 2013; Carbonnier & Kontinen, 2014; Cornish et al., 2017;

Dodson, 2017; Ecosystem Services for Poverty Alleviation, 2018; Gaillard, 1994; RAWOO, 1999; Research Fairness Initiative, 2018; Stöckli et al., 2018). Tight funder deadlines, slow institutional review procedures and heavy applicant workloads compromise the extent to which engagement prior to proposal submission happens. Research institutions should lobby funders for longer application lead-times to facilitate greater involvement of all partners, and some funders have also pushed this agenda forward by requiring all partners to be named and involved at application stage. There are accusations that this has been tokenistic (Gautier et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2015) and there would be benefit in greater scrutiny of whether early partner engagement is genuine, but it offers a step in the right direction. The involvement of all partners in study design also pertains to technical and written language skills – funders require grant applications to be submitted in a specified language, often English, which disadvantages applicants for whom this is not their first language – as well as to the attitude of the lead applicant. My observation from this study is that there remains considerable variation in the capacity of sub-Saharan African research institutions to lead grant proposals and in the extent to which HIC partners embrace partner involvement in study design. Efforts must be made to move both issues forward.

Resource contributions

Partnership guidelines suggest that each partner's contributions should be discussed and agreed, and different types of resource contribution should be valued (3rd World Conference on Research Integrity, 2013; Afsana et al., 2009; Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada, 2013; Cornish et al., 2017; Dodson, 2017; Ecosystem Services for Poverty Alleviation, 2018; Faure et al., 2021; Gaillard, 1994; Kennedy et al., 2006; Larkan et al., 2016; Newman et al., 2019; Research Fairness Initiative, 2018; Stöckli et al., 2018; Trust, 2018). Some guidelines propose that benefits accrued by each partner should be in proportion to the costs of participating in the partnership. There was no evidence in this study that any cost-benefit analysis at the level of a partnership as a whole happened in practice. Given claims that the benefits of partnership have been disproportionately accrued by HIC partners (Bradley, 2007; Crane, 2010; Eichbaum et al., 2021) the absence of joint discussion on costs and benefits was notable. It was not possible to ascertain whether this reflected the difficulty of attributing costs and benefits to different resources and activities, unequal power relations that inhibited such discussions from taking place or was an issue that stakeholders did not consider to be important. Participants did, however, express opinions about costs and benefits in relation to specific aspects of partnership e.g., budget allocation, and whether these were fair.
Bourdieu's theory of power suggests that economic power has primacy over other forms of power (Bourdieu, 1977; Bourdieu, 2008). In this study, this was evidenced by the authority attributed to the institution that brought funding into the partnership, which was usually the HIC partner. Other contributions were deemed to have less value attributed to them. Several participants felt that their understanding of the context in which research was conducted and their ability to mobilise and coordinate field activities, which Bourdieu described as 'cultural capital' (Bourdieu, 1977), were undervalued by HIC partners and there was a perceived hierarchy of contributions, where money and resources were at the top and cultural capital was lower down.

The situation whereby HIC stakeholders limit opportunities for LMIC partners to operational activities (Craveiro et al., 2020; Mony et al., 2005) has been described as a relational structure of 'subordinate integration' (Feld & Kreimer, 2019, p. 166) and this seems an apt description of the experience that some participants' had of being pigeonholed into operational areas and denied access to others.

Governance structures and institutional agreements

Having a legal agreement in place where there was an exchange of funds between institutions was universal for all partnership projects described in the study, though some concerns were raised over the nature and timeliness of such agreements. Imbalance in the legal capacity of collaborating institutions leading to unfair contracting has been recognised as an issue in partnerships which needs to be addressed, and dedicated resources have been developed to improve how contracts are negotiated. For example, the Council on Health Research for Development's (COHRED) Fair Research Contracting toolkit (<u>http://frcweb.cohred.org/</u>) aims to support vulnerable populations in poorly resourced settings to negotiate fair and ethical research contracts. An observation from my own professional experience is that HIC research institutions' legal departments are often underresourced and operate at arms' length and without a sense of connection to the research activities that they are there to facilitate. A mandate to protect their own institution can come at the cost of severe delays and contracts that place disproportionate demands on sub-contractors. There was some evidence of this in this study, and of sub-Saharan African institutions being expected to find workarounds to operating without a contract that would not be tolerated in HIC institutions. Bureaucratic power (James, 2011) describes the power derived from knowledge of administrative processes. In the case of research partnerships this is often exercised by the HIC partner by virtue of their experience of leading grants and managing the associated administrative and legal processes. Even when HIC partners are in a sub-contractor role, they may still wield more bureaucratic power

than LMIC partners because of the relative wealth of administrative experience and resources available within their institution in comparison with LMIC institutions. This behoves HIC partners to ensure that due diligence processes, payment terms, data ownership rights, reporting requirements etc. balance risk and self-interest with fairness to their partners' position and interests.

The value attributed to MOUs and other non-legally binding forms of agreement was mixed. They were sometimes seen to cement a partnership through demonstrating institutional commitment that went beyond individual relationships, while other times were considered to be too far removed from partnership activities to be relevant and their symbolic value was outweighed by lack of practical application. Written commitments that clarified roles and responsibilities and guided behaviour were, on the other hand, seen to be useful, particularly for holding partners to account and ensuring that no partner was exploited. Such commitments were in some cases considered to be practical aids to support partnership functioning, but in others they appeared to reflect a lack of trust between partners.

Dissemination

Findings relating to dissemination fell broadly into those pertaining to sharing results with national audiences, including policy stakeholders and study participants, and with an international audience through publication in peer-reviewed journals. The importance of sharing results with the community in which a study has taken place has been emphasised in several guidelines for partnership (Alba, Verdonck, et al., 2020; Cornish et al., 2017; Newman et al., 2019; Trust, 2018), yet in this study participants considered this responsibility to fall squarely on the partner in the country where the project was conducted. It did not come across as an issue applicable to partnership which suggests that the institutions implementing field activities considered it their responsibility to provide feedback to communities, perhaps underlined by the requirements of ethical review boards.

Authorship of academic journal publications has been a much-discussed example of partnership inequity. Hedt-Gautier *et al.* (2019) conducted a systematic review of authorship in collaborative research in Africa which showed that African authors are often 'stuck in the middle' with HIC authors typically book-ending papers as first and last authors, a finding corroborated by Mbaye *et al.* (2019). Other bibliometric analyses have reported a mixed picture. A few have found LMIC authors to be well-represented on papers reporting research done in the country in which they are based (Plaisant et al., 2010), but most have found that LMIC authors are under-represented (Boum Ii, 2018; Iyer, 2018; Kelaher et al., 2016; Schneider & Maleka, 2018). Two published papers are included in this

DrPH thesis. The first, a scoping review, is authored by myself and my supervisors, of whom two are from the UK and one is from Cameroon, working in Kenya. The second paper, based on the qualitative study findings, includes as authors the key contacts from each of the institutions involved in the study where they expressed an interest in contributing to authorship. I followed the convention of listing authors in the order which reflected their level of contribution to the paper, with my supervisors listed as the last three authors on the paper to recognise their input at earlier stages in the conceptualisation and design of the study as well as in commenting on the draft manuscript. Could these collaborators have been listed in a different order, and could the author list have been different? Certainly. In hindsight, I reflect that my consideration of how much to involve collaborators from the institutions that gave me access was constrained by my assumptions about what doctoral level research requires and the need to demonstrate my own intellectual contribution. This ostensibly benign excuse is rather weak, and I am mindful for future work to pay close attention from the outset as to who should be involved and how so that authorship follows logically from collaborators' involvement in a study.

Frustrations over being excluded from authorship opportunities were raised by participants in this study, but this was not a universal experience. Participants also described authorship being distributed fairly, including opportunities for first- and last-authorship on papers. Several participants gave examples of colleagues who had been named as authors where they felt this was unjustified because of the minimal contribution these colleagues had made. Their concern was that this undermined established principles for authorship, such as those advocated by the International Committee for Medical Journal Editors (2022) and did not reflect well on their institution.

Journal publishers are increasingly engaging with issues of equity and ethics, having initially been pushed by funders to remove barriers to accessing research. The shift in emphasis from pay-to-view to pay-to-publish as advocated by 'Plan S' (<u>https://www.coalition-s.org/</u>) is an example. While not without challenges, including sometimes high fees to publish despite tiered fee rates to reflect the income level of the country from which the fee is paid, this is a move toward greater accessibility of research. Publishers are now also voluntarily taking a more active stance toward promoting equity in the papers they publish. For example, in a recent editorial, *Nature Portfolio* committed to improving inclusion and ethics in its journals (Nature, 2022) informed by the Global Code of Conduct for Research in Resource-Poor Settings (Trust, 2018). The publisher PLOS and editors of a number of other journals have also called for measures to promote equitable authorship in papers that report on research conducted in international partnerships (Morton et al., 2022). Promotion criteria for researchers seeking career development have traditionally had a strong focus on publication record. Thus, pressure to increase representation of LMIC authors, particularly in first-author positions, may present a conflict of interest to HIC researchers seeking career progression. There is some evidence that HIC academic recognition and reward metrics are changing. For example, in 2022 LSHTM's criteria for academic promotion (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2022) were updated to place greater value on co-investigator and not only principal investigator roles and to give LSHTM staff credit for papers on which partners took more prominent authorship positions. There is a risk that by giving credit for 'in the middle' authorship it is not possible to differentiate between papers where HIC researchers have encouraged LMIC partners to lead the paper-writing process and those where an LMIC author would have been first author anyway. It is also important that measures to promote greater representation of LMIC authors are focused on removing barriers and providing opportunity while maintaining standards, so that achieving first- and last-authorship remains aspirational for all researchers.

What is needed is a broader consideration of what constitutes a meaningful contribution in global health research. Some funders, e.g. Wellcome Trust, are moving away from using a journal's impact factor as the primary metric of quality in grant applications and the UK Research Excellence Framework, which measures quality in research in order to determine funding allocation to UK Universities, has increased its emphasis on sustainability and research impact, which it defines as *'an effect on, change or benefit to the economy, society, culture, public policy or services, health, the environment or quality of life, beyond academia'* (UK Research and Innovation, 2022a). Traditional hierarchies of authorship are also being reviewed through reconsidering criteria for authorship, for example awarding greater recognition to the contribution of those leading field research activities (Closing the door, 2018; White, 2020).

In summary, steps are being taken to remove barriers in academic publishing and to reflect on what sort of outputs offer value to different stakeholder groups, including the communities in which research is conducted. There was some evidence of progress in this study, particularly in relation to the publishing of academic outputs.

Respect for affected populations, including local relevance

A number of partnership guidelines advocate for research findings to be translated into policy and practice and argue that research should only be conducted where there is buy-in from the communities in which it is planned to take place and it addresses a priority health issue in the country or region. Aspects of these issues were picked up in discussions on agenda setting (p. 102)

and dissemination (p. 106). Given participants' views that setting the research agenda was largely outside of their control, the paucity of discussion about the relevance of research to local communities may reflect participants' perceived lack of agency to influence what research is done. It may also be that study participants did not see these issues as being central to their experience of partnership with HIC collaborators and thus did not bring them to the fore during interviews, even if they were important considerations in their work. There was some indication that this might be the case: a few participants *did* provide rich descriptions of how they engaged with communities as an integral part of research design, implementation and analysis. Engaging with community stakeholders is central to a growing body of work on participatory research and practice (Birch et al., 2013; Cargo & Mercer, 2008; Christopher et al., 2008; Darby, 2017). Community stakeholders are also central to some framings of decolonisation, for example the definition put forward by Development Reimagined which defined decolonisation as '*The dismantling of unjust colonial-rooted methods, biases, and systems to ensure the independence and full agency of all involved organisations, communities, and persons'* (Development Reimagined, 2021, p. 4).

The findings from this study suggest that the current system by which health research topics are identified and pursued is largely unable to accommodate potential beneficiaries at the point at which the research agenda is set and participation comes after grants have been awarded. Community members may be involved in refining the study design to ensure acceptability and applicability of the research topic – for example, at KWTRP, some sensitive study topics have involved community consultation during grant development (Personal communication, 2022). Other studies of partnerships employing participatory approaches have found considerable variability in the extent to which community participation occurs. Some authors question whether involving stakeholders at all stages is justifiable or places unreasonable demands on community groups (Boutilier et al., 2011). As more effort to increase the involvement of research stakeholders in agenda-setting is required, so too is attention on how to appropriately engage potential beneficiaries who are currently one step further removed than researchers from how decisions are made about what research needs doing.

Data handling and ownership

References to 'parachutes', 'parasites', 'mosquito' and 'safari' researchers (Bradley, 2017; Closing the door, 2018; Edejer, 1999) as described in the introduction chapter have provided vivid negative imagery of how data has been handled by HIC researchers. There have been longstanding calls to

ensure that data is not extracted from LMIC countries and used by HIC partners without involving stakeholders from the countries where it was collected. This has manifested in partnership guidelines that promote the use of data sharing agreements and highlight the need for clarity over who owns research data and how it is used. These practices may be reinforced by data governance committees in LMIC institutions that set policies which strengthen individual researchers' positions in negotiating for fair access to and ownership of data generated locally. In this study, while there was some evidence of data being jointly owned, there were also examples of participants having been excluded from accessing and using data that their institutions had collected, and discrepancies between policies promoting fair data sharing and use and practice. Funders and publishers are increasingly applying pressure for data to be made publicly available (UK Research and Innovation, 2022b; Wellcome Open Research; Wilkinson et al., 2016). Meanwhile, there is increasing stringency globally to protect individual research subjects' identities through data protection legislation. Ideally, attention on standards for data accessibility and privacy will also stimulate greater consideration of fair data ownership and use in research partnerships. However, while peer reviewed journal publication based on primary research remains a key metric for recognition and academic career progression, the propensity for tensions in who owns and can use data remains. The measures discussed above in the section on dissemination (p. 106) to improve LMIC representation in journal paper authorship, coupled with reconsideration of what types of output are valued, should, however, lead to data sharing agreements and practices gearing towards more joint sharing of data.

Funding

Access to funding was seen by sub-Saharan African stakeholders to be a major benefit of collaborating with HIC partners. At least two different things seemed to be driving this: firstly, grant eligibility criteria favouring HIC institutions meant that some sources of funds were only available to sub-Saharan African institutions if they partnered with a HIC applicant. Secondly, HIC institutions were seen, overall, to have more experience of applying for funds, better contacts, stronger engagement in networks where opportunities were discussed, and a stronger reputation.

There were some examples in this study of funder policies having changed to allocate funds directly to institutions in sub-Saharan Africa rather than channelling them through HIC institutions. Groups such as the UK Collaborative on Development Research (UKCDR) (<u>https://www.ukcdr.org.uk/</u>) and Council on Health Research for Development (<u>https://www.cohred.org/</u>) provide platforms to share resources (Kunaratnam et al., 2021; UK Collaborative on Development Research, 2021), convene

discussions and secure commitments to changing funders' practice and are acting as catalysts for change. Signs of an increase in direct funding of institutions in sub-Saharan African have also been seen through initiatives such as the Alliance for Accelerating Excellence in Africa (The African Academy of Sciences, 2022) and the Africa Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (https://africacdc.org/) which act as hubs of scientific expertise and as brokers to manage and distribute funds that address issues of regional priority. Advocates have also called for LMIC governments to increase investment in research (Abimbola et al., 2021; Bertelsmann-Scott, 2017; Saha & Pai, 2021) in order to move away from neo-dependency (Adeyi, 2022), the reliance on foreign investment in research. Several participants in this study felt that more funding from their governments was necessary to gain greater research independence, but they were underwhelmed by progress in this direction.

While grant eligibility is constrained by funders' policies, being able to apply for grants is a function of opportunity alongside individual and institutional capacity and experience. HIC researchers and administrators often remain at an advantage over their sub-Saharan African counterparts because of the depth of experience and capacity of their institutions, and because of the contacts and networks that they have access to. However, there were examples in this study where sub-Saharan African institutions had led grant applications, including one institution that was the prime grant recipient for over half of the projects in its portfolio. Where this was the case, it diminished other funding-related problems, such as a disproportionate share of funds remaining in HICs, lack of HIC partner financial transparency and accountability, budgets being set without input from partners, and scope creep without adequate financial compensation. The shift from sub-contractor to lead partner was observed to double down on disrupting prevailing power dynamics. Not only did being the lead partner offer privileges associated with the hierarchy of how partnerships are structured but managing the purse strings held sway in establishing a position of authority over other partners. This is another illustration of how economic power has primacy over other forms of power (Bourdieu, 2008).

As opportunities to secure funding evolve through changes in grant eligibility criteria, growth in the capacity and experience of sub-Saharan African institutions and greater visibility of African scientists in relevant networks, the perceived desirability for sub-Saharan African stakeholders to partner with HIC institutions may reduce.

Long term commitments

For three of the four sub-Saharan African research institutions in the study, a HIC institution had been instrumental in establishing the institution and supporting its growth. Study participants welcomed this, since it had brought continuity of funding, investment in research infrastructure, opportunities to develop long-term initiatives such as joint PhD programmes, and development of scientific and managerial capacity. Long-term relationships, and the benefits they can confer, have been described elsewhere (Boutilier et al., 2011). However, there was more than a hint of paternalism in the accounts that several participants gave of the relationship between HIC partners and their own institution, and HIC institutions appeared to continue to exert significant control and influence over their sub-Saharan African partners.

A central focus for future partnership development must be on how to achieve the benefits that have historically been conferred by sustained investment of HIC partners in strengthening sub-Saharan African institutional capacity without this being done in a paternalistic or exploitative manner. Examples may include partnerships between two or more institutions in sub-Saharan Africa or between HIC institutions. While historically this has been framed as an issue between HIC and LMIC institutions, it applies to any long-term collaboration where there is a capacity gap between the partnering institutions.

Reflecting on my own experience at KWTRP in Kilifi, Kenya, I observe that many of the research management systems and processes that underpin how the institution operates are informed by HIC practices. These have undeniably contributed to the international reputation and success of the organisation, but potentially to the exclusion of alternative approaches. While it remains advantageous for sub-Saharan African institutions to adopt systems that have served HICs well in running research institutions and managing grants, there must be scope to contextualise approaches and HIC institutions must be open to adapt and improve their own systems.

Do partnership guidelines contribute to fair partnership practice?

The preceding sections of this discussion indicate that the study findings largely endorsed the domains identified in partnership guidance for equitable partnership. Domains that garnered the most attention from participants were *capacity strengthening*, *funding*, and *roles*, *responsibilities and ways of working*. *Motivation and goals*, *resource contributions*, *governance structures and agreements*, and *local relevance* had a lower profile, but all generated some discussion. There did not appear to be any domain from partnership guidance which was not pertinent, nor any major

theme identified by participants that was missing from guidance. This provides reassurance that partnership guidance has the potential to aid the endeavour of pursuing more equitable partnership relations.

However, there was no evidence that guidelines were actually used to support partnership functioning. This raises questions as to why, after some guidelines have been available for several decades, they are not adopted. Possible explanations are: despite the substantial body of literature on research partnerships, HIC and sub-Saharan African institutions have not identified inequities in partnership as something either that is a priority or that is within their power to address; HIC partners' are following guidelines to inform how they operate, but this is not discussed with their sub-Saharan African partners; guidelines are poorly publicised and there is low awareness of their existence; guidelines are difficult to apply and are not the best way of influencing practice; institutions already have their own policies pertaining to the issues that partnership guidelines address and do not seek additional direction; or how partners work together is a secondary consideration to the 'business' of doing global health research. In this study, there appeared to be low awareness among sub-Saharan African stakeholders of the existence of guidance for partnership. The findings also suggested that sub-Saharan African stakeholders' primary focus was the research itself, rather than relational aspects of partnership work, and that certain constraints, for example grant eligibility criteria, that impact on how partnerships operate were considered beyond their scope to change.

Bradley suggested that there is naivety in the notion that guidelines and principles have the potential to overcome deeply entrenched problems in partnerships (Bradley, 2017), and the apparent ineffectiveness of partnership guidelines observed in this study could be seen to support this. However, despite guidelines not being used, the overall trajectory seemed to be towards partnerships becoming more equitable along the dimensions of equity identified in partnership guidelines, although participants' experiences were very diverse. If partnership guidelines are not the major influence on changes in how partnerships are working, it is interesting to speculate on what might be driving change.

My interpretation is that change is occurring through the confluence of several factors. Sub-Saharan African researchers and administrators are becoming more experienced and the technical and managerial capacity of their institutions is growing, in part due to long-standing relations with HIC institutions. There have been changes in the policies and practice of funders, publishers and HIC institutions that reduce structural barriers to the pursuit of equity, and HIC collaborators' behaviours and attitudes are becoming more respectful. If not specifically driven by guidelines for partnership,

perhaps this is a consequence of cumulative exposure to arguments to recognise and address HICs' colonial past. These changes converge towards a re-distribution of power in partnerships, but also reflect that where power differences remain, changes in attitudes and behaviours can also result in experiences of greater fairness.

Of particular salience were the experiences that sub-Saharan African partners had when acting as the prime grant recipient in a relationship with a HIC institution that was the sub-contracted partner. Such examples illustrate a reversal of the structure that has historically dominated global health where a HIC institution is the prime grant recipient and sub-contracts to LMIC partner institutions. As has been noted in several earlier sections in this discussion, how a partnership is structured in terms of who leads and who is sub-contracted has a prominent bearing on the dynamics within the partnership. When sub-Saharan African partners assumed the lead partner role, this led to other barriers towards achieving equity diminishing. However, the change in role was insufficient to fully overcome engrained attitudes and behavioural norms of either the HIC or sub-Saharan African partner. Examples of partnerships where the LMIC institution is in the lead role have had very little coverage in the literature to date. This may be because such arrangements are relatively recently emerging and there has not been sufficient time to assess what is going on in such relationships, or because the change in structure is seen to remove other barriers and there is less to write about, or perhaps both. Given the rarity of descriptions of partnerships where the sub-Saharan African partner is in the lead role, the examples from this study provide a valuable, if limited, insight into understanding what a change in partnership structure implies. This is considered in more detail in the next section.

Power, position and capacity

The sub-Saharan African institutions in this study that had significant experience of leading partnership projects had a long history of collaboration with HIC partners. HIC partners had helped to establish systems and processes that corresponded with those in their own institutions, provided scientific, technical and managerial training, invested in research infrastructure, and mentored African researchers and research managers. These activities resonate with the literature on capacity strengthening which has a multi-level focus on individuals, institutions, and the wider environment (Bowsher et al., 2019; Cole et al., 2014; Marjanovic et al., 2013; Wallis & Bates, 2016) and promotes the development of research skills (Dean et al., 2017) as well as systems to manage, support and utilise health research (Consort, 2017a, 2017b, 2017c; Wallis & Bates, 2016; Wallis et al., 2017). Since changing the systems and structures that support research is challenging and takes time and

commitment, there is merit in emphasising the potential – or perhaps even the responsibility - of long-term partnerships to have institutional capacity strengthening as a core shared goal. The institutions in this study with substantial experience of leading partnership projects could be described as 'high capacity' institutions in terms of their research infrastructure, access to resources, and technical and managerial expertise.

For the sub-Saharan African institutions that were able to secure funds directly as the lead applicant, thereby acquiring financial power, various partnership inequities associated with other power differentials appeared to diminish in importance. It has been suggested that several other sources of power lay the foundations for securing financial power (Sriram et al., 2018). These sources include: technical expertise, which emerges from the knowledge, skills and information that individuals hold and their claim to that knowledge (Haas, 1992); bureaucratic power, which is derived from the knowledge and authority of bureaucracies and the administrative processes through which policies are designed and implemented (James, 2011); and networks and access. This source of power includes issue networks, which are alliances of interest groups that align in support of a particular cause, and epistemic communities, which are groups of experts with an authoritative claim on knowledge within a particular domain (Haas, 1992). In global health research, technical expertise manifests in relation to discipline-specific and methodological knowledge and is enhanced through access to technical resources, such as specialist laboratory equipment and IT capability. Bureaucratic power builds from exposure to the machinery of international grant funding and the development of administrative and legal systems to support research administration. Networks and access relate to the specialist communities in which scientific ideas and opportunities are discussed and connections into the workings of key stakeholder groups, such as funders. It appeared that technical expertise, bureaucratic power and networks and access were all sources of power which sub-Saharan African institutions had been able to build through partnership with HIC collaborators and which facilitated their ability to secure financial power through winning grants as the lead applicant. Once in the lead applicant position, sub-Saharan African institutions had been able to exert structural power (Barnett & Duvall, 2005) whereby accepted norms around how partnerships are organised permitted them to exert influence and control over sub-contracted collaborators.

However, even when sub-Saharan African partners were the prime grant recipient, there was some evidence of HIC partners being unwilling to adjust to a subordinate role and continuing to exhibit an attitude of entitlement and superciliousness. Concepts from Bourdieu's Theory of Power and Practice (Bourdieu, 1977) provide a useful lens through which to explore this. Bourdieu discussed power in relation to the intersection between *habitus, field* and *capital*. Fields are bounded and structured spaces of dominant and subordinate positions occupied by individuals and institutions

and organised around combinations of capital. The field in this study is global health research partnerships. Actors seek to strengthen their position through drawing on different sources of capital, which provide structure to the field. Bourdieu identified these as economic, social, cultural and symbolic capital (Sriram et al., 2018; Walsh et al., 2016). Economic capital is seen to be most important and pertains to money and resources; social capital is derived from collaboration between individuals and groups; cultural capital refers to patterns of socialisation and understanding, the use of specialist objects and skills and qualifications gained through being part of a group; and symbolic capital is about prestige and recognition. Habitus refers to the values and expectations that actors acquire through their habituation to the social world that they occupy (Bourdieu, 1977). It is about how stakeholders self-identify as influenced by their experience. Bourdieu described the hiatus that can happen when the structure of a field changes and evolving opportunities are not matched by a change in actors' aspirations. Bourdieu called this a hysteresis effect (Schwartz, 1997). It is one way to explain why HIC stakeholders may continue to embody a dominant habitus even if they have less economic capital in a research partnership relative to the sub-Saharan African lead partner and even when they are working with high-capacity sub-Saharan African partners who have acquired substantial social, cultural and symbolic capital.

Correspondingly, sub-Saharan African stakeholders may continue to occupy a subordinate habitus, even when there are structural changes in the field that bestow greater capital upon them. There were several examples from this study where participants self-identified as subordinate to a HIC partner even when the partnership relationship appeared to be fairly well balanced. Walsh *et al.* (2016) applied Bourdieu's theory to excellent effect in interpreting the findings of study in Zambia of public health research collaborations between Zambian and 'northern' stakeholders. Their analysis resonated with the findings from this study and adds support to the utility of Bourdieu's thinking in understanding power relations in global health research partnerships.

My interpretation of the relationship between power, position and capacity is that sub-Saharan African institutions that have had long-standing relationships with HIC partners have been able to develop individual and institutional capacity in research and research management which has led to their accumulation of power across several dimensions, including technical expertise, bureaucratic power and networks and access. This in turn has unlocked opportunities to gain financial power through leading grants and to exert structural power over a partnership as a consequence of being in the lead applicant position. However, despite changes in power dynamics, HIC partner attitudes may remain supercilious. Habitus (Bourdieu, 1977) is a useful concept to explain this, and the subordination which sub-Saharan African partners may exhibit, even when roles in a partnership have shifted and the sub-Saharan African partner has an equivalent or elevated relative position of power.

Finally, it is worth revisiting the finding that there was not an obvious correlation between participants' experience of how equitable a partnership was and their power relative to that of the HIC partner. A number of examples were given whereby participants felt that partnerships were fair even where there were substantial differences in power and institutional capacity between their own institution and that of a HIC partner, and other examples where, despite reduced power asymmetry, the partnership was considered to be unfair. It is encouraging that partners with substantially different capacities can work effectively together and move toward closing the capacity gap, but also concerning that ostensibly more equal partnerships continue to be experienced as unfair. The instances where sub-Saharan African stakeholders experienced greater dissatisfaction with a partnership despite an apparently smaller power differential in relation to the HIC partner can perhaps be explained by level of exposure to HIC research settings: sub-Saharan African stakeholders who had greater exposure to HIC research institutions perhaps had greater awareness of the benefits accrued by these institutions and how benefits were protected and perpetuated. These individuals were no longer operating from a subordinate *habitus* in the relationship and did not feel that HIC partners were justified in operating with a *dominant* habitus. Perhaps these individuals viewed the relationship as unfair because they came from a perspective of expecting it to be equal, in contrast to other sub-Saharan African stakeholders who continued to consider their position subordinate.

Decolonising global health research partnerships

It has been argued that power privileges certain forms of knowledge and discourse in global health, and that this influences the types of solutions that are identified to address global health challenges (Benatar, 2016; Shiffman, 2014; Sriram et al., 2018). This is congruent with the notion of networks and access as a source of power as described in the previous section of the discussion, particularly epistemic communities - groups of experts who have an authoritative claim on certain domains of knowledge (Haas, 1992). It reinforces arguments by Hall and Tandon (2017), De Sousa Santos (2007) and Atuire and Bull (2022) mentioned earlier in this chapter about dominant forms of knowledge. It also provides a bridge to discussing the role of the emerging movement to decolonise global health, which seeks to redress power imbalances and challenge norms around accepted forms of knowledge in service of improving the health of populations (Khan et al., 2021).

The decolonising global health movement and its antecedents have been described in the Introduction and references have been made in earlier sections of the discussion to issues that are within the scope of what the movement sets out to address. This section of the discussion

specifically considers how the movement might contribute to changing how global health research partnerships operate.

Issues presented in the decolonising global health literature about the effects of colonialism and examples used to illustrate the continued manifestation of the colonial legacy bear similarity to those that have been previously documented in literature on partnership inequities. For example, restrictions on grant eligibility and assumptions about expertise flowing unidirectionally from 'North' to 'South' are described in work on decolonising global health (Oti & Ncayiyana, 2021) and have been previously discussed in work addressing partnership inequities (Binagwaho et al., 2013; Binka, 2005). The issue of who sets the research agenda and whose interests this serves has recently been framed as an illustration of colonial dominance (Khan et al., 2021) and has previously been discussed in work on agenda-setting processes and capacity strengthening (Bradley, 2008; Coloma & Harris, 2009). The issue of the under-representation of LMIC authors in academic journal papers has been discussed both through the lens of decolonisation, (Abimbola, 2019; Abimbola et al., 2021) and without this framing as an inequity that needs to be tackled in partnership research (Hedt-Gauthier et al., 2019).

What is different in the presentation of the inequalities and power imbalances in global health is their recent re-framing as issues which need to be 'decolonised' and the manner in which this needs to happen. Through the demand to dismantle and reconstruct the system of global health in order to expunge its colonial legacy, the decolonising global health movement brings a more radical approach than much of the guidance for partnership, which seeks to pursue equity within the existing system. That said, there is a spectrum of positions within the decolonising movement from those who propose starting from where things currently are (for example, Demir, 2022; Khan et al., 2021; Kwete et al., 2022; Oti & Ncayiyana, 2021) to activists who believe that the complete removal of all colonial influence is a necessary condition for moving forward (Chaudhuri et al., 2021; Saha, 2019). There are also those who caution against pursuing extreme interpretations of the decolonising agenda arguing that this has the potential to undermine research-based knowledge, aggravate tensions and inhibit rather than accelerate progress (Hellowell & Nayna Schwerdtle, 2022). While I am inclined toward pragmatism and share the view that efforts to decolonise must not risk undermining progress, I also believe that there is value to be derived from the collective strength of all these varied positions on decolonising global health, and that what has been created is an identity for the movement which has the potential to bring about change.

Perhaps the key differentiating factor from previous efforts to work towards greater equity in research partnerships is the success and speed with which the decolonising global health movement

has galvanised attention. It appears to be starting to shift the fulcrum from observation towards action of individuals, institutions and in the broader systems of global health, particularly in HIC contexts. Examples in earlier sections of this discussion drew attention to areas where systemic change is becoming apparent. These include constituencies that set the rules of the current global health research system, including funders and publishers, being held to account and keen to demonstrate progressive policies; for example, eligibility criteria for funding being reviewed, publication requirements changing and HIC institutions re-writing educational curricula, changing reward and promotion criteria and incorporating goals of equitable partnership into equality, diversity and inclusion action plans. Many of these actions were set in motion prior to the emergence of the movement to decolonise global health, but there appears to be a gathering of pace in their implementation. Where guidelines for partnership were relevant, but failed to gain traction, the decolonising global health movement may have struck a chord and generated resonance that is catalysing change.

Perhaps here it is worth documenting my own engagement with and response to both the equitable partnerships agenda and decolonising global health. Alongside my DrPH research inquiry and thesis-writing I became involved in several initiatives at LSHTM and participated in various external workshops and webinars relating to equitable partnerships. This was partly out of interest and partly because I felt it was important to establish a connection between theory and practice and try to keep up to speed with developments in this area.

I worked with colleagues from the Global Health Department to develop the *EquiPar* tool to support more equitable partnership practice between LSHTM and its collaborators. I also joined the coordinating group for the equitable partnerships workstream which was set up to take forward recommendations set out in the LSHTM Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) action plan. In 2021 and 2022 this group hosted a couple of all-staff and student webinars and instigated two 'task and finish' groups to address specific areas identified in the EDI action plan: I am a member of the task and finish group working on contracts and finance. I also attended several meetings of the grass roots Decolonising Global Health working group for equitable partnerships and contributed to a couple of taught classes, most recently a session in October 2022 for LSHTM research degree students on *Decolonising global health for doctoral students*. I was involved in the conception of a workshop jointly run by LSHTM, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine and LVCT Health on *Institutional capacity to support equitable partnerships in health systems research* at the Health Systems Global conference in Bogota in November 2022 and I attended a variety of virtual workshops and seminars between 2020 and 2022. These included a workshop run by the LSHTM

webinar by Dr. Olusoji Adeyi in February 2022 on *Global Health for the 21st Century: beyond power imbalances, foreign aid, and neo-dependency;* UKCDR's annual stakeholder event in March 2022 entitled *Looking to the long-term: Sustainable research partnerships between LMICs and the UK;* a webinar in July 2022 on *Justice Advancement Through Health Policy and Systems Research Decolonisation: Chipping Away at Structures and Processes;* a session at the UN General Assembly Science Summit in September 2022 on *The role of funders in enabling equitable research partnerships for development* hosted by UKCDR and ESSENCE for Health, and a round table, also hosted by UKCDR, on *Contracts, Due diligence, Costing, Ethics, Intellectual property and Authorship* which was part of their consultation to inform new guidance on equitable partnerships.

In listing these activities, my intention is to illustrate the sorts of initiatives that have been pushing the equitable partnerships agenda forward over the past couple of years. Several of them were also, or alternatively, promoted under the banner of decolonising global health. I found myself initially resisting identifying with this label and not engaging with 'decolonising' events because of their stridency and the discomfort that this made me feel, particularly given my position as a white, HIC researcher. While the decolonising global health movement has been highly successful, as mentioned earlier in this section, in galvanising attention and stimulating change very much because of its assertive challenge to the status quo, I wonder if there is a danger that 'moderates' will feel alienated by the inherent criticism embedded within the *de*-colonising agenda? It was very apparent that in the research degree student teaching session I was involved in, the small group of students attending were already tuned in to the notion that global health researchers must grapple with their field's colonial history. Did we exclude a group of students who would be keen to address issues of unfairness and ensure they act responsibly as global health researchers, but were deterred by the associations of coloniality? Given my earlier reflection that guidance on equitable partnerships has been around for some time without seeming to have generated much change, and that the decolonising global health movement has successfully brought many of the same issues into the spotlight, perhaps I am contradicting myself by now suggesting that the decolonising label may be in some ways a deterrent for wide engagement. However, perhaps the success of the decolonising global health movement in bringing issues of equity onto the table has helped to create an environment in which discussions on equity can now stand on their own.

My sense is that the path towards achieving equitable partnerships will continue to be blocked both by powerful authorities seeking to perpetuate their interests and because of the resource imbalances that continue to divide the individuals, groups and nations that 'have' from those that 'have not'. While the decolonising global health movement can help overcome blockages through re-framing of whose interests are served by global health research, whose knowledge counts and

who has the authority to decide what research is done, there remains an imperative to close the gap on resource imbalances. One way of achieving this in research partnerships is through a continued focus on capacity strengthening. We have seen through examples in this study that power can be re-distributed and that this is linked to resources, experience and expertise, and that there is a strong demand from sub-Saharan African stakeholders for sustained commitments towards strengthening technical and research management capacity.

Study limitations, and some benefits

This DrPH thesis research aimed to make a modest contribution to understanding the experience of contemporary global health research partnerships from the perspective of stakeholders in sub-Saharan Africa with a particular focus on aspects of equitable practice. As with all research, there were constraints in terms of time, funding, and my expertise as a researcher to grapple with the methodology, analytical approach and understanding of the field. The latter was exacerbated by the explosion of attention on decolonising global health which was going on in parallel with the design and implementation of my study. I have familiarized myself with the literature on decolonising global health, but I may have framed my study differently had I started from a position of greater awareness of this body of work at the point of study design. Through my reading I have become much more aware of the significance of my own positionality in relation to the topic that I have been exploring. I recognize that I have grown up within the system that the decolonising movement demands be de-commissioned and reconstructed, and that there is a danger that my study is just another example of 'beneficent paternalism' (Fofana, 2021, p. 1157).

In conducting the scoping review, I excluded principles and guidelines for partnership that were derived from studies of individual projects. Of two similar scoping reviews published almost concurrently with my own, one, Faure et al. (2021) included empirical studies, including those based on single projects, while the other, Monette et al. (2021), like mine, did not. Interestingly, the themes reported across all three scoping reviews had considerable overlap, suggesting that leaving out single-project empirical studies may have been an immaterial exclusion criterion. Furthermore, given that single-project studies are likely to enter into greater depth in their analysis and interpretation of what is going on in a particular partnership, including them may have made a valuable contribution to the review. In my wider reading around the topic of partnership, I came across a number of articles that were studies of single projects and these informed my understanding of topical issues. I have referenced them, where appropriate, in the Introduction and in the Discussion.

I also struggled with the qualitative methodological approach to primary data collection, since my academic background is in the natural sciences and my day job is among scientific colleagues who are predominantly trained in a positivist philosophy. This was mitigated through my supervision team, two of whom are experienced social scientists and were able to guide and support me when I floundered. I was fortunate that, unlike many of my DrPH compatriots, my study was not adversely affected by the COVID pandemic. In fact, the pandemic simplified decisions about data collection because there was no possibility of travel and all data had to be collected remotely, in my case through web-based interviews. This even had some unforeseen benefits, for example being able to use the auto-transcription function of Zoom as an aid for producing the first draft of interview transcripts. Collecting data remotely limited the contextual understanding that I was able to gain about each of the institutions from which I identified study participants. Had I been able to visit, I undoubtedly would have gleaned additional insights and understanding of each of the four organisations that participated in the study. However, given that time and funding for travel would have been a constraint, and I may have had to select some but not all institutions to visit, I at least had the benefit of a consistent approach to all interviews. Scheduling was also easier to manage, particularly as a part-time student, because I could be more flexible with study participants' availability and fit in interviews over a more extended time-period than would have been possible had I travelled for, necessarily short, periods of data collection.

I made efforts to incorporate diversity in the characteristics of institutions included in the study sample and to identify participants with a range of job roles and experience in order to provide a broad range of perspectives. However, the criteria I used to select institutions included proxy indicators for institutional maturity and scale of research activities which may not have been the most robust measures of these characteristics. I did not include a criterion to select for type of research or diversity across research disciplines, e.g. product development, clinical trials, basic science, social science, on the assumption that each institution would conduct research across a spectrum of areas. It may be useful for future studies to have an explicit interest in looking at any differences between disciplines in stakeholders' experience of partnership. Due to funding constraints to pay for an interpreter and translation costs, I only included institutions in countries where English is an official language, and excluded francophone and lusophone nations, which is a further limitation of the study. My study findings may also have had stronger explanatory potential had I been able to include more participants from more institutions. Notably missing from the study are the voices of HIC stakeholders. When designing the study, I did consider including HIC researchers and administrators. Ultimately, I decided that to keep the scope manageable I needed

to focus on a narrower study population, and I was most interested to learn what stakeholders in African institutions felt about partnership with HIC collaborators. It would, however, have been particularly interesting to have compared HIC and African stakeholders' perspectives of the same partnership. In the Implications for Research section on p. 128-130 I have noted two other opportunities to involve HIC stakeholders in future research on partnerships: firstly, exploring HIC institutions' experiences of being sub-contracted by an African lead partner institution and, secondly, studying the utility of partnership guidance.

In recognition of these limitations, I have sought only to offer illustrative findings and link them, where applicable, to issues that have been identified in the literature. I do not claim that the findings are representative of the concerns of stakeholders at research institutions across anglophone eastern and southern Africa, let alone a broader geographical area.

Implications for policy

There is plentiful advice and many recommendations available for improving the equity of global health research partnerships. These were highlighted in Chapter 2: Scoping review and revisited in earlier sections of this chapter alongside examples of evolving policy and practice. Here, I briefly highlight five additional implications for policy which strike me as being particularly pertinent in light of the findings from this study:

- Researchers, funders, publishers and research governance bodies should build on the momentum generated by the Decolonising Global Health movement to revisit how existing principles and guidelines for partnership could be used to improve equity in partnerships. Guidelines appear relevant, but have not been widely used, and there is potential to adopt and adapt them within contemporary partnerships. There is some evidence of this happening, for example, *Nature Portfolio* committed to improving inclusion and ethics in its journals (Nature, 2022) informed by the Global Code of Conduct for Research in Resource-Poor Settings (Trust, 2018).
- Funders should work together to consider how best to provide long-term support for
 institutional research management systems strengthening, particularly in resource-poor
 settings. Evidence from this study suggests that high-capacity research institutions in subSaharan Africa have a history of long-term partnership with HIC institutions, but there is a
 danger that this becomes an exclusive club that is difficult for new entrants to join. There

are some examples of research management systems strengthening, such as the Research Management Programme in Africa

(https://www.aasciences.africa/aesa/programmes/research-management-programmeafrica-rempro-africa) and Good Financial Grants Practice standard (https://www.aasciences.africa/ggc/standard), but funders typically continue to focus on funding scientific research topics rather than the essential processes for managing research.

- Metrics that incentivise capacity strengthening and equitable practice should be considered alongside objectives for delivering research outcomes. This could be at the level of individuals' performance and in the objectives of research partnerships – either for partners individually or for the partnership as a whole.
- There is wide variation in what funders and lead research institutions (- which are still more often HIC than LMIC institutions) require in terms of financial management and reporting, standards around data ownership and use, project governance and other key operational dimensions of partnership. A simplified and more unified approach would be welcome alongside efforts to be flexible and respond to applicants' and sub-contracted partners' institutional processes and capabilities. Furthermore, longer lead times for grant applications and additional steps to ensure early and genuine involvement of all partners would be welcome. One example could be to require all partners to be present during any application selection process and for a representative of each partner to be involved at all stages in communications with funders.
- While managing their own risk, lead partners should also commit to representing the interests of their collaborators and ensure that sub-contracts are not disadvantageous to partners, particularly where partners are constrained by institutional experience or capacity, e.g. in legal review or budget development.

Implications for research

The findings from this study suggest several possible areas for future research. These include:

• Further exploration of partnership dynamics where sub-Saharan African institutions are the prime recipients of grants. This would include collecting data from HIC partners in sub-contractor roles to understand their experience of the partnership. Partnerships that had

the configuration of being led by a sub-Saharan African institution were in the minority in this study and are rare in the literature to date. They shed a particularly interesting light on issues of power relations and the role of individual and institutional capacity in countering inequities.

- A follow-up study along similar lines to this study, five years on, to assess what has changed in how partnerships operate across the key domains identified for equitable practice. The surge of attention, particularly in HIC contexts, to decolonise global health presents an opportunity for a shift in the structures that support and constrain partnerships and it would be interesting to see whether and how this impetus for change impacts on partnership practice.
- Consultation with stakeholders at a broader range of sub-Saharan African institutions, including those in Francophone and Lusophone nations, and with increased emphasis on institutions with differing levels of capacity. While the vestiges of colonialism are not restricted to former British-colonised nations, it would be interesting to see what similarities and differences there are in the experience of research stakeholders in countries that were either governed by another European power, or maintained independence, e.g. Ethiopia. It would also be interesting to pay greater attention to institutions with differing levels of research capacity, since this has an influence on the power relations between partners, although not necessarily on stakeholders' experiences of equity – partnerships may be considered equitable even where there are substantial differences in institutional capacity, and partnerships may be considered inequitable where capacity differences are small.
- An investigation into attempts to use partnership guidelines to understand what barriers there might be to their use and whether when there is a deliberate attempt to use guidelines they are found to be useful, and in what ways. At the time of writing, there is a research study ongoing at LSHTM to pilot a bespoke institutional tool for equitable partnership which is an example of this. Recent additions to the suite of partnership resources, for example the ESSENCE and UKCDR Good Practice Document on supporting equitable research partnerships (ESSENCE & UKCDR, 2022), Equity Tool (Larson et al., 2022), BRIDGE guidelines for bridging equity and epidemiology (Alba, Lenglet, et al., 2020; Alba, Verdonck, et al., 2020) and latest edition of the KFPE guide for transboundary research partnerships (Stöckli et al., 2018) might also be useful resources to apply in a real-world context. Of particular interest would be any example where a sub-Saharan African partner

suggests that guidelines are adopted, since this would provide a novel addition to the few examples that already exist. It would also be interesting to explore the utility of partnership guidance in collaborations where both partners are from LMICs or both are from HICs.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

This thesis has attempted to make a small contribution to the body of knowledge on global health research partnerships.

A scoping review of the academic and practitioner literature on principles, guidelines, frameworks and models for partnership indicated that there is strong consistency in the domains that are considered to be important in the pursuit of equitable partnerships.

Primary data collection and analysis exploring sub-Saharan African stakeholders' experience of partnership with HIC collaborators suggests that these domains are relevant to contemporary partnerships. However, guidelines themselves are not widely used to inform how partnerships operate. Despite this, there is some evidence to suggest that partnerships are becoming more equitable in the domains that have been identified as relevant to partnership, though there are also longstanding inequities and emerging tensions. If guidelines for equitable partnerships are not driving change, this leads to the question: what is?

My conclusion is that change is in part occurring because of an increase in the research and research management capacity of sub-Saharan African research institutions, leading to a re-distribution of power in the partnership relationship. There also appears to be a growing awareness of the role that HIC stakeholders play in perpetuating inequities and the contradiction that this presents in a field that espouses equity as a guiding principle and end goal. While these are not new issues, the decolonising global health movement has brought them into the spotlight and appears to be creating a momentum for change which surpasses previous attempts to galvanise attention and action.

What is needed to sustain and perhaps accelerate progress towards more equitable global health research partnerships is a multi-pronged approach: continued efforts to change the underlying attitudes, beliefs and structures that perpetuate inequities alongside continued investment in capacity strengthening for individuals, institutions and national research systems where there is demand.

References

- 3rd World Conference on Research Integrity. (2013, 5-8 May). Montreal Statement on Research Integrity in Cross-Boundary Research Collaborations. Montreal.
- Abimbola, S. (2019). The foreign gaze: authorship in academic global health. *BMJ Global Health*, *4*(5), e002068. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-002068</u>
- Abimbola, S., Asthana, S., Montenegro, C., Guinto, R. R., Jumbam, D. T., Louskieter, L., Kabubei, K.
 M., Munshi, S., Muraya, K., Okumu, F., Saha, S., Saluja, D., & Pai, M. (2021). Addressing power asymmetries in global health: Imperatives in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic.
 PLOS Medicine, *18*(4), e1003604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003604</u>
- Acker, S., K. Mcginn, M., & Campisi, C. (2019). The work of university research administrators: Praxis and professionalization. *Journal of Praxis in Higher Education*, 1(1), 61-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.47989/kpdc67</u>
- Adeyi, O. (2022). *Global Health In Practice: Investing Amidst Pandemics, Denial Of Evidence, And Neo-dependency*. World Scientific. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1142/12520</u>
- Afsana, K., Habte, D., Hatfield, J., Murphy, J., & Neufield, V. (2009). *Partnership Assessment Toolkit*. chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/<u>https://cagh-acsm.org/sites/default/files/pat_ccghr_regular.pdf</u>
- Ahmed, A. K. (2020). #RhodesMustFall: How a Decolonial Student Movement in the Global South Inspired Epistemic Disobedience at the University of Oxford. *African Studies Review*, 63(2), 281-303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/asr.2019.49</u>
- Airhihenbuwa, C. O., Shisana, O., Zungu, N., BeLue, R., Makofani, D. M., Shefer, T., Smith, E., & Simbayi, L. (2011). Research capacity building: a US-South African partnership. *Glob Health Promot*, 18(2), 27-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975911404745</u>
- Alba, S., Lenglet, A., Verdonck, K., Roth, J., Patil, R., Mendoza, W., Juvekar, S., & Rumisha, S. F. (2020). Bridging research integrity and global health epidemiology (BRIDGE) guidelines: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ Global Health*, 5(10), e003237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-003237</u>
- Alba, S., Verdonck, K., Lenglet, A., Rumisha, S. F., Wienia, M., Teunissen, I., Straetemans, M., Mendoza, W., Jeannetot, D., Weibel, D., Mayanja-Kizza, H., & Juvekar, S. (2020). Bridging research integrity and global health epidemiology (BRIDGE) statement: guidelines for good epidemiological practice. *BMJ Global Health*, *5*(10), e003236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-003236</u>
- Ali, S. H., & Rose, J. R. (2022). The post-colonialist condition, suspicion, and social resistance during the West African Ebola epidemic: The importance of Frantz Fanon for global health. Soc Sci Med, 305, 115066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.115066</u>
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(1), 19-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616</u>
- Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada. (2013). *Innovative North South Partnerships: Synthesis of Findings; Case Studies*.
- Atuire, C., & Bull, S. (2022). COVID-19 Heightens the Imperative to Decolonize Global Health Research. *Global Justice: Theory, Practice, Rhetoric, 13*(2), 60-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.21248/gjn.13.02.257</u>
- Bamford, R. (2019). Decolonizing Bioethics in African Philosophy. In G. Hull (Ed.), *Debating African Philosophy* (pp. 43-59). Routledge.
- Barnett, M., & Duvall, R. (2005). Power in Global Governance. Cambridge University Press.
- Bates, I., Boyd, A., Smith, H., & Cole, D. C. (2014). A practical and systematic approach to organisational capacity strengthening for research in the health sector in Africa. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 12(1), 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-4505-12-11</u>

- Beaglehole, R., & Bonita, R. (2010). What is global health? *Global Health Action*, *3*(1), 5142. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v3i0.5142
- Benatar, S. (2016). Politics, Power, Poverty and Global Health: Systems and Frames. *International Journal of Health Policy and Management*, 5(10), 599-604. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2016.101
- Beran, D., Byass, P., Gbakima, A., Kahn, K., Sankoh, O., Tollman, S., Witham, M., & Davies, J. (2017).
 Research capacity building-obligations for global health partners. *The Lancet. Global Health*, 5(6), e567-e568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(17)30180-8</u>
- Bertelsmann-Scott, T. (2017). From dependency to partnership: Where are AU-EU relations heading? Policy briefing 167.
- Bhaskar, R. (1975). A realist theory of science. Routledge.
- Binagwaho, A., Nutt, C. T., Mutabazi, V., Karema, C., Nsanzimana, S., Gasana, M., Drobac, P. C., Rich, M. L., Uwaliraye, P., Nyemazi, J., Murphy, M. R., Wagner, C. M., Makaka, A., Ruton, H., Mody, G. N., Zurovcik, D. R., Niconchuk, J. A., Mugeni, C., Ngabo, F., . . . Farmer, P. E. (2013). Shared learning in an interconnected world: innovations to advance global health equity. *Globalization and Health*, 9(1), 37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8603-9-37</u>
- Binka, F. (2005). Editorial: North-South research collaborations: a move towards a true partnership? *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 10(3), 207-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3156.2004.01373.x</u>
- Birch, A. P., Tuck, J., Malata, A., & Gagnon, A. J. (2013). Assessing global partnerships in graduate nursing. *Nurse Educ Today*, *33*(11), 1288-1294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2013.03.014</u>
- Boum Ii, Y. (2018). Is Africa part of partnership? *Medicine Anthropology Theory | An open-access journal in the anthropology of health illness and medicine*, 5. https://doi.org/10.17157/mat.5.2.527
- Boum Ii, Y., Burns, B. F., Siedner, M., Mburu, Y., Bukusi, E., & Haberer, J. E. (2018). Advancing equitable global health research partnerships in Africa. *BMJ Global Health*, *3*(4), e000868. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000868
- Bourdieu, P. (1977). *Outline of a Theory Of Practice*. Cambridge University Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (2008). Key Concepts (M. Grenfell, Ed.). Acumen.
- Boutilier, Z., Daibes, I., & Di Ruggiero, E. (2011). Global health research case studies: lessons from partnerships addressing health inequities. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, *11*(S2), S2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-698x-11-s2-s2</u>
- Bowsher, G., Papamichail, A., El Achi, N., Ekzayez, A., Roberts, B., Sullivan, R., & Patel, P. (2019). A narrative review of health research capacity strengthening in low and middle-income countries: lessons for conflict-affected areas. *Globalization and Health*, *15*(1), 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-019-0465-y
- Bradley, M. (2007). North–south Research Partnerships: Challenges, Responses and Trends—A Literature Review and Annotated Bibliography (Working Paper 1, Issue. <u>https://idl-bnc.idrc.ca/dspace/bitstream/10625/36539/1/127716.pdf</u>
- Bradley, M. (2008). On the agenda: North–South research partnerships and agenda-setting processes. *Development in Practice*, *18*(6), 673-685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09614520802386314</u>
- Bradley, M. (2017). Whose agenda? North South Research Partnerships. In L. Mougeot (Ed.), Putting Knowledge to Work: Collaborating, influencing and learning for international development (pp. 37-70). Practical Action Publishing. <u>https://practicalactionpublishing.com/pdfjs/web/viewer.html?file=https://practicalactionpublishing.com/pdf/book/1750/9781780449586.pdf</u>
- Büyüm, A. M., Kenney, C., Koris, A., Mkumba, L., & Raveendran, Y. (2020). Decolonising global health: if not now, when? *BMJ Global Health*, 5(8), e003394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-003394</u>

- Byass, P. (2013). Is global health really global? *Global health action*, *6*, 1-3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v6i0.20671</u>
- Cambridge Dictionary. *Decolonize definition*. Cambridge University Press. Retrieved 14 June from <u>https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/decolonize</u>
- Carbonnier, G., & Kontinen, T. (2014). North-South research partnership: Academia meets development? <u>https://www.graduateinstitute.ch/library/publications-institute/north-south-research-partnership-academia-meets-development</u>
- Cargo, M., & Mercer, S. (2008). The Value and Challenges of Participatory Research: Strengthening Its Practice. *Annual review of public health*, *29*, 325-350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.091307.083824</u>
- Carlson, J. R., & Zmud, R. W. (1999). Channel expansion theory and the experimental nature of media richness perceptions *Academy of Management Journal*, *42*, 153-170.
- Carter, S. M., Shih, P., Williams, J., Degeling, C., & Mooney-Somers, J. (2021). Conducting Qualitative Research Online: Challenges and Solutions. *The Patient - Patient-Centered Outcomes Research*, 14(6), 711-718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40271-021-00528-w</u>
- Cash-Gibson, L., Guerra, G., & Salgado-De-Snyder, V. N. (2015). SDH-NET: a South–North-South collaboration to build sustainable research capacities on social determinants of health in low- and middle-income countries. *13*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-015-0048-1</u>
- Chakrabarti, P. (2013). *Medicine and Empire: 1600-1960* Palgrave Macmillan.
- Chaudhuri, M. M., Mkumba, L., Raveendran, Y., & Smith, R. D. (2021). Decolonising global health: beyond 'reformative' roadmaps and towards decolonial thought. *BMJ Global Health*, *6*(7), e006371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-006371</u>
- Christopher, S., Watts, V., McCormick, A. K. H. G., & Young, S. (2008). Building and Maintaining Trust in a Community-Based Participatory Research Partnership. *American Journal of Public Health*, *98*(8), 1398-1406. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2007.125757</u>
- Citrin, D., Mehanni, S., Acharya, B., Wong, L., Nirola, I., Sherchan, R., Gauchan, B., Karki, K. B., Singh, D. R., Shamasunder, S., Le, P., Schwarz, D., Schwarz, R., Dangal, B., Dhungana, S. K., Maru, S., Mahar, R., Thapa, P., Raut, A., . . . Maru, D. (2017). Power, potential, and pitfalls in global health academic partnerships: review and reflections on an approach in Nepal. *Global Health Action*, *10*(1), 1367161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1367161</u>
- Closing the door. (2018). Closing the door on parachutes and parasites. Editorial. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(6), e593. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30239-0</u>
- Cochrane, G., Robin, E., Marjanovic, S., Diepeveen, S., Hanlin, R., Kryl, D., Retter, L., Yaqub, O., & Chataway, J. (2014). *The African Institutions Initiative: Insights from the First Four Years*. <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR707.html</u>
- Cole, D. C., Aslanyan, G., Dunn, A., Boyd, A., & Bates, I. (2014). Dilemmas of evaluation: health research capacity initiatives. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *92*(12), 920-921. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.14.141259
- Coloma, J., & Harris, E. (2009). From Construction Workers to Architects: Developing Scientific Research Capacity in Low-Income Countries. *PLoS Biology*, 7(7), e1000156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000156</u>
- Consort. (2017a). Scoping Work on Research Management in LMICs.
- Consort. (2017b). Scoping Work on Research Management in LMICs: India.
- Consort. (2017c). Scoping Work on Research Management in LMICs: Sub-Saharan Africa.
- Corbin, H., Mittelmark, M. B., & Lie, G. T. (2012). Scaling-up and rooting-down: a case study of North-South partnerships for health from Tanzania. *Global Health Action*, 5(1), 18369. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v5i0.18369</u>
- Cornish, H., Fransman, J., & Newman, K. (2017). *Rethinking Research Partnerships: discussion guide and toolkit*. <u>https://www.christianaid.org.uk/sites/default/files/2017-10/discussion-guide-ngo-academic-research-oct2017_0.pdf</u>

- Costello, A., & Zumla, A. (2000). Moving to research partnerships in developing countries. BMJ, 321(7264), 827-829. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.321.7264.827
- Crane, J. (2010). Unequal 'Partners'. AIDS, Academia, and the rise of global health. Behemoth, 3, 78-97. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.6094/behemoth.2010.3.3.685
- Craveiro, I., Carvalho, A., & Ferrinho, P. (2020). "Get us partnerships!" a qualitative study of Angolan and Mozambican health academics' experiences with North/South partnerships. Globalization and Health, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00562-7
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches (Fifth ed.). Sage Publications.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research: meaning and perspectives in the research process. Sage.
- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1986). Organizational information requirements, media richness and structural design. Management Science, 32, 554-571.
- Daibes, I., & Sridharan, S. (2014). Where theory and practice of global health intersect: the developmental history of a Canadian global health initiative. 7(0). https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v7.23974
- Darby, S. (2017). Making space for co-produced research 'impact': learning from a participatory action research case study. Area, 49(2), 230-237. https://doi.org/10.1111/area.12321
- Davies, L., Leclair, K. L., Bagley, P., Blunt, H., Hinton, L., Ryan, S., & Ziebland, S. (2020). Face-to-Face Compared With Online Collected Accounts of Health and Illness Experiences: A Scoping Review. Qualitative Health Research, 30(13), 2092-2102. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732320935835
- de Haldevang, M. (2016, 16 March). Why do we still use the term "sub-Saharan Africa"? https://qz.com/770350/why-do-we-still-say-subsaharan-africa%201%20Sept%202016
- De Sousa Santos, B. (2007). Beyond abyssal thinking: From global lines to ecologies of knowledge. Eurozine, 33, 45-89.
- De Villiers, C., Farooq, M. B., & Molinari, M. (2022). Qualitative research interviews using online video technology – challenges and opportunities. Meditari Accountancy Research, 30(6), 1764-1782. https://doi.org/10.1108/medar-03-2021-1252
- Dean, L., Gregorius, S., Bates, I., & Pulford, J. (2017). Advancing the science of health research capacity strengthening in low-income and middle-income countries: a scoping review of the published literature, 2000–2016. BMJ open, 7(12), e018718. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018718
- Demetriodor. (2018, November 6 2021). The 'Global South' is a terrible term. Don't use it! http://redesign.dimiter.eu/?p=969
- Demir, I. (2022). How and Why Should We Decolonize Global Health Education and Research? Annals of Global Health, 88(1). https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.3787
- Developing partnerships. (2015). Nature, 527(7577), S60-S63. https://doi.org/10.1038/527s60a
- Development Reimagined. (2021). Forming a Coalition of The Willing to Decolonise Global Health. https://developmentreimagined.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/forming-a-coalition-ofthe-willing-to-decolonise-global-health-is-it-possible-what-impact-could-it-have-and-whatnext-1-1.pdf
- Dodson, J. (2017). Building Partnerships of Equals: The role of funders in equitable and effective international development collaborations.
- Dye, C. T., B., Evans, D., Harries, A., Lienhardt, C., McManus, J., Pang, T., Terry, R., & Zachariah, R. (2013). The World Health Report 2013: research for universal health coverage (9789241564595).

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/85761/2/9789240690837 eng.pdf

Ecosystem Services for Poverty Alleviation. (2018). Research for development impact: The role of equitable partnerships: Policy and practice briefing.

https://www.espa.ac.uk/files/espa/ESPA%20Policy%20Brief Partnerships 0.pdf

- Edejer, T. (1999). North-South research partnerships: the ethics of carrying out research in developing countries. *BMJ*, *319*(7207), 438-441. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.319.7207.438</u>
- Eichbaum, Q. G., Adams, L. V., Evert, J., Ho, M.-J., Semali, I. A., & van Schalkwyk, S. C. (2021). Decolonizing Global Health Education: Rethinking Institutional Partnerships and Approaches. *Academic Medicine*, *96*(3).
- Ekwe Ekwe, H. (2020, 16 March). What is "Sub-Saharan Africa"? *Latitude*. https://www.goethe.de/prj/zei/en/pos/21909728.html
- Elbers, W. (2012). *The Partnership Paradox: Principles and Practice in North-South NGO Relations* Radboud University]. Nijmegen, Netherlands.
- Emory University. *Overview of Rollins School of Public Health*. Retrieved 4 October 2021 from https://www.sph.emory.edu/about/overview/index.html
- ESSENCE, & UKCDR. (2022). Four Approaches to Supporting Equitable Research Partnerships.
- Fanon, F. (1961). The Wretched of the Earth. 1961.
- Fanon, F. (1967). *Towards the African Revolution: political essays, English translation* (H. Chevalier, Trans.). Grove Press.
- Farley, J. (2008). Bilharzia: A History of Imperial Tropical Medicine Cambridge University Press.
- Faure, M. C., Munung, N. S., Ntusi, N. A. B., Pratt, B., & de Vries, J. (2021). Mapping experiences and perspectives of equity in international health collaborations: a scoping review. *International journal for equity in health*, 20(28), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01350-w</u>
- Feld, A., & Kreimer, P. (2019). Scientific co-operation and centre-periphery relations: attitudes and interests of European and Latin American scientists. *Tapuya: Latin American Science, Technology and Society*, 2(1), 149-175. https://doi.org/10.1080/25729861.2019.1636620
- Fielding, N., & Thomas, H. (2008). Qualitative interviewing. In N. Gilbert (Ed.), *Researching Social Life* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Fofana, M. O. (2021). Decolonising global health in the time of COVID-19. *Global Public Health*, *16*(8-9), 1155-1166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2020.1864754</u>
- Fontana, A., & Frey, J. H. (1998). Interviewing: the art of science. In Y. S. L. N. K. Denzin (Ed.), *Collecting and Interpreting Qualitative Materials*. Sage Publications.
- Forti, S. (2005). Building a Partnership for Research in Global Health: An Analytical Framework. http://members.ccghr.ca/Resources/Documents/Toolkit/050045_global%20health-eng.pdf
- Foucault, M. (1979). *The birth of Biopolitics*. Picador.
- Foucault, M. (1994). Power: Essential Works of Foucault 1954–1984. Penguin.
- Franzen, S. R. P., Chandler, C., & Lang, T. (2017). Health research capacity development in low and middle income countries: reality or rhetoric? A systematic meta-narrative review of the qualitative literature. *BMJ Open*, 7(1), e012332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012332</u>
- Freire, P. (2000). *Pedagogy of the Oppressed: 30th Anniversary Edition*. Bloomsbury Academic.
- Frey, B. B. (2018). The SAGE Encyclopedia of Educational Research, Measurement, and Evaluation. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781506326139
- Gaillard, J. F. (1994). North-South research partnership: Is collaboration possible between unequal partners? *Knowledge and Policy*, 7(2), 31-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02692761</u>
- Gautier, L., Karambé, Y., Dossou, J.-P., & Samb, O. M. (2022). Rethinking development interventions through the lens of decoloniality in sub-Saharan Africa: The case of global health. *Global Public Health*, *17*(2), 180-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2020.1858134</u>
- Gautier, L., Sieleunou, I., & Kalolo, A. (2018). Deconstructing the notion of "global health research partnerships" across Northern and African contexts. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *19*(1), 49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-018-0280-7</u>

Giddens, A. (1984). The Constitution of Society. University of California Press.

Global Health 50/50. (2020). The Global Health 50/50 Report 2020: Power, Privilege and Priorities.

González-Alcaide, G., Menchi-Elanzi, M., Nacarapa, E., & Ramos-Rincón, J.-M. (2020). HIV/AIDS research in Africa and the Middle East: participation and equity in North-South

collaborations and relationships. *Globalization and Health*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00609-9

- Gramsci, A. (1999). *Selections from the Prison Notebooks* The Electric Book Company.
- Green, J., & Thorogood, N. (2018). *Qualitative Methods for Health Research, Fourth edition* (Fourth ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Haas, P. (1992). Introduction: Epistemic Communities and International Policy Coordination *International Organization*, *46*(1), 1-35.
- Hall, B. L., & Tandon, R. (2017). Decolonization of knowledge, epistemicide, participatory research and higher education. *Research for All*, 1(1), 6-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.18546/rfa.01.1.02</u>
- Harrison, E. (2002). 'The Problem with the Locals': Partnership and Participation in Ethiopia. *Development and Change*, 33(4), 587-610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-7660.00271</u>
- Harvard Chan School of Public Health. (2017). *Department of Global Health and Population Strategic Plan 2017-2022*. <u>https://cdn1.sph.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/62/2017/03/GHP-Strategic-Plan-Final-January-2017.pdf</u>
- Healey-Walsh, J., Stuart-Shor, E., & Muchira, J. (2019). Through the Lens of Postcolonial Theory. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *40*(5), 270-277. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nep.00000000000556
- Hedt-Gauthier, B. L., Jeufack, H. M., Neufeld, N. H., Alem, A., Sauer, S., Odhiambo, J., Boum, Y., Shuchman, M., & Volmink, J. (2019). Stuck in the middle: a systematic review of authorship in collaborative health research in Africa, 2014–2016. *BMJ Global Health*, 4(5), e001853. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001853
- Hellowell, M., & Nayna Schwerdtle, P. (2022). Powerful ideas? Decolonisation and the future of global health. *BMJ Global Health*, 7(1), e006924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-006924</u>
- Hirsch, L. (2021). Is it possible to decolonise global health institutions? [Perspectives]. *The Lancet*, *397*(10270), 189-190.
- Hirsch, L. (2022). LSHTM and colonialism: a report on the colonial history of the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (1899 c. 1960).
- Hommes, F., Monzó, H. B., Ferrand, R. A., Harris, M., Hirsch, L. A., Besson, E. K., Manton, J., Togun, T., & Roy, R. B. (2021). The words we choose matter: recognising the importance of language in decolonising global health. *The Lancet Global Health*, 9(7), e897-e898.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(21)00197-2
- International Committee of Medical Journal Editors. (2022). *Defining the Role of Authors and Contributors*. Retrieved 2 August from <u>https://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/roles-and-responsibilities/defining-the-</u> <u>role-of-authors-and-contributors.html</u>
- Iyer, A. R. (2018). Authorship trends in The Lancet Global Health. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(2), e142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(17)30497-7</u>
- James, O. (2011). Bureaucratic power In K. Dowding (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of power*. SAGE Publications, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412994088</u>
- Jentsch, B., & Pilley, C. (2003). Research relationships between the South and the North: Cinderella and the ugly sisters? *Social Science & Medicine*, *57*(10), 1957-1967. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(03)00060-1
- Kasprowicz, V. O., Chopera, D., Waddilove, K. D., Brockman, M. A., Gilmour, J., Hunter, E., Kilembe, W., Karita, E., Gaseitsiwe, S., Sanders, E. J., & Ndung'u, T. (2020). African-led health research and capacity building- is it working? *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08875-3</u>
- Kelaher, M., Ng, L., Knight, K., & Rahadi, A. (2016). Equity in global health research in the new millennium: trends in first-authorship for randomized controlled trials among low- and middle-income country researchers 1990-2013. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 45(6), 2174-2183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyw313</u>

- Kennedy, H. P., Renfrew, M. J., Madi, B. C., Opoku, D., & Thompson, J. B. (2006). The conduct of ethical research collaboration across international and culturally diverse communities. *Midwifery*, 22(2), 100-107. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2006.03.001</u>
- Khan, M., Abimbola, S., Aloudat, T., Capobianco, E., Hawkes, S., & Rahman-Shepherd, A. (2021).
 Decolonising global health in 2021: a roadmap to move from rhetoric to reform. *BMJ Glob Health*, 6(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-005604</u>
- Khan, T., Abimbola, S., Kyobutungi, C., & Pai, M. (2022). How we classify countries and people—and why it matters. *BMJ Global Health*, 7(6), e009704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2022-009704</u>
- Koplan, J. P., Bond, T. C., Merson, M. H., Reddy, K. S., Rodriguez, M. H., Sewankambo, N. K., & Wasserheit, J. N. (2009). Towards a common definition of global health. *The Lancet*, *373*(9679), 1993-1995. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(09)60332-9
- Kunaratnam, Y., Bucher, A., & Tufet, M. (2021). UK funding landscape for research capacity strengthening in low- and middle-income countries, 2016-2021. <u>https://www.ukcdr.org.uk/resource/uk-oda-and-wellcome-funded-research-capacity-strengthening-in-Imics-briefing-paper/</u>
- Kunert, K. J., Botha, A.-M., Oberholster, P. J., Yocgo, R., Chimwamurombe, P., Vorster, J., & Foyer, C.
 H. (2020). Factors facilitating sustainable scientific partnerships between developed and developing countries. *Outlook on Agriculture*, *49*(3), 204-214. https://doi.org/10.1177/0030727020939592
- Kwete, X., Tang, K., Chen, L., Ren, R., Chen, Q., Wu, Z., Cai, Y., & Li, H. (2022). Decolonizing global health: what should be the target of this movement and where does it lead us? *Global Health Research and Policy*, 7(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41256-022-00237-3</u>
- Larkan, F., Uduma, O., Lawal, S. A., & Van Bavel, B. (2016). Developing a framework for successful research partnerships in global health. *Globalization and Health*, *12*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-016-0152-1</u>
- Larson, C. P., Plamondon, K. M., Dubent, L., Bicaba, F., Bicaba, A., Minh, T. H., Nguyen, A., Girard, J. E., Ramdé, J., & Gyorkos, T. W. (2022). The Equity Tool for Valuing Global Health Partnerships. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, *10*(2), e2100316. https://doi.org/10.9745/ghsp-d-21-00316
- Lawrence, D. S., & Hirsch, L. A. (2020). Decolonising global health: transnational research partnerships under the spotlight. *International Health*, *12*(6), 518-523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/inthealth/ihaa073</u>
- Leffers, J., & Mitchell, E. (2011). Conceptual Model for Partnership and Sustainability in Global Health. *Public Health Nursing*, *28*(1), 91-102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1446.2010.00892.x</u>
- Lencucha, R., & Neupane, S. (2022). The use, misuse and overuse of the 'low-income and middleincome countries' category. *BMJ Global Health*, 7(6), e009067. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2022-009067
- Levi-Strauss, C. (1968). Structural Anthropology. In C. Jacobson & B. Schoepf (Eds.). Basic Books.
- Lipsky, M. (1980). *Street-Level Bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the Individual in Public Services*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine. (2017). *LSTM Strategic Plan 2017-2023*. <u>https://www.lstmed.ac.uk/sites/default/files/content/publications/attachments/LSTM%20S</u> <u>trategy%20Plan%202017-23.pdf</u>
- London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. (2016a). *African Partnerships Review: Report to the Senior Leadership Team*.
- London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. (2016b). *The London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Strategy 2017–2022*. <u>https://www.lshtm.ac.uk/files/LSHTM_strategy_2017-22.pdf</u>
- London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. (2022). 2022 Documents Academic Promotions and Rewards [intranet]. Retrieved 1 August 2022 from

https://lshtm.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet-human-resources/SitePages/Academic-Promotions-and-Performance.aspx

- Mann, M. (1986). *The Sources of Social Power: Volume 1: A History of Power from the Beginning to A.D. 1760.* Cambridge University Press.
- Manton, J. (2011). Tropical Medicine. In V. Berridge, Gorsky, M. & Mold, A. (Ed.), *Public Health In History: Public Health, Policy and Practice.* Open University Press.
- Marjanovic, S., Hanlin, R., Diepeveen, S., & Chataway, J. (2013). RESEARCH CAPACITY-BUILDING IN AFRICA: NETWORKS, INSTITUTIONS AND LOCAL OWNERSHIP. *Journal of International Development*, 25(7), 936-946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.2870</u>
- Marmot, M. G. (2005). Social determinants of health inequalities. *The Lancet, 365*(9464), 1099-1104. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71146-6
- Mashanda, T. C. (2016, 16 March). Rethinking the Term "Sub Saharan Africa". *Realist Echoes*. <u>https://www.africanexponent.com/bpost/rethinking-the-term-sub-saharan-africa-36</u>
- Matenga, T. F. L., Zulu, J. M., Corbin, J. H., & Mweemba, O. (2019). Contemporary issues in north– south health research partnerships: perspectives of health research stakeholders in Zambia. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, *17*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-018-0409-7
- Mbaye, R., Gebeyehu, R., Hossmann, S., Mbarga, N., Bih-Neh, E., Eteki, L., Thelma, O.-A., Oyerinde, A., Kiti, G., Mburu, Y., Haberer, J., Siedner, M., Okeke, I., & Boum, Y. (2019). Who is telling the story? A systematic review of authorship for infectious disease research conducted in Africa, 1980–2016. *BMJ Global Health*, *4*(5), e001855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001855</u>
- Mbembe, A. (2011). *Necropolitics*. Duke University Press.
- McKee, M., Stuckler, D., & Basu, S. (2012). Where There Is No Health Research: What Can Be Done to Fill the Global Gaps in Health Research? *PLoS Med*, *9*(4). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001209
- Migot-Adholla, S., & Warner, M. (2005). North-south research partnerships: A guidance note on the partnering process <u>http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/Mis_SPC/R84510DI_North-SouthPartnerships_GuidanceNote.pdf</u>
- Milken Institution School of Public Health. (2020). *Equity vs. Equality: What's the Difference?* The George Washington University. Retrieved 10 October from https://onlinepublichealth.gwu.edu/resources/equity-vs-equality/
- Mommers, C., & van Wessel, M. (2009). Structures, values, and interaction in field-level partnerships: the case of UNHCR and NGOs. *Development in Practice*, *19*, 160-172.
- Monette, E. M., McHugh, D., Smith, M. J., Canas, E., Jabo, N., Henley, P., & Nouvet, E. (2021). Informing 'good' global health research partnerships: A scoping review of guiding principles. *Global Health Action*, 14(1), 1892308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2021.1892308</u>
- Mony, P. K., Kurpad, A., & Vaz, M. (2005). Capacity building in collaborative research is essential. BMJ, 331(7520), 843.843-844. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.331.7520.843-b</u>
- Moon, K., & Blackman, D. (2014). A Guide to Understanding Social Science Research for Natural Scientists. *Conservation Biology*, *28*(5), 1167-1177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12326</u>
- Morton, B., Vercueil, A., Masekela, R., Heinz, E., Reimer, L., Saleh, S., Kalinga, C., Seekles, M., Biccard, B., Chakaya, J., Abimbola, S., Obasi, A., & Oriyo, N. (2022). Consensus statement on measures to promote equitable authorship in the publication of research from international partnerships. *Anaesthesia*, 77(3), 264-276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.15597</u>
- Moses, J. W., & Knutsen, T. L. (2014). *Ways of knowing: competing methodologies in social and political research*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Murphy, J., Hatfield, J., Afsana, K., & Neufeld, V. (2015). Making a Commitment to Ethics in Global Health Research Partnerships: A Practical Tool to Support Ethical Practice. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, 12(1), 137-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11673-014-9604-6</u>
- Nature. (2022). Nature addresses helicopter research and ethics dumping. *Nature*, 606(7912), 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-022-01423-6

Newman, K., Bharadwaj, S., & Fransman, J. (2019). Rethinking Research Impact through Principles for Fair and Equitable Partnerships. *IDS Bulletin*, *50*(1). https://bulletin.ids.ac.uk/index.php/idsbo/article/view/3019/Online%20article

https://bulletin.ids.ac.uk/index.php/idsbo/article/view/3019/Online%20article

Nkrumah, K. (1965). Neo-Colonialism, The Last Stage of Imperialism. Thomas Nelson & Sons, Ltd.

- O'Mahoney, J. (2016). Critical Realism and Qualitative Research: An introductory Overview. In C. Cassell, A. Cunliffe, & G. Grandy (Eds.), *SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Business and Management Research Methods* Sage.
- Oti, S. O., & Ncayiyana, J. (2021). Decolonising global health: where are the Southern voices? *BMJ Global Health*, 6(7), e006576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-006576</u>
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., Shamseer, L., Tetzlaff, J. M., Akl, E. A., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hróbjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., McDonald, S., . . . Moher, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*, 372, n71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71</u>
- Patton, M. Q. (2014). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (Fourth ed.). Sage.
- Plaisant, A., Pierard, C., Beyers, N., Chan-Yeung, M., & Enarson, D. A. (2010). Authorship affiliations in original articles submitted to the International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis*, 14(12), 1650-1652.
- Prasad, S., Aldrink, M., Compton, B., Lasker, J., Donkor, P., Weakliam, D., Rowthorn, V., Mantey, E., Martin, K., Omaswa, F., Benzian, H., Clagua-Guerra, E., Maractho, E., Agyire-Tettey, K., Crisp, N., & Balasubramaniam, R. (2022). Global Health Partnerships and the Brocher Declaration: Principles for Ethical Short-Term Engagements in Global Health. *Annals of Global Health*, 88(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.3577</u>
- RAWOO. (1999). North-South Research Partnerships: Issues and Challenges Trivandrum Expert Meeting.
- RAWOO. (2001). Balancing Ownership and Partnership in Development Research: Review of 1999 and 2000.
- Research Fairness Initiative. (2018). *RFI guides*. Council on Health Research for Development. Retrieved 10 August from <u>https://rfi.cohred.org/rfi-guides/</u>
- Rethinking Research Collaborative. (2018). Promoting Fair and Equitable Research Partnerships to Respond to Global Challenges. <u>https://www.ukri.org/files/international/fair-and-equitable-partnerships-final-report-to-ukri-sept-2018-pdf/</u>
- Rhodes, R., & Marsh, D. (1992). New directions in the study of policy networks. *European Journal of Political Research*, *21*, 181–205.
- Richardson, E. T. (2019). On the coloniality of global public health. *Medicine Anthropology Theory*, 6(4), 101-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.17157/mat.6.4.761</u>
- *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Methods in Health Research*. (2010). (I. Bourgeault, R. Dingwall, & R. de Vries, Eds. 1st ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Saha, S., Kavattur, P., Goheer, A. (2019). *The C-Word: Tackling the enduring legacy of colonialism in global health*. . Retrieved 3 August from <u>https://healthsystemsglobal.org/news/the-c-word-tackling-the-enduring-legacy-of-colonialism-in-global-health/</u>
- Saha, S., & Pai, M. (2021). Can COVID-19 innovations and systems help low- and middle-income countries to re-imagine healthcare delivery? *Med*, *2*(4), 369-373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medj.2021.02.008
- Sawyerr, A. (2004). African Universities and the Challenge of Research Capacity Development. Journal of Higher Education in Africa / Revue de l'enseignement supérieur en Afrique, 2(1), 213-242. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/24486132</u>
- Schneider, H., & Maleka, N. (2018). Patterns of authorship on community health workers in low-andmiddle-income countries: an analysis of publications (2012–2016). BMJ Global Health, 3(3), e000797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000797</u>

- Schwartz, D. (1997). *Culture and Power. The Sociology of Pierre Bourdieu*. University of Chicago Press.
- Shiffman, J. (2014). Knowledge, moral claims and the exercise of power in global health. International Journal of Health Policy and Management, 3(6), 297-299. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2014.120
- Sitthi-Amorn, C., & Somrongthong, R. (2000). Strengthening health research capacity in developing countries: a critical element for achieving health equity. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 321(7264), 813-817. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.321.7264.813</u>
- Sriram, V., Topp, S. M., Schaaf, M., Mishra, A., Flores, W., Rajasulochana, S. R., & Scott, K. (2018). 10 best resources on power in health policy and systems in low- and middle-income countries. *Health Policy and Planning*, 33(4), 611-621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czy008</u>
- Stöckli, B., Wiesmann, U., & Lys, J.-A. (2018). A Guide for Transboundary Research Partnerships, 11 Principles, 3rd edition (1st edition 2012).

https://kfpe.scnat.ch/en/11_principles_7_questions

- Tagoe, N., Molyneux, S., Pulford, J., Murunga, V. I., & Kinyanjui, S. (2019). Managing health research capacity strengthening consortia: a systematised review of the published literature. *BMJ Global Health*, 4(2). <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-001318</u>
- The African Academy of Sciences. (2022). *African Academy of Sciences Programmes: shifting the centre of gravity*. Retrieved 17 August from <u>https://www.aasciences.africa/programmes</u>
- The Lancet Global Health. (2020). Decolonising COVID-19. *The Lancet Global Health*, 8(5), e612. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(20)30134-0
- The World Bank. (2021). *Supporting Countries in Unprecedented Times: Annual Report 2020*. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/about/annual-report/world-bank-group-downloads</u>
- Thiong'o, N. (1986). *Decolonising the Mind: The Politics of Language in African Literature*. James Currey.
- Trust. (2018). Global Code of Conduct for Research in Resource Poor Settings. https://www.globalcodeofconduct.org/
- UK Collaborative on Development Research. (2021). *Equitable Partnerships Resource Hub*. UK Collaborative on Development Research. Retrieved 15 April 2021 from <u>https://www.ukcdr.org.uk/guidance/equitable-partnerships-hub/</u>
- UK Collaborative on Development Research. (2022). *Equitable partnerships*. Retrieved 17 March 2022 from <u>https://www.ukcdr.org.uk/what-we-do/our-work/equitable-partnerships/#:~:text=Whilst%20there%20is%20no%20agreed,stages%20of%20the%20research%20process</u>.
- UK Research and Innovation. (2022a). *How Research England supports research excellence*. Retrieved 17 August 2022 from <u>https://www.ukri.org/about-us/research-england/research-england/research-excellence/ref-impact/#contents-list</u>
- UK Research and Innovation. (2022b). *Making your research data open*. Retrieved 1 August 2022 from <u>https://www.ukri.org/manage-your-award/publishing-your-research-findings/making-your-research-data-open/</u>
- United Nations. (2020). Sustainable Development Goals Goal 17: Revitalize the global partnership for sustainable development. Retrieved 31 July from
 - https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/globalpartnerships/
- Viergever, R. F., Olifson, S., Ghaffar, A., & Terry, R. F. (2010). A checklist for health research priority setting: nine common themes of good practice. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 8(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-4505-8-36</u>
- Visvanathan, S. (2009). *The search for cognitive justice* Retrieved 4 August from <u>http://bit.ly/3ZwMD2</u>
- Wallis, S., & Bates, I. (2016). Strengthening Research Management and Support Systems (RMSS) in African Universities. Final Overview Report for Universities in Ghana, Malawi, Senegal and Tanzania, January 2015-May 2016.

- Wallis, S., Cole, D. C., Gaye, O., Mmbaga, B. T., Mwapasa, V., Tagbor, H., & Bates, I. (2017). Qualitative study to develop processes and tools for the assessment and tracking of African institutions' capacity for operational health research. *BMJ open*, 7(9), e016660. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016660
- Walsh, A., Brugha, R., & Byrne, E. (2016). "The way the country has been carved up by researchers": ethics and power in north–south public health research. *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0488-4
- Walster, E., & Walster, G. W. (1975). Equity and social justice. *Journal of Social Issues*, *31*(3), 21-43. Weber, M. (1946). *Essays in Sociology*. Oxford University Press.
- Weinrib, J., & Sá, C. (2020). Policy Ideas and North–South Research Cooperation: The Case of Norway [Article]. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *24*(1), 9-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315319896756
- Wellcome Open Research. *How to publish: data guidelines*. Retrieved 1 August from <u>https://wellcomeopenresearch.org/for-authors/data-guidelines#opendata</u>
- Wesseling, H. L. (1987). Towards a History of Decolonization. *Itinerario*, 11(2), 95-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0165115300015473</u>
- White, M. T. (2007). A Right to Benefit from International Research: A New Approach to Capacity Building in Less-Developed Countries. *Accountability in Research*, 14(2), 73-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08989620701290341</u>
- White, S. C. (2020). A Space for Unlearning? A Relational Perspective on North–South Development Research. *The European Journal of Development Research*, *32*(3), 483-502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41287-020-00278-9</u>
- Wilkinson, M. D., Dumontier, M., Aalbersberg, I. J., Appleton, G., Axton, M., Baak, A., Blomberg, N., Boiten, J.-W., Da Silva Santos, L. B., Bourne, P. E., Bouwman, J., Brookes, A. J., Clark, T., Crosas, M., Dillo, I., Dumon, O., Edmunds, S., Evelo, C. T., Finkers, R., . . . Mons, B. (2016). The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. *Scientific Data*, 3(1), 160018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2016.18</u>
- Wiredu, K. (1998). Toward Decolonizing African Philosophy and Religion. *African Studies Quarterly* 1(4), 17-46.
- World Bank. (2021). *How does the World Bank classify countries?* Retrieved 17 January 2021 from <u>https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/378834-how-does-the-world-bank-classify-countries</u>
- World Health Organization. (2022a). *Global Observatory on Health R&D: Number of grants for health research by funder, type of grant, duration, health category and recipients (World RePORT).* Retrieved 15 October 2022 from <u>https://www.who.int/observatories/global-observatory-on-health-research-and-development/monitoring/number-of-grants-for-biomedical-research-by-funder-type-of-grant-duration-and-recipients</u>
- World Health Organization. (2022b). *Health Equity*. Retrieved 10 October 2022 from <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/health-equity#tab=tab_1</u>

Annex: Published paper of qualitative study findings reported in Chapter 4 (Paper 2)



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student ID Number	1805148	Title	Miss
First Name(s)	Shirine		
Surname/Family Name	Voller		
Thesis Title	Equitable global health research partnerships		
Primary Supervisor	Nicki Thorogood		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

SECTION B – Paper already published

/here was the work published? International Journal of Equity in Health			
When was the work published?	August 2022		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	N/A		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

	Shirine Voller was responsible for study design, ethics submissions, data collection and analysis, drafting of manuscript.
For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	Nicki Thorogood, Joanna Schellenberg and Primus Chi contributed to the study design, analysis and manuscript. Chama-Chiliba Miriam Chitalu, Alinane Linda Nyondo- Mipando, Timothy Opobo and Clare Ahabwe Bangirana provided critical revisions to the manuscript. All authors reviewed and approved the final version of
	the manuscript.

SECTION E

Student Signature	Shirine Voller
Date	12 November 2022

Supervisor Signature	Nicki Thorogood
Date	12 November 2022

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk

"We should be at the table together from the beginning": perspectives on partnership from stakeholders at four research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa

Authors

Shirine Voller¹, Chama-Chiliba Miriam Chitalu², Alinane Linda Nyondo-Mipando³, Timothy Opobo⁴, Clare Ahabwe Bangirana⁴, Nicki Thorogood⁵, Joanna Schellenberg⁶, Primus Chi⁷

Correspondence: Shirine Voller <a>svoller@kemri-wellcome.org

¹Epidemiology & Demography Department, KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Kilifi, Kenya

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article.

Abstract

Background: Global health research partnerships have been scrutinised for how they operate and criticised for perpetuating inequities. Guidance to inform fair partnership practice has proliferated and the movement to decolonise global health has added momentum for change. In light of this evolving context, we sought in this study to document contemporary experiences of partnership from the perspective of stakeholders in four sub-Saharan African research institutions.

Methods: We conducted qualitative interviews with 20 stakeholders at research institutions in four countries in anglophone eastern and southern Africa. Interview questions were informed by published guidance on equitable research partnerships. Data was analysed through an iterative process of inductive and deductive coding, supported by NVivo software.

Results: Early-career, mid-career and senior researchers and research administrators from four sub-Saharan African research institutions described wide-ranging experiences of partnership with highincome country collaborators. Existing guidelines for partnership provided good coverage of issues that participants described as being the key determinants of a healthy partnership, including mutual respect, role clarity and early involvement of all partners. However, there was almost no mention of guidelines being used to inform partnership practice. Participants considered the key benefits of partnership to be capacity strengthening and access to research funding. Meanwhile, participants
continued to experience a range of well-documented inequities, including exclusion from agenda setting, study design, data analysis and authorship; and relationships that were exploitative and dominated by high-income country partners' interests. Participants also reported emerging issues where their institution had been the prime recipient of funds. These included high-income country partners being unwilling to accept a subordinate role and failing to comply with reporting requirements.

Conclusions: Insights from stakeholders in four sub-Saharan African research institutions suggest that contemporary global health research partnerships generate considerable benefits but continue to exhibit longstanding inequities and reveal emerging tensions. Our findings suggest that long-term support targeted towards institutions and national research systems remains essential to fulfil the potential of research led from sub-Saharan Africa. High-income country stakeholders need to find new roles in partnerships and stakeholders from sub-Saharan Africa must continue to tackle challenges presented by the resource-constrained contexts in which they commonly operate.

Keywords

Global health research partnerships, Equity, Partnership principles, Partnership guidelines

Background

Both the benefits of and imbalances within global health research partnerships have been extensively documented. Imbalances include differential access to funding, knowledge, networks and educational opportunities (1,2) and high-income country (HIC) research institutions have historically exerted greater power and influence than their low- and middle-income country (LMIC) counterparts. This has manifested in a variety of ways: HIC partners have set the research agenda (3-6), pursued interests which may not reflect LMIC partner priorities (7-9), dominated all stages of the research lifecycle from design (10) through governance and administration (11-15) to publication (1, 11, 16-19), and confined LMIC partners to operational roles (1,17).

Guidelines for good partnering offer direction towards addressing inequities and guidance has proliferated in the global health and development sectors over the past 30 years. Table 1 lists a selection of these guidelines.

Table 1 Examples of partnership guidelines and resources

Bridging research integrity and global health epidemiology (BRIDGE) guidelines (20,21) TRUST global code of conduct for research in resource poor settings (22) KFPE guide for transboundary research partnerships (23) Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research partnership assessment tool (24) Research Fairness Initiative implementation guide (25) Rethinking Research Collaborative promoting fair and equitable research partnerships to respond to global challenges (26)

Rethinking Research Partnerships discussion guide and toolkit (27)

A recent scoping review of guidelines for 'North-South' research partnerships (28) identified 22 sources of guidance. The most prevalent topics were: partner roles, responsibilities and ways of working - which encompassed communication, transparency, and mechanisms for conflict resolution and decision-making, capacity strengthening, motivation and goals, resource contributions, agenda setting and study design, governance structures and institutional agreements, dissemination, national relevance, data handling and ownership, and funding. Other efforts to synthesise partnership guidance (29,30) indicate strong concordance on the topics that stakeholders are encouraged to address, though there is limited evidence about the extent to which guidelines are used in practice. Guidelines typically focus on things that individuals and institutions should change. However, they may not always fully acknowledge the structural barriers and competing interests that get in the way of these changes being realised. Of note, Nature Portfolio recently committed to improving inclusion and ethics in its journals (31), informed by the Global Code of Conduct for *Research in Resource-Poor Settings* (22). This is an encouraging illustration of how guidelines are being put into action and it complements similar initiatives by PLOS and others calling for greater equity in academic publishing (31). There is growing demand for change and particular emphasis on 'decolonising' global health (32-34), which has been defined as 'a movement that fights against ingrained systems of dominance and power in the work to improve the health of populations, whether this occurs between countries, including between previously colonising and plundered nations, [or] within countries' (35) (p6). Sceptics argue that until fundamental change is realised, however, including updating systems of reward and recognition, channelling more funding directly to LMIC country stakeholders (15) and going so far as an entire 'systemic overhaul' (32) (p1) that involves 'dismantling of structures that preserve power' (p1), partnerships will remain inequitable.

This study explored the relationship between principles of equity and practice in global health research partnerships by documenting the experiences of stakeholders at research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa. It used a broad definition, informed by Bradley (36), whereby global health research partnerships encompassed 'the wide variety of arrangements that link researchers and research institutions in the global North and South' (p.3). The study enquired into what sub-Saharan African stakeholders considered to be the benefits of working in partnership with HIC research

institutions, what made partnerships work well, what was problematic and the extent to which they felt partnerships were fair. The study was intended to provide a contemporary view on partnership from a range of sub-Saharan African stakeholders' perspectives and to consider whether there was any evidence of changes which might reflect shifts in the dynamics of the system of global health.

Methods

This was a qualitative study informed by a scoping review of the literature on principles and guidelines for 'North-South' research partnerships (28). Semi-structured interviews were conducted with key informants from a sample of research institutions in anglophone eastern and southern Africa. Since the researcher conducting primary data collection was affiliated with London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) and had access to a list of LSHTM's international partners, a pragmatic choice was made to identify a sample from the list of institutions that had an active collaboration with LSHTM. The sampling approach was purposive with the intention of achieving diversity across the institutions sampled in terms of geographic location, type of institution (e.g. University, non-governmental organisation (NGO), independent research institute, national public health research institute), maturity as a research institution (for which the duration of the collaboration with LSHTM was used as a proxy), and scale of research activities (for which the size of the grant portfolio with LSHTM was used as a proxy). Selecting institutions in different geographical locations was intended to reduce the potential cultural bias of any single country. Seeking diversity in type of institution, institutional maturity and scale of research activities was an attempt to incorporate differences in domains that may affect partnership equity. For example, universities typically have considerable bureaucracy which affects organisational agility when working in partnership, while smaller and newer organisations may have more limited capacity which can contribute to power differentials in partnerships. Discipline and type of research were not included as selection criteria since an assumption was made that institutions would conduct research across a range of disciplines and types.

Institutions were contacted sequentially between April and August 2021 and data was collected between June and December 2021. The final sample comprised four institutions in four countries: Malawi, Tanzania, Uganda and Zambia. One was a small NGO with a strong research interest, one an independent research institute and two were Universities. Two of the institutions had collaborated with LSHTM for over 20 years while two had become partners within the last five years. The size of the active grant portfolio with LSHTM varied from under £100,000 to over £1 million across the four institutions. While all institutions were active partners of LSHTM, the researcher who collected data for the study had no prior relationship with any of them.

Key informants were identified by asking the key contact at each institution for a list of colleagues who had experience of working with HIC partner institutions. We requested that the list included staff in academic and research administration roles at varying levels of seniority but did not place any conditions around age distribution, gender or ethnicity. In two institutions, we also used snowballing to a limited extent to identify additional participants.

Two interview topic guides were developed: The first was informed by a scoping review of principles and guidelines for research partnerships (28). The second topic guide was less detailed and contained broad questions to prompt participants to describe their experiences of partnership. Initially, the intention was to use the detailed topic guide with participants closely involved in individual partnerships and the high-level topic guide for interviewees less involved in individual partnerships who had a managerial or central administration role. However, through piloting and early interviews it was found that the high-level topic guide was often sufficient to elicit rich responses about a range of partnership issues. Questions from the detailed guide were used where additional prompts were needed. The topic guides were used flexibly given participants' varying experience of different aspects of partnership. Interviews focused on the areas that each participant had most to comment on. Participants were invited to reflect on their experiences of partnership with any HIC partner, not only LSHTM. The interview guides used for data collection are included in Additional file 1.

Interviews lasted between 45 and 60 minutes and all were conducted in English using the web-based Zoom platform (Zoom.us licenced education version). Field notes were written after each interview to complement the transcript. The recording and auto-transcription functions of Zoom were used to record and generate a preliminary transcript from each interview. The final version of the transcript was produced by listening back to the audio-recording and correcting errors in the auto-transcript. Transcripts were anonymised at this point so that only the audio-recording and a password-protected participant masterfile contained participants' names. The participant masterfile also included a unique reference for each interviewee and their contact details. Quotes used in the results incorporate the reference and role for each interviewee, e.g. *A02_EMR* indicates that the quote was from a participant from institution A who was an early-mid career researcher (EMR). *C03_SA* indicates a quote from a participant from institution C who was a senior administrator (SA).

NVivo release 1.6 1121 was used to code interview transcripts and support data analysis using a combination of inductive and *a priori* coding in an iterative and exploratory manner. Initially, a sample of transcripts was coded inductively, first by hand and then with codes set up in NVivo. The data were then reviewed again and organised using a small number of broad categories. Transcripts

were also coded deductively using the framework of the key themes arising from a scoping review of principles and guidelines for partnership (28).

Results

Interviews were conducted with four to six participants within each of the four institutions included in the sample. In total, 20 interviews were conducted between 16 June and 7 December 2021. Interviewee characteristics are summarised in Table 2. Career stage was assigned as *Senior* where a participant held a position at Assistant Director or Director Level or Professor on the academic career path or had more than 15 years of experience within the organisation. Career stage was assigned as *Early or mid-career* for all other participants, i.e. those whose job level and experience did not meet the threshold for Senior. One third of participants met the criteria for Senior career stage, while two thirds met the criteria for early or mid-career. Six participants were female while 14 were male. Gender was not used as a selection criterion, and the unequal distribution of participants may reflect bias in the research sector at large towards employment of more men than women, though we were not able to ascertain this from the study.

Gender				
Gender				
	Female	6		
	Male	14		
Role type				
	Management/administration	5		
	Research	15		
Career stage				
	Early or mid-career	12		
	Senior	8		
Institutional affiliation				
	Research institute	6		
	NGO	5		
	University	9		

Table 2: Participant characteristics

Interview findings are presented below under broad categories describing the benefits of partnerships, features that made partnerships work well, problems experienced in partnerships and fairness in partnerships with HIC collaborators. Since naming HIC collaborators may risk compromising participants' confidentiality, we have not identified HIC institutions by name. It is worth noting, however, that participants drew on experiences of partnership with institutions in

Canada, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, UK and USA. In most of these countries, more than one research institution was named in the examples given by participants.

Benefits of partnership with HIC research institutions

Capacity strengthening

The most widely reported benefit of engaging in partnerships with HIC research institutions was capacity strengthening. Benefits to individuals included PhD training, career development and improved skills and knowledge in scientific disciplines, research methods, grant management and administration. These benefits were gained through supervision, formal training, mentorship and on-the-job learning by interacting with collaborators, e.g.:

"When you are being engaged you can observe...the creation process, whether it is a creation of knowledge...of a grant, you participate and you see, so you build your skills on how to navigate around different calls. If there is any funding call, at least you know how to start." [C05_SR]

PhD training was also seen to have strengthened institutional capacity through creating a "pool of scientists" [C04_SR], many of whom were reported to have progressed to senior leadership and management positions in participants' own or other African institutions. Other examples of institutional capacity strengthening included support to establish a PhD programme and investment in research infrastructure, such as a laboratory.

Funding for research

Access to funding was the second most frequently cited benefit of working in partnership with HIC research institutions. Participants gave examples of how partnering with HIC collaborators had enabled them to access funding which they would not otherwise have been eligible to apply for because of funder restrictions, and had given them a higher chance of success because of the reputation of the HIC collaborator, e.g.:

"If you are trying to win a large grant, I am sure you have to demonstrate that you have the capacity to do the research. So if we were to bid for such grants as the prime [applicant] or on our own, where there is a requirement for lab capacity or other forms of capacity, then I'm sure we would not have had the research portfolio that we have now." [B02_EMA]

Other benefits

Other benefits that participants reported included: exposure to opportunities, entry into networks, and visibility to funders which might lead to future grant funding, e.g.:

"You want to partner with others because it also helps you to be within the community of the same people who are working over the same things and it increases your influence and net worth." [B01_EMR]

A couple of participants described how partnerships enabled researchers to fulfill the career goals and promotion criteria within their own organisations, such as grant income and publication. While most participants described how they and their institution had benefited from partnerships with HIC collaborators, several also talked about benefits to their country, including an enhanced international reputation for research leading to future funding, better health service provision and greater use of evidence-based decision-making where policy makers had seen the value of using research data to inform their policy choices, e.g.:

"Now I think there is an interest from policymakers in terms of 'what evidence are you providing after doing an intervention or a study? What works?'" [D03_EMR]

What made partnerships work well

Mutual respect

A number of participants described how mutual respect and appreciation of one another's contributions were fundamental to the functioning of a partnership. Participants had a range of expectations about the extent to which partner inputs should be equal. Some advocated for full equivalence while others were satisfied with a smaller input where the HIC institution was the lead partner, provided that their own contribution was recognised, e.g.:

"Coming into the partnership with the attitude that...everybody has something to offer. It may not be equal. but just having that attitude that...everybody going into it has something to bring onto the table. I think is a very critical aspect in determining how the partnership is going to flow." [A05_SA]

Early and continuous involvement

Many participants commented on the importance of having an input at all stages of a project from conception through to design, implementation, analysis and writing up. Particular emphasis was placed on being involved early on in order to be able to influence design and budget allocation, e.g.:

"If we are really partners then we should be sitting at the table together from the beginning, all the way through the budgeting, so that it's fair across the line". [C02_EMA]

Role clarity

A number of participants felt that reaching clarity on the roles and responsibilities of the institutions and individuals within a partnership was important for the partnership to function well. Participants felt that responsibilities should be established through joint discussion and boundaries respected once roles has been agreed e.g.:

"I'm always very, very keen on 'let's be clear on what the roles are and what is expected and what we each are supposed to achieve', so that there is no misunderstanding and nobody ends up feeling short-changed." [D01_EMR]

Some participants had a preference for formal documentation such as terms of reference, Memoranda of Understanding or documented principles for collaboration and conflict resolution. Others emphasized the benefits of an informal agreement on the principles for working together, including retaining flexibility for roles to evolve as the partnership developed.

Experienced collaborators

Several participants described how it was easier to work with HIC partners who were experienced in working in low-resource settings, understood the constraints of the context and were willing to adapt their own systems and requirements to fit the needs of their partner, e.g.:

"When you're working with ... experienced collaborators they've got mechanisms to start asking about things...way ahead of time... so they do anticipate that things can go wrong, and they know how to communicate." [B04_SR]

Participants felt that experienced partners were typically more flexible, more engaged in helping to solve problems and more sympathetic to external constraints than inexperienced HIC collaborators.

Effective communication

Several participants commented on the importance of communication between partners that was frequent, timely, transparent and two-way. Where communication worked well it was felt to lead to a shared vision about the purpose of partnership and each partner understood what the other

wanted to get out of the relationship. The ability to discuss issues and address them openly and respectfully, for example, in relation to budget allocation, was seen to be critical, e.g.:

"If there are issues that, you know, perhaps we need to deal with, or that we were not comfortable with, we must be able to sit as partners and talk about them, rather than one of the partners being the partner, at the same time, the Court". [A03_EMR]

Long term relationships

A couple of participants talked about the importance of a long-term relationship that transcended individual projects, generated institutional benefits and left a legacy for the future, e.g.:

"We should also remember that we need to strengthen this department as part of the capacity building within this project, so that level of consideration is also, it's beyond the research. To make sure you will also leave a footprint after the research is done". [B01_EMR]

Long-term collaborations allowed for trust and understanding between partners to develop which improved the working relationship and for initiatives such as faculty exchange and joint postgraduate training programmes to be established.

Several participants talked about specific ongoing or past collaborations which exemplified many of the themes of good partnership practice.

Example of good partnership practice

A HIC institution leading a grant application approached the sub-Saharan African collaborator at concept design stage to solicit input on study design and agree outline budget requirements. The application was a success and at each subsequent stage of project set-up, implementation, analysis and writing up the sub-Saharan African collaborator was fully involved. The intended project beneficiaries were also involved as peer researchers and were consulted on key decisions. Roles and responsibilities and a communication structure for the project partners were agreed early on. The HIC partner offered suggestions and provided support in areas in which the sub-Saharan African lacked experience and the sub-Saharan African partner gave direction on issues where they had more expertise. The sub-Saharan African partner had the autonomy to use their budget flexibly to meet the project needs as it evolved and formal reporting was minimised while informal communications were frequent and two-way. Overall, the sub-Saharan African partner felt that they had as equal a stake in the project as the HIC partner and were respected as equals. A relationship of trust and respect developed and the project led to other collaborative initiatives between the institutions.

Problems of partnering with HIC collaborators

Late involvement and confined role

A number of participants described the frustration of being asked to join a partnership after key decisions about project design and budget allocation had already been made. This frustration was exacerbated when their roles had remained limited throughout the collaboration, they had little influence on decisions and their involvement was diminished at key stages of the research process, particularly during data analysis and publication.

"They wanted to treat us as research assistants and not as partners in a developing country context...When it came to authorship, they wanted to be the ones who determine who was to participate". [D02_SR]

Participants described a range of experiences with respect to data ownership and access to data. Some felt that shared ownership and rights to use data by the institution that generated it were typically clear and they had had no concerns, while others had experienced difficulties in accessing and using data even when they had been involved in generating it. Several participants described having been excluded from the writing process or the HIC partner demanding senior authorship of papers even when their contribution did not justify it, e.g.:

"For me, it's very demeaning when you are passed over for an opportunity to co-author on work you conceptualised from scratch and you were available, because a student somewhere has only come in to analyse the data". [A01_SR]

Exploitative relationships

Several participants had experienced partnerships where they felt that benefits were unevenly distributed between partners in favour of the HIC partner, the relationship was exploitative and HIC stakeholders had prioritised their own objectives over those of their partners, e.g.:

"You're more on the receiving end and you sometimes question and feel, 'Am I only being used?' To just meet the interest of somebody else." [A05_SA]

Participants proposed that there needed to be greater recognition of all contributions and that HIC institutions should offer benefits to their partners to balance out the benefits they had accrued from the relationship.

HIC partner superiority

Several participants described experiences of HIC partners behaving in a supercilious manner, lacking humility and not acknowledging their partners' competence. Participants described how HIC partners often attributed greatest value to the contributions they brought themselves, such as funding and the research capacity of their institution. Two participants commented on how HIC partners failed to acknowledge that their institutions' reputation and success was to a large extent based on work that was only possible because of working in partnership with LMIC partners, e.g.: "I think that our northern partners or Western European partners have been a little bit slow to realize two things: one is the historical predisposition that has created... a lopsided system, where one person is seen to be more important or cleverer. A lot of these sort of historical predispositions have nothing to do with innate ability. They've also failed to realize that a lot of their own growth is the result of these partnerships and that there is probably more they are gaining from the partnerships than the so-called Southern partners are gaining." [C01_SR]

Inauthenticity

Several participants had experienced a disconnect between a HIC partner's rhetoric of equality but practice of inequality, for example if a project was not going in the direction the HIC partner expected. In several examples, the HIC institution had used their position as the lead partner to *"bulldoze"* [B04_SR; D03_EMR] their way forward, even when this contravened a prior agreement about roles and responsibilities. For example:

"Our bargaining power is always to a certain extent [limited]...you reach a certain point, whereby if they say, "This is how things should be done", you bow down to that." [B03_SR]

One participant gave an example of a HIC partner using capacity strengthening as a selling point in a grant application, yet when the project was implemented, no capacity strengthening was offered. Another described feeling misled by a HIC institution that had framed a project as a collaborative venture yet issued a consultancy contract which positioned the sub-Saharan African institution as a service provider. This had disadvantageous tax implications and left them with little room for intellectual contribution or rights to use the data:

"The attitude is that you don't know it, and they know it all, and so your responsibility...is to follow direction and not to contribute alternative views and where you contribute alternative views they are shot down." [A05_SA]

Micro-management

Several participants gave examples of where HIC partners had micro-managed research projects, overstepped the boundaries of their role as lead partner and interfered in the sub-Saharan African institution's operations. For example, one participant described how they had been required to send documents for the HIC partner to review and were expected to attend meetings which were framed as progress meetings, but whose purpose seemed to be for the HIC partner to monitor their activity and control operational decisions. Several participants alluded to HIC partners having an attitude of entitlement, encapsulated in this comment:

"...they go in, like IN. It's like when you enter the house and you are invited to sit in the sitting room, someone can go up to the bedroom." [C03_EMR]

HIC partner failure to accept a subordinate role

Several participants described challenges where their institution had been the lead partner and had sub-contracted to a HIC institution as part of a collaborative project. They had found that some HIC institutions had been resistant to accepting a role other than as the lead partner and failed to submit financial and technical reports to the standard requested, e.g.:

"The resistance was there initially in terms of them [HIC partners] being at the mercy of the Southern partner in terms of the Southern partner determining...what support they needed ... and the amount of funding that could be made available for that support." [D01_EMR]

Participants felt this was wrong given that the reporting requirements were very similar to those that their institutions were expected to comply with when sub-contracted by a HIC institution.

Other problems

Other problems that participants had experienced included: slow contracting, delays in payment and inflexibility and lack of support from HIC partners, especially where the HIC partner did not understand the challenges of the context in which they were operating, e.g.:

"Our partners in the higher income institutions may not actually understand that what appears to be a very simple task to them may not necessarily be a very simple task for us." [B02_SA]

One participant commented that most successful health research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa had a long-standing relationship with a HIC university or research institution and senior staff often had a joint appointment. While ostensibly beneficial, he felt that this also presented challenges: staff in leadership positions may be compromised by seeking to meet the expectations of the HIC institution, which might be in conflict with the interests of the African institution and limit its trajectory towards independent success.

Fairness in partnerships with HIC collaborators

The concept of fairness underpinned many of the issues that participants raised about partnership with HIC collaborators and was also discussed explicitly. A couple of participants commented that inequities existed in partnerships between organisations in the region, not only in relationships with HIC collaborators, and attention should also be paid to these. However, this theme was not explored in detail in this study. Participants typically described having experienced both fair and unfair partnerships with HIC collaborators and partnerships that had elements of fairness and unfairness. Most striking was participants' initial responses to the question of whether partnerships were fair. Many laughed at the question and paused before giving an answer. Some participants implied that the complexity of the concept made it a difficult question to address succinctly, several others suggested that it was futile to isolate the issue and make a judgement on fairness in partnerships given the pervasiveness of unfairness across many aspects of life, while others implied that the pursuit of fairness was a luxury that was beyond practical consideration, e.g.:

"I think fairness becomes an abstract thing here. You do what you have to do to keep running sometimes." [A01_SR]

Funding

The topic of funding generated most discussion with respect to fairness and elicited a range of views. One participant felt that it was reasonable that when funding originated from a HIC, the institution from that country should be the lead partner, while a contrasting view was that funding calls should always be open to applicants from any country. Another participant felt it was fair that when funding was derived from HIC taxpayers a substantial share of this funding was retained and invested in the HIC where the funds originated. Another participant described a recent situation where their institution had been in competition with others in the region to find a partner for a call requiring a UK lead applicant. They felt that this requirement was unfair because despite having a strong proposition they had not been able to apply as there were no UK partners left to partner with.

Several participants were critical of funders with low overhead limits which meant that their institution had to subsidize projects. Two participants described their experience of the distribution of funds between LMICs and HICs being unfair: one grievance was that majority share of the funding often remained in the HIC institution when the work largely took place in LMICs. The other grievance concerned salaries and benefits going to HIC institutions that were disproportionately high

in comparison with the compensation that their own institution's staff received, even after having accounted for cost-of-living differences.

Several participants described how feelings of mistrust and inequity were fueled when the lead partner lacked transparency about how funds had been allocated between institutions. In contrast, several participants felt that as long as their institution received sufficient funding to deliver their component of the work, this was fair, and they were not concerned about how much money the lead partner received, e.g.:

"I really don't care how much money is going to the UK, because I know that I've got enough funds to do this study." [B04_SR]

One participant commented on how responsibility lay with his own institution to pay close attention during budget development and to negotiate a fair funding allocation at the outset and that problems only arose when insufficient care was taken at this stage. A couple of participants had experienced receiving inadequate funds to deliver the work expected of them, and - having agreed to a scope of work – had been expected to take on additional work without any extra funding, e.g.:

"When you look at it and the expectation, it is somebody asking you to deliver a Rolls Royce and they're giving you money to buy a Toyota." [A05_SA]

Two participants felt that the high Masters' tuition fees charged by HIC universities to LMIC students were unfair when these universities' core funding and reputation were founded on work done in LMICs. One participant described how HIC partners had a duty to distribute the benefits when they had gained from work conducted in LMICs, and it was unfair when this did not happen. Another participant felt that the tone of a partnership was to a large extent set by funders. This individual felt that partnerships were more likely to be fair when the funder issued criteria for equitable participation than where arrangements were left to the lead partner to determine.

Capacity strengthening

Capacity strengthening was the second most frequently discussed topic in relation to fairness in partnerships. Several participants described their expectation that capacity strengthening should be inherent in the design of research partnerships with HICs and when it was, this was fair. A couple of participants felt it was unfair when their expectations with respect to capacity strengthening were not met. For example, one participant described how their institution had strengthened the capacity of a HIC partner when they felt it should have been the other way around. One participant felt that when capacity strengthening was narrowly focused, e.g. on PhD training, individuals remained dependent on HIC partners because they were not exposed to the broader experiences, skills and

capabilities needed to become a successful independent researcher. These included grant writing skills, how to engage with funders and networking skills, e.g.:

"You really don't know how that process of engagement goes when you're always in the lobby when everyone else is in the conference room." [C02_EMA]

Two participants felt that HIC partners intentionally restricted opportunities for capacity strengthening because this protected their own position in the partnership hierarchy, and they questioned the commitment of HIC partners toward supporting LMIC researchers' independence. The inverse of this experience was described by a participant who had been encouraged by the principal investigator from a HIC partner to write grant applications, supervise students and participate in training. The participant described the relationship as being very fair.

One participant differentiated between individuals' responsibility to negotiate a fair relationship with one another and structural unfairness which was difficult to tackle as an individual. Several other participants alluded to a blurring of the boundaries between individual and systemic inequity. For example, one participant described how individuals from HIC institutions were inclined to perpetuate systems (systemic inequity) which supported their own career advancement (individual inequity), e.g.:

"They work within this system that is designed in a super-biased way and somehow these wellmeaning people are unable to come out of this. In some cases they might even be tempted to use this system to survive. To get a favour." [C01_SR]

Several participants described the unfairness of being limited by the HIC partner in the extent to which they were able to contribute to decisions relating to project design and delivery, while two others described feeling exploited by a HIC partner who had restricted their involvement in the partnership to data collection and excluded them from analysis and publication, e.g.:

"I have worked on studies where I knew I could contribute more, but your role is already defined: 'You are managing fieldwork, you are recruiting and overseeing data collectors, and sending us the data'. End of story. I'm like, 'I want to be involved in the analysis, it's qualitative data, I am excited about these things, I want to be involved and maybe co-author', but that option is not provided many times." [A01_SR] One example was given where a participant's institution had been running a joint PhD programme with a HIC university. When the Memorandum of Understanding for the arrangement expired the HIC partner had decided unilaterally that the programme should not be renewed but should become a dual PhD programme whereby students could register at either institution. The HIC institution promoted this new arrangement as a benefit, but the participant felt that it was disadvantageous because the best students who could secure sponsorship chose to register at the HIC partner institution because of its strong reputation. Their own institution missed out on being associated with the highest calibre candidates.

Discussion

Interviews with early to mid-career and senior researchers and research managers at four institutions in anglophone eastern and southern Africa revealed wide-ranging experiences of partnership with HIC collaborators, both positive and negative. Existing principles for partnership (28-30) provide good coverage of the issues that participants described as being the key determinants of a healthy partnership, for example: mutual respect, involvement of all partners from concept design stage throughout the research lifecycle, clear governance and open communication. A small number of participants referred to published partnership guidelines, but none mentioned having used them. There is scope for institutions to adopt and adapt existing guidelines, and it would be useful to probe further into why, after several decades of guidelines being available, they are rarely used.

Participants described a range of benefits of partnering with HIC institutions. Foremost among these was capacity strengthening. Mutual learning and capacity exchange have been promoted in partnerships to acknowledge the value that each partner brings to the table (23, 37) and it would be interesting to explore the extent to which HIC partners also identify capacity strengthening as a benefit. Another key benefit identified was access to research funds, partly as a consequence of restrictions on LMIC organisations applying directly for funds originating in HICs. As discussed below, there is some evidence that more funding is being granted directly to LMIC institutions. This might alter what benefits LMICs perceive to be gained from partnering with HICs in future.

Meanwhile, participants had recently experienced a wide range of partnership inequities that have been well documented in the literature. This finding suggests that there is still some way to go before principles of fairness are embedded in practice and is consistent with claims that the system of global health remains colonial at its core (33). Inequities experienced by participants included only being invited to participate in a study after the research concept and design had been

determined (10), being offered only a limited role (1, 17), receiving fewer benefits than HIC partners (36, 38), HIC partners interfering in the LMIC institution's operations (12, 39) and HIC partners overclaiming authorship positions (16, 18). Several less well documented challenges also emerged which had arisen when LMIC institutions were in the lead partner role. For example, one HIC institution was unwilling to adhere to the sub-contracting requirements issued by a lead partner from sub-Saharan Africa. Another was dissatisfied when the funder re-routed how funds were channeled so that they flowed from the funder to LMIC partners who then commissioned the support they needed from HIC partners. The experiences of sub-Saharan African partners when leading partnerships have had little coverage in the literature to date. They are likely to become more prevalent as funding patterns change and partnership structures evolve towards more partnerships being led from sub-Saharan Africa.

The narratives of participants from institutions with more limited capacity for research and research management hinted at some differences in the issues they were experiencing in comparison with participants at institutions with greater capacity and depth of resources. This is not something we have seen explored in detail elsewhere. For example, participants who felt that they and their institution were held back by lacking skills, experience or resources expressed a strong demand for capacity strengthening in science and operational areas. This appeared to be a lower priority for participants from high-capacity institutions for whom other issues were in the foreground, such as how to deal with HIC institutions who were unwilling to accept a subordinate position in a partnership.

Perhaps this differential underpins the finding that participants working in research institutions with greater capacity appeared to be able to exercise greater power and influence in their dealings with HIC partners than participants from institutions with more limited capacity. That is not to suggest that all power imbalances are a consequence of capacity differentials. However, many of the negative experiences that participants reported appeared to be related to their institution having less capacity than a HIC partner and this contributed to the power differential between them, as has been discussed elsewhere (40). This reinforces the need to ensure that individuals and institutions in capacity-limited contexts continue to be supported to develop the skills and experience to compete in a global research arena, and that this is done respectfully. Historically, HIC technical partners have provided much of the support, leveraging funding from HIC governments, commercial and non-profit entities, and are likely to continue to play a significant role for some time to come. However, pressure is growing from advocates in LMICs (34, 41, 42) for LMIC governments to increase investment in research and move away from the reliance on foreign investment in research coined as neo-dependency (43). Furthermore, emerging entities such as the African Academy of

Sciences' Alliance for Accelerating Excellence in Africa and Africa Centers for Disease Control and Prevention provide hubs of technical expertise, mechanisms to support capacity strengthening and channels through which funds, from any source, can be managed and distributed to address issues of regional priority.

There has been a steady crescendo of voices calling out the ills of the colonial legacy in global health and challenging the systems that perpetuate structural inequities and maintain the status quo where HICs dominate the discipline (35, 44, 45). Though it has taken several decades to build momentum, we may be approaching a tipping point for a major re-evaluation of how global health is conducted: some funders have already diversified their approach or are re-considering how to invest, for example increasing direct funding to institutions in LMICs, of which several examples were given in this study. Groups such as the UK Collaborative on Development Research (46) and Council on Health Research for Development (47) provide platforms to share resources (48, 49), convene discussions and secure commitments to changing funders' practice. Funders also have an influential role in setting expectations for how partnerships should operate and in choosing what to fund. Ringfencing funds for activities that promote partnership development and increasing investment in institutional and systems strengthening are two possible options. In parallel with changes in the funding environment, powerful stakeholders in the 'global South' are increasingly acting as advocates for change (34) and HIC research institutions are starting to look critically at how they engage with partners. For example, the authors are aware of ongoing exercises at two UK universities specializing in global health to review their policies and practice in service of achieving more equitable partnerships, while a number of institutions have committed to undertaking selfassessments using the Research Fairness Initiative reporting tool (50). Future research that captures the perspectives of HIC stakeholders on partnerships, including motivations to change practice and the challenges thereof, would make a useful contribution to the evidence base.

The findings from this study suggest that the downstream impacts of changes in ideology and policy are, to a limited extent, reflected in the experience of stakeholders in sub-Saharan African research institutions, but there remain significant barriers to overcome. Embracing change poses challenges to those who are faced with relinquishing power (51), and several participants in this study gave examples of HIC partners who had been reluctant to cede control, speculating that this was driven by fear of losing the opportunities on which their careers and reputations had been built.

Notwithstanding the negatives, almost all participants in this study commented on the considerable benefits that they had experienced themselves and the value added to their institutions and countries from working with HIC partners. The overarching sentiment was not a demand for HIC

research institutions to exit the global health stage. Indeed, several participants commented that it would be an abdication of responsibility for stakeholders with access to resources and expertise not to use it to benefit others. Participants' views on what still needs to change and how to achieve greater equity in global health partnerships represented a microcosm of wider discussions in the field and were largely optimistic that things are moving in the right direction.

Limitations

Efforts were made to incorporate diversity in the characteristics of institutions included in the sample and to identify participants with a range of jobs and experience in order to provide a broad range of perspectives. However, the criteria for selecting institutions used proxy indicators for institutional maturity and scale of research activities which may not have been the most robust measures of these characteristics. We did not include a criterion to select for type of research or diversity across research disciplines, e.g. product development, clinical trials, basic science, social science and this may be a useful selection criterion for future studies. Including only institutions in countries where English is an official language, and excluding francophone and lusophone nations, is a further limitation of the study. In recognition of these limitations, we seek only to offer illustrative findings and do not claim that these are representative of the concerns of stakeholders at research institutions across anglophone eastern and southern Africa, let alone a broader geographical area.

Conclusions

Evidence from stakeholders in a small sample of research institutions in anglophone eastern and southern Africa suggest that contemporary global health research partnerships generate benefits but continue to exhibit longstanding inequities and reveal emerging tensions. Published principles and guidelines for partnership seem to be relevant but are rarely used. Raising awareness of the existence of principles and guidelines alongside a commitment from stakeholders to adopt and adapt them may offer a useful step forward. The distribution of power between partners appears to be gradually levelling out as research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa grow in stature, research funding is re-configured and movements for research equity and decolonising global health gain momentum and drive change. Meanwhile, long-term financial and technical support targeted towards institutions and national research systems remains essential to fulfil the potential of research led from sub-Saharan Africa. As the landscape of global health changes, HIC stakeholders need to identify new roles in partnerships, and stakeholders from LMIC must continue to tackle challenges presented by the resource-constrained contexts in which they commonly operate.

Abbreviations

HIC	High-Income Country
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine
LMIC	Low- and Middle-Income Country
NGO	Non-governmental organisation

Supplementary information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https:// doi.org/ 10. 1186/ s12939-022-01707-3.

Additional file 1. Interview topic guides.

Acknowledgements

Grateful thanks go to the institutions that participated in the study and to all interviewees for offering their time and providing candid and thoughtful responses.

Authors' contributions

SV designed the study, collected and analysed the data and drafted the manuscript. NT, JS and PC contributed to the study design, analysis and manuscript. CMC, ALN, TO and CAB provided critical revisions to the manuscript. All authors reviewed and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

The Infectious Disease Epidemiology Department of London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine provided funds to cover the cost of ethics applications. No other external funding was sought for the research reported in this article. PC is funded by the Wellcome Trust grant (107499, 096527) and EDCTP (TMA2019CDF-2751).

Availability of data and materials

The small sample size and nature of qualitative research makes it impossible for us to avail the data without compromising participants' confidentiality or redacting transcripts to the extent that their meaning is distorted from that which informed the interpretation of the findings.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Ethical approval was obtained from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine observational ethics committee (reference number 25762). Institutional approval for the study was granted by all participating institutions, including research ethics committee approval where required. Further details are available from the authors on request. Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants prior to their participation in the study. A report of the study findings was shared with all participants.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests. JS has a long-standing relationship with one of the institutions included in the sample but was not involved in data collection or analysis. SV, who conducted all interviews and data analysis, had no prior relationship with any of the institutions included in the sample, though they were all partners of LSHTM with which she is affiliated.

Author details

¹Epidemiology & Demography Department, KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Kilifi, Kenya. ²Institute of Economic and Social Research, University of Zambia, Lusaka, Zambia. ³Department of Health Systems and Policy, School of Global and Public Health, Kamuzu University of Health Sciences (formerly College of Medicine), Blantyre, Malawi. ⁴The AfriChild Centre, Makerere University, College of Humanities and Social Sciences, Kampala, Uganda. ⁵Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom. ⁶Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom. ⁷Health Systems and Research Ethics Department, KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Kilifi, Kenya.

Received 23 May 2022

Accepted 21 July 2022

Published online 17 August 2022

References

- Craveiro I, Carvalho A, Ferrinho P. "Get us partnerships!" a qualitative study of Angolan and Mozambican health academics' experiences with North/South partnerships. Globalization and Health. 2020;16(1).
- 2. Healey-Walsh J, Stuart-Shor E, Muchira J. Through the Lens of Postcolonial Theory. Nursing Education Perspectives. 2019;40(5):270-7.
- 3. Franzen SRP, Chandler C, Lang T. Health research capacity development in low and middle income countries: reality or rhetoric? A systematic meta-narrative review of the qualitative literature. BMJ Open. 2017;7(1):e012332.
- 4. Viergever RF, Olifson S, Ghaffar A, Terry RF. A checklist for health research priority setting: nine common themes of good practice. Health Research Policy and Systems. 2010;8(1).
- Bradley M. Whose agenda? North South Research Partnerships. In: Mougeot L, editor. Putting Knowledge to Work: Collaborating, influencing and learning for international development. Rugby, United Kingdom: Practical Action Publishing; 2017. p. 37-70.
- 6. Binka F. Editorial: North-South research collaborations: a move towards a true partnership? Tropical Medicine and International Health. 2005;10(3):207-9.
- 7. Coloma J, Harris E. From Construction Workers to Architects: Developing Scientific Research Capacity in Low-Income Countries. PLoS Biology. 2009;7(7):e1000156.
- 8. Kunert KJ, Botha A-M, Oberholster PJ, Yocgo R, Chimwamurombe P, Vorster J, et al. Factors facilitating sustainable scientific partnerships between developed and developing countries. Outlook on Agriculture. 2020;49(3):204-14.
- 9. Boum li Y, Burns BF, Siedner M, Mburu Y, Bukusi E, Haberer JE. Advancing equitable global health research partnerships in Africa. BMJ Global Health. 2018;3(4):e000868.
- 10. Forti S. Building a Partnership for Research in Global Health: An Analytical Framework. Canada: Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research Research; 2005.
- 11. Gautier L, Sieleunou I, Kalolo A. Deconstructing the notion of "global health research partnerships" across Northern and African contexts. BMC Medical Ethics. 2018;19(1):49.
- 12. Matenga TFL, Zulu JM, Corbin JH, Mweemba O. Contemporary issues in north–south health research partnerships: perspectives of health research stakeholders in Zambia. Health Research Policy and Systems. 2019;17(1).
- 13. Gaillard JF. North-South research partnership: Is collaboration possible between unequal partners? Knowledge and Policy. 1994;7(2):31-63.
- Murphy J, Hatfield J, Afsana K, Neufeld V. Making a Commitment to Ethics in Global Health Research Partnerships: A Practical Tool to Support Ethical Practice. Journal of Bioethical Inquiry. 2015;12(1):137-46.
- 15. Carbonnier G, Kontinen T. North-South research partnership: Academia meets development? : European Assocation of Development Reseach and Training Institutes; 2014.
- 16. Walsh A, Brugha R, Byrne E. "The way the country has been carved up by researchers": ethics and power in north–south public health research. 2016;15(1).
- 17. Mony PK, Kurpad A, Vaz M. Capacity building in collaborative research is essential. BMJ. 2005;331(7520):843.3-4.
- 18. González-Alcaide G, Menchi-Elanzi M, Nacarapa E, Ramos-Rincón J-M. HIV/AIDS research in Africa and the Middle East: participation and equity in North-South collaborations and relationships. Globalization and Health. 2020;16(1).
- 19. Hedt-Gauthier BL, Jeufack HM, Neufeld NH, Alem A, Sauer S, Odhiambo J, et al. Stuck in the middle: a systematic review of authorship in collaborative health research in Africa, 2014–2016. BMJ Global Health. 2019;4(5):e001853.
- 20. Alba S, Lenglet A, Verdonck K, Roth J, Patil R, Mendoza W, et al. Bridging research integrity and global health epidemiology (BRIDGE) guidelines: explanation and elaboration. BMJ Global Health. 2020;5(10):e003237.
- 21. Alba S, Verdonck K, Lenglet A, Rumisha SF, Wienia M, Teunissen I, et al. Bridging research integrity and global health epidemiology (BRIDGE) statement: guidelines for good epidemiological practice. BMJ Global Health. 2020;5(10):e003236.
- 22. TRUST. Global Code of Conduct for Research in Resource Poor Settings. TRUST,; 2018.

- 23. Stöckli B, Wiesmann U, Lys J-A. A Guide for Transboundary Research Partnerships, 11 Principles, 3rd edition (1st edition 2012). .Swiss Commission for Research Partnerships with Developing Countries (KFPE),; 2018.
- 24. Afsana K, Habte D, Hatfield J, Murphy J, Neufield V. Partnership Assessment Toolkit. Canadian Coalition for Global Health Research; 2009.
- 25. Research Fairness Initiative. RFI guides: Council on Health Research for Development; 2018 [Available from: <u>https://rfi.cohred.org/rfi-guides/</u>.
- 26. Rethinking Research Collaborative. Promoting Fair and Equitable Research Partnerships to Respond to Global Challenges: Recommendations to the UKRI UK Research and Innovation; 2018.
- 27. Cornish H, Fransman J, Newman K. Rethinking Research Partnerships: discussion guide and toolkit. 2017.
- 28. Voller S, Schellenberg J, Chi P, Thorogood N. What Makes Working Together Work? A Scoping Review of the Guidance on North-South Research Partnerships. Health Policy and Planning. 2022:czac008.
- 29. Faure MC, Munung NS, Ntusi NAB, Pratt B, de Vries J. Mapping experiences and perspectives of equity in international health collaborations: a scoping review. Int J Equity Health. 2021;20(28):1-13.
- 30. Monette EM, McHugh D, Smith MJ, Canas E, Jabo N, Henley P, et al. Informing 'good' global health research partnerships: A scoping review of guiding principles. Global Health Action. 2021;14(1):1892308.
- 31. Nature addresses helicopter research and ethics dumping. Nature. 2022;606(7912):7-.
- 32. Chaudhuri MM, Mkumba L, Raveendran Y, Smith RD. Decolonising global health: beyond 'reformative' roadmaps and towards decolonial thought. BMJ Global Health. 2021;6(7):e006371.
- 33. Hirsch L. Is it possible to decolonise global health institutions? The Lancet. 2021;397(10270):189-90.
- 34. Abimbola S, Asthana S, Montenegro C, Guinto RR, Jumbam DT, Louskieter L, et al. Addressing power asymmetries in global health: Imperatives in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. PLOS Medicine. 2021;18(4):e1003604.
- 35. Khan M, Abimbola S, Aloudat T, Capobianco E, Hawkes S, Rahman-Shepherd A. Decolonising global health in 2021: a roadmap to move from rhetoric to reform. BMJ Glob Health. 2021;6(3).
- 36. Bradley M. North–south Research Partnerships: Challenges, Responses and Trends—A Literature Review and Annotated Bibliography. 2007.
- 37. Redman-Maclaren M, Maclaren DJ, Harrington H, Asugeni R, Timothy-Harrington R, Kekeubata E, et al. Mutual research capacity strengthening: a qualitative study of two-way partnerships in public health research. Int J Equity Health. 2012;11(1):79.
- 38. Crane J. Unequal 'Partners'. AIDS, Academia, and the rise of global health. Behemoth. 2010;3:78-97.
- 39. Harrison E. 'The Problem with the Locals': Partnership and Participation in Ethiopia. Development and Change. 2002;33(4):587-610.
- 40. Ward CL, Shaw D, Sprumont D, Sankoh O, Tanner M, Elger B. Good collaborative practice: reforming capacity building governance of international health research partnerships. Globalization and Health. 2018;14(1).
- 41. Saha S, Pai M. Can COVID-19 innovations and systems help low- and middle-income countries to reimagine healthcare delivery? Med. 2021;2(4):369-73.
- 42. Bertelsmann-Scott T. From dependency to partnership: Where are AU-EU relations heading? Policy briefing 167. Southern African Institute of International Affairs; 2017.
- 43. Adeyi O. Global Health In Practice: Investing Amidst Pandemics, Denial Of Evidence, And Neodependency: World Scientific; 2022. 320 p.
- 44. Lawrence DS, Hirsch LA. Decolonising global health: transnational research partnerships under the spotlight. International Health. 2020;12(6):518-23.
- 45. Abimbola S, Pai M. Will global health survive its decolonisation? The Lancet. 2020;396(10263):1627-8.
- 46. UK Collaborative on Development Research 2022 [Available from: https://www.ukcdr.org.uk/.
- 47. Council on Health Research for Development 2022 [Available from: http://www.cohred.org/.
- 48. Kunaratnam Y, Bucher A, Tufet M. UK funding landscape for research capacity strengthening in low- and middle-income countries. London, UK: UK Collaborative on Development Research; 2021 October.
- 49. UK Collaborative on Development Research. Equitable Partnerships Resource Hub: UK Collaborative on Development Research; 2021 [Available from: https://www.ukcdr.org.uk/guidance/equitable-partnerships-hub/.
- 50. Research Fairness Initiative. 2021 the year of equitable research partnerships 2021 [cited 2022 25 March]. Available from: <u>https://rfi.cohred.org/2021-the-year-of-equitable-partnerships/</u>.

51. Reidpath DD, Allotey P. The problem of 'trickle-down science' from the Global North to the Global South. BMJ Global Health. 2019;4(4):e001719.

Appendices

Appendix A: Data management plan



Data Management Plan for Research Students

Project	Equitable Global Health				
title	Research Partnerships				
Author	Shirine Voller				
name					
Supervisors	Nicki Thorogood, Joanna				
	Schellenberg, Primus Chi				
Contact	Shirine.voller1@lshtm.ac.uk				
email					
Date of last	29 May 2022				
edit					

DESCRIBE YOUR RESEARCH

 What digital resources – data, code, collection tools, etc. - will you collect/obtain and use?

Qualitative data from semi-structured interviews conducted remotely with staff at research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa that are partners of LSHTM. Digital recordings of interviews subsequently transcribed and stored electronically with printed hard copies.

- 2. What hardware and software will be used in your research?
- An encrypted and password-protected laptop to store participant details, interview recordings, transcripts and soft copies of documents included in the data set.
- Microsoft Outlook to contact study participants, send the study information sheet and send and receive the informed consent form.
- Zoom web-based communications platform, including its recording and auto-transcription functions.
- A secure server hosted by KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme to which data is backed up and stored.
- NVivo 12 software for data analysis.

Task	Description			
Pilot interview guide	Pilot semi-structured interview topic guide with 3-4 collaborators at			
Month 1 (Month 0 is	LMIC institutions that are not included in the study. Revise interview			
date of ethics approval)	guide following pilot.			
Conduct semi-	Interview up to 30 participants who are staff at research institutions in			
structured interviews	sub-Saharan Africa which collaborate with LSHTM. Record interviews on			
Months 2-7	Zoom or MS Teams. Transcribe using auto-transcription function where			
	available and finalise by listening back to audio-recording. Remove			
	participant name and institutional identifiers during transcription.			
	Familiarise with information about each participant (name, job title,			
	organisation, any other information avialable) before each interview and			
	write field notes after each interview.			
Analyse interview data	Annotate hard copies of transcripts by hand followed by structured			
	analysis in NVivo. Use a thematic content analysis approach to analyse			
	the content.			

3. What data-related activities will be performed during the research?

4. What quality checks will you perform to ensure resources are fit for purpose?

Test the quality of recordings produced on Zoom – found to be good quality with audio clarity as good as a digital voice recorder. Check how to use the auto-transcription function and the quality of transcripts it produces. The auto-transcription function was found to be of sufficient accuracy to use as a draft transcript but required listening back to the audio-recording to correct errors and complete gaps in order to produce the final transcript.

Have a digital voice recorder available as a back-up in case of any problem with the Zoom recording. Check the digital voice recorder in advance of interviews for adequate battery life and storage capacity.

Use a topic guide to retain consistency in the overall scope of interviews but use the guide flexibly in response to participants' interests, areas of experience and the information that they provide without prompting. This is consistent with accepted norms around the conduct of semi-structured interviews where the researcher introduces topics to be covered and sets the boundaries, but participants determine the priority attached to each topic and whether and how to address them.

Write field notes to accompany each interview, including before (noting down name, job title, institutional affiliation and any other issues of note), during and immediately after the interview. Writing notes in a timely way ensures that they are a close approximation of thoughts and reactions at the time and are not distorted by recall bias or other influences.

Transcribe interviews following accepted conventions to ensure consistency in the way in which verbal data is documented. DrPH researcher to conduct and transcribe all interviews to optimise consistency in the process of data collection and documentation.

Use NVivo for organising analysis. This allows for multiple files to be saved with a different date and name identifiers to aid the iterative process of analysis.

For data authenticity, keep a master folder of data that includes all audio files, transcripts, field notes and NVivo files. Save versions of the analysis with a date identifier and descriptor for differentiation.

5. How will you address ethical and legal issues within your research?

Seek ethical approval from the LSHTM institutional ethics review committee and respond to any recommendations or conditions of approval prior to starting data collection. Seek guidance from each institution involved in the study about what additional approvals are required for the research to be conducted in their institution. Since the research is non-interventional and is not health-related, it may be considered exempt from in-country ethical approval. However, any approvals that are required will be secured prior to starting data collection.

Seek individual consent from each study participant and document the consent on an informed consent form exchanged by email in advance of the interview. Send a participant information sheet with the informed consent form to ensure participants make an informed decision about participation. Check again before starting each interview that participants have read and understood the information sheet and are willing to continue to the interview on the understanding that they may withdraw at any time.

No legal issues expected to arise from the study, which is low-risk and non-interventional.

6. What documentation will be created to ensure resources can be understood?

Develop a coding scheme following an iterative thematic content analysis of interviews and make this available.

STORAGE AND SECURITY

7. Where will resources be stored at key stages of your research?

Identify where resources will be held during capture, processing, analysis and other stages, and who will have access to them. Consult <u>https://lshtm.sharepoint.com/Services/IT-</u> Services/ServiceDesk/LSHTM-data-storage-options.pdf

Store all data (interview recordings, transcripts, field notes) and documentation relating to the data (e.g. participant contact details, informed consent forms, NVivo files, data exported into MS word files) on an encrypted and password protected laptop and backed up to the KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme secure server. In addition:

- Store participant contact details in a password protected MS Word file
- Delete original audio recordings and auto-transcripts from Zoom as soon as copies have been stored securely and backed up.
- Keep hard copies of transcripts and field notes in an office where access is by staff ID card and in a locked home office.

 Only the researcher has access to the primary data throughout the study, unless a supervisor requests to have access. In this case, the minimum amount of data required will be shared, the process of sharing will be documented and the supervisor will be requested to keep the data securely.

8. What labelling conventions will you apply to manage your resources?

Label audio files, interview transcripts and field notes to include the unique identifier given to each participant, the date of interview and a descriptor of what the file is (e.g. field notes, Zoom autotranscript). The unique identifier can be matched back to each participant on the password protected master file that contains names and contact details for each participant. For example:

B02_field notes_21-08-06 Participant 2 from institution B, Field notes of interview conducted on 6 August 2021.

Label data collection tools with the date that the version became current. For example:

Interview topic guide_Equitable partnerships_21-04-06

Only anonymised data will		Store personal details in a	✓	Delete personal &	\checkmark
be used - personal,		separate secure location		confidential details at	
sensitive, or otherwise		& link it via an identifier		earliest opportunity	
confidential data is not				(specify when below)	
needed for the research					
Use digital storage that	✓	Physical security (such as	\checkmark	Protect portable devices	\checkmark
require a		locked cabinet or room)		using security features,	
username/password or				e.g. biometric	
other security feature					
Encrypt storage devices	✓	Encrypt during transfer		Avoid cloud services	
				located outside EU	
Take 'Information Security	✓	Ensure backups are also	✓		
Awareness training'		held securely			
Notes:	•	Data collection conducted remotely. Informed consent forms			
		issued and returned electronically, hence physical security not			
		required for informed consent forms, audio-recordings and			
		transcripts.			
	•	• Study laptop, notebook and printed copies of transcripts to be			
		stored securely in an office accessed only by a staff ID card or in			
		a secure home office.			

9. How will you keep data safe and secure?

	•	Laptop encrypted, password protected and backed up to a secure server.
	•	Interviews recorded using the recording function of a secure
		electronic communications platform, Zoom, with digital voice
		recorder as a back-up (not required). Sound files transferred immediately after interview to the encrypted laptop and
		deleted from Zoom once backed up to the secure server.
	•	Names and institutional affiliations removed from transcripts
		used for analysis. This is not full anonymisation and the data
		set will not be made available publicly to protect participants
		from being identified.
	٠	Names and contact details used to schedule interviews kept in
		password-protected MS Word file with a labelling convention
		that links the anonymised transcript to the original file.
	•	Field notes taken electronically in MS Word in before, during
		and after an interview. Hard copy field notes may also be taken
		in a notebook which is stored in a ID-card accessed office or
		secure home office.
	٠	Interview recordings to be deleted within 12 months following
		the completion of data analysis.
	٠	All primary data and analysed datasets to be deleted three
		years after completing the DrPH programme, i.e. three years
		after acceptance of the final thesis.

ARCHIVING & SHARING

10. What resources should be kept as evidence of your research?

Store primary data and analysed datasets for three years following graduation from the DrPH Programme, ie. three years after the final version of the thesis has been accepted. Use transcripts as the record for an interview and delete recordings within 12 months of completing data analysis.

11. Where will these resources be hosted?

Store primary data and analysed datasets on the KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme secure server. In the event of leaving KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme, transfer resources to LSHTM Secure Server for remaining period until they are deleted.

12. When will the resources be made available?

During the research life		At the same time as		A set time after research	
		findings are published in an		end, e.g. 12 months.	
		academic journal		Specify below	
Resources already		On completion of my thesis		Other (provide details	✓
available (provide details				below)	
below)					
Further information / Other					
The resources will be stored on the KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme secure server, or					
LSHTM secure server in the event the researcher leaves KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme,					
for three years after completion of the DrPH thesis. Raw data will not be made publicly available. The					
data will only be used to inform written outputs arising from the study, e.g. thesis, manuscripts for					
publication and reports.					

RESOURCING

13. What are the primary data management challenges in your research?

The data generated from the study through interviews is inherently identifiable. The extent of redaction that would be required to share the data whilst protecting the rights of the individuals who took part in the study is considered too great to leave a meaningful and 'true' record that could be used for other researchers to access for analysis. Consequently, the data set will not be shared for use by other researchers in any format.

14. How can LSHTM and others help you to better manage your data?

Guidance will be sought from data management experts at LSHTM as needed. Advice available online from LSHTM and from the UK Data Service will also be used to inform decisions about data management. LSHTM will provide support through access to its secure server to store data in the event that the researcher leaves KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme during the period that the data needs to be retained.

Appendix B: Participant information sheet

Participant information sheet

Title of Project: Equitable global health research partnerships

Introduction

I would like to invite you to take part in a research study about equity (fairness) in global health research partnerships. I use the term 'partnership' to refer to any formal collaboration between two or more research institutions. So that you can decide whether to take part, I am sharing information about why I am doing this research and what it involves. I am happy to provide more information if anything is unclear or you would like to know more.

What is the purpose of the study?

This study is the thesis research for my Doctorate in Public Health at The London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM). Through the study I will explore the experiences that individuals working in research institutions in sub-Saharan Africa have of working in partnership with highincome country collaborators. There has been a lot of research and writing about global health partnerships and various guidelines exist for how partnerships should operate in a fair way, but the perspectives of low- and middle-income country stakeholders are under-represented and the dynamics of partnership are evolving. This study aims to add to the existing knowledge base and highlight the recent experiences and issues relevant to stakeholders from institutions in sub-Saharan Africa. Ultimately, it is intended to inform improvements to how global health research partnerships work in future.

Why have I been asked to take part?

You have been asked to take part in this study because of your experience working for an institution that collaborates with high income country health research institutions.

Do I have to take part?

No. Participation is voluntary. There is no obligation for you to take part.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

If you decide to take part, we will schedule a time for an interview. I will send an informed consent form in advance for you to sign and return. The interview will be conducted remotely by Zoom, Microsoft Teams, Skype or phone and will last between 30 minutes and one hour. If you give consent, I will record the interview. There is no need for you to prepare in advance, other than to be ready to talk about partnerships that you have been involved with. I will ask permission to contact you after the interview if I need to clarify something you said.

What are the possible risks and disadvantages?

The study is not expected to place you at any risk or disadvantage. My work is not part of any audit, report or feedback to LSHTM about you, your institution or its relationship with LSHTM. I am not involved in the partnership between your institution and LSHTM and my work is for research purposes only.

What are the possible benefits to me?

A possible benefit to you is that by talking about your experiences of working in partnership, you identify issues that you wish to discuss with colleagues and partners that could improve your experience of working in partnership in future.

What if I have a concern about the study?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, please share it with me and I will do my best to address it. If your concern is not resolved and you wish to raise a formal complaint, you can do this by contacting the Head of Research Governance, Patricia Henley, at <u>rgio@lshtm.ac.uk</u> or +44 (0) 20 7927 2626.

The London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine holds insurance policies which apply to this study. If you experience harm or injury as a result of taking part in this study, you may be eligible to claim compensation.

Can I change my mind about taking part?

Yes. You can withdraw from the study at any time. If you withdraw from the study I will destroy all data that I hold about and from you.

What will happen to information collected about me?

All information collected about you will be kept private. Only I, my supervisors and authorities who check that the study is being carried out properly will be allowed to look at information about you.

Interview recordings (if you have given permission for the interview to be recorded) and transcripts will be stored securely on an encrypted and password protected laptop backed up to a secure server and will not be deposited in a publicly accessible data repository. Sound files will be transferred immediately after the interview to the encrypted laptop and will be deleted from the digital voice recorder and Teams, Zoom, Skype or phone.

Your personal details, such as your name, contact details and institutional affiliation, will be kept in a password-protected file with a systematic labelling convention that links them to the interview recording and transcript, which will be kept in a separate secure location. Only I will have access to your identifiable personal data.

The institutions included in the study will be named in the DrPH thesis report and may be named in other outputs from the study, e.g. research publications, but will be referred to as Institution A, B, C etc. in the results and discussion sections and will never be linked by name or other identifier to a data segment.

Individual participants will be referred to by job title and institutional reference, e.g. "Project Manager, Institution A". Where job titles are specific or rare and could potentially lead to identification, they will be changed to a more general job title in order to maintain participant confidentiality, Personal identifiers and any other information which may enable an individual to be identified will be removed from any data segment before it is included in a written output arising from the study.

Interview recordings will be deleted within 12 months following the completion of data analysis. At the end of the study, the data collected about you will be stored on LSHTM's secure server for three years, after which it will be deleted.

What will happen to the results of this study?

The study results will inform my Doctorate in Public Health thesis report. This report will be indexed by the LSHTM library and accessible to LSHTM staff and students. The results may also be used to publish research articles. No personal information will be included in the report or in any research article. Anonymised quotes will be used in the thesis report and in any journal articles. Quotes will not

contain any information that could lead to the identification of any participant, any other individual or any organisation.

Who is organising and funding this study?

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine is the sponsor for the research and has full responsibility for the project including the collection, storage and analysis of your data.

Who has checked this study?

This study has been reviewed and given favourable opinion by The London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Research Ethics Committee (study number 25762).

Further information and contact details

Thank you for reading this information sheet. If you are willing to take part in the study, please confirm this and I will contact you to make arrangements for an interview.

Contact details: Shirine Voller, <u>shirine.voller1@lshtm.ac.uk</u>, +44 7974 562630 (UK); +254 795 746 834 (Kenya).

Version: 28 May 2021

Study title: Equitable global health research partnerships; LSHTM ethics committee reference 25762

Informed Consent Form

Title of Project: Equitable global health research partnerships

Name of researcher responsible for project: Shirine Voller

Statement	Please initial
	each box
I confirm that I have read and understood the participant information sheet dated 28	
May 2021 for the above-named study. I have had the opportunity to consider the	
information, ask questions and have these answered satisfactorily.	
I understand that my consent is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw this consent at	
any time without giving any reason and without my legal rights being affected.	
I understand that relevant sections of data collected during the study may be looked at	
by authorised individuals from London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (Members	
of the Research Ethics Committee, the researcher's supervisors and examiners). I give	
permission for these individuals to have access to these records on request.	
I understand that data that I provide will be used in a Doctorate in Public Health thesis	
report and may be published in other formats for research purposes, and that I will not	
be identifiable from this information.	
I agree to take part in the above-named study.	

Printed name of participant	Signature of participant	Date

Printed name of person obtaining consent

Signature of person obtaining consent

Date

Study title: Equitable global health research partnerships; LSHTM ethics committee reference 25762

Appendix D: Interview topic guide 1

Interview guide for stakeholders involved in specific partnerships

Introduction

- Good morning/afternoon XXXX [name of interviewee]. I hope now is still a good time to talk? Thank you for making time to talk with me today.
- As I explained in my introductory email, I am studying for a Doctorate in Public Health at London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. I am also an LSHTM staff member based at KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme in Kenya where I work as a Programme Manager. My DrPH research aims to understand the experiences of stakeholders from institutions in sub-Saharan Africa of research partnerships with institutions in high-income countries. This research is not connected to any form of audit or feedback to LSHTM about its partners.
- Thank you for sending back the signed informed consent form. As stated on the form, personal information about you will be kept confidential and you may withdraw from the study at any time. Data will be stored securely throughout the study and kept securely for a limited time after the study has been completed.
- I expect the interview to last for up to one hour. I will ask open questions, and there are no right or wrong answers. I am interested to hear about your opinions and experiences.
- Do you have any questions before we start? Are you willing for me to record the interview?
 [If yes, start recording. If no, take notes].

Participant's role

- Could we start by you briefly describing your current job? [Prompt for details: How long in role, nature of role]
- Have you had any other roles at X [name of research institution]? [Prompt for details]

- Did you work anywhere else before joining X? [*Prompt for details. Only ask question if started at X in last 5 years*].

Experience of partnership

Now I would like to hear about your experience of research partnerships with institutions in high income countries.

- Could you describe some of the recent partnerships that you have been involved in?
 [Who partners were, funder, ongoing or finished, purpose and scope, size \$\$, interviewee role in partnership, get sense of what interviewee understands partnership to be].
- Now can you describe in more detail [project name]/ the partnership with LSHTM/a partnership with another institution that you have been closely involved with?
 [Probe for information about purpose and scope, institution(s) involved, funder, when started, respondent's role and extent of involvement, role of his/her institution. Allow participant to talk at length].

Overall experience

- Overall, what have been the most positive aspects of the partnership? [Probe: for self, for institution, for other stakeholders. Why and how?]
- What has been difficult, or not worked well, and why?
- What would make the partnership work better?
 [Probe: if could change one thing about working with the high-income country partner, what would it be?]
- What are the most important factors in determining how well this partnership has worked?
- Do you think the partnership is fair?

[Probe: for self? for institution? Why yes or why no, what fairness means, what is stopping it from being fair (if so), e.g. structural barriers such as (poor) education, is concept of fairness important?]

- Is this partnership typical of other research partnerships that you have been involved in with high income country institutions?
 [Probe: how yes and how no, seeking examples and try to assess how widespread different issues are]
- Are there differences between partnerships with other sub-Saharan African institutions and HIC institutions, or not?

Themes of fair partnership

[Adapt or don't ask questions if already covered in previous discussion]

Now I will ask some more specific questions about the partnership you talked about previously, or a different partnership if you prefer.

[If different, prompt for brief details]

- How did you come to be involved in this partnership?
 [Probe: own and institution's role in agenda setting, proposal writing, study design; how these phases went, whether topic a local institutional & country- priority]
- How were the goals of the partnership agreed on?
 [Probe: are own and institution's motivations recognised and priorities reflected? Benefits to self and institution]
- Is there any form of written agreement, like a memorandum of understanding or terms of reference, in addition to the contract?
 [Probe: how developed, whether useful, other governance structures? How decisions made?]
- How are roles and responsibilities in the partnership agreed on? How do members of the partnership communicate and work with one another?

[Probe: transparency, accountability, resolving conflicts, is there a steering group or advisory group?]

- What does each partner contribute to the partnership?
 [Probe: value placed on different contributions, is there proper acknowledgement of own institution's contributions and what it offers high income country partner? Are benefits proportionate to contributions?]
- Can you say a bit about funding for the partnership?
 [Probe: how funds distributed and managed, whether funds adequate for the work are full costs covered, plans for securing future funding, satisfied with funding arrangements? How much awareness of and involvement with funder?]
- Has there been any capacity strengthening, or is any planned?
 [Probe: what and for whom? Individual, institutional? Research, research management?
 Formal, informal? Support for budgeting, contracting, ethics, research skills?]
- Can you say a bit about how data is stored, shared and who uses and owns it?
 [Probe: are there agreements on data ownership and sharing, material transfer agreements etc. If so, how reached? issues experienced].
- Is there a dissemination plan for the partnership? Are there plans to use the findings to inform policy and practice?
 [Probe: Types of outputs planned, audiences, authorship;
 [Probe for policy & practice: How? By whom? Resources dedicated to this? Is this relevant?]
- We have covered some of the key areas documented in guidelines for partnership. Are there other important aspects of this partnership that you would like to talk about? [Give space for participant to talk about other features of partnership]
- Are any discussions happening about equitable partnerships in your institution, in networks that you are involved in?
 [Probe: where, who, what issues, how being taken forward]

Closing

We are now approaching the end of the interview. Before we finish, is there anything else you want to say about your experience of partnership with high income country research institutions? [Prompt for details]

Thank you very much for your time. I may come back for clarification if there is something that is not clear or if I have some additional questions as I am writing up the interview, if that's OK? Please contact me at any time if you have any questions, comments or concerns.

Close interview

Interview guide for institutional stakeholders not closely involved in specific partnerships

Introduction

- Good morning/afternoon XXXX [name of interviewee]. How are you? I hope now is still a good time to talk? Thank you for making time to talk with me today.
- As I explained in my introductory email, I am studying for a Doctorate in Public Health at London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. I am also an LSHTM staff member based at KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme in Kenya where I work as a Programme Manager. My DrPH research aims to understand the experiences of stakeholders from institutions in sub-Saharan Africa of research partnerships with institutions in high-income countries. This research is not connected to any form of audit or feedback to LSHTM about its partners.
- Thank you for sending back the signed informed consent form. As stated on the form, personal information about you will be kept confidential and you may withdraw from the study at any time. Data will be stored securely throughout the study and kept securely for a limited time after the study has been completed.
- I expect the interview to last for up to one hour. I will ask open questions, and there are no right or wrong answers. I am interested to hear about your opinions and experiences.
- Do you have any questions before we start? Are you willing for me to record the interview?
 [If yes, start recording. If no, take notes].

Participant's role

- Could we start by you briefly describing your current job? [Prompt for details: How long in role, nature of role]

- Have you had any other roles at X [name of research institution]? [*Prompt for details*]
- Did you work anywhere else before joining X? [*Prompt for details. Only ask question if started at X in last 5 years*].

Experience of partnership

Now I would like to hear about your experience of research partnerships with institutions in high income countries.

- Could you describe some of the recent partnerships with high income country research institutions that you have been involved in?
 [Probe: Role in relation to partnerships; Who partners were, funder, ongoing or finished, purpose and scope, size \$\$, get sense of what interviewee understands partnership to be].
- Have you been involved in [project name]/ the partnership with LSHTM?
 [If yes, probe: how involved? How has experience been? What has been positive, negative, what could be better? What needs to change?].
- What are the most positive aspects of working with high income country partners? [Probe: for self, for institution, for other stakeholders. Why and how?]
- What aspects are difficult or do not work well?
 [Probe: for self, for institution, for other stakeholders. Why and how?]
- What is needed to make partnerships with high income country partners work better? [Probe: if could change one thing about working with high income country partners, what would it be?]
- Thinking about your experience of partnerships, what are the most important factors in determining how well a partnership works?
- Have the partnerships you have been involved with been fair?
 [Probe: for self? for institution? Why yes or why no, what fairness means, what stops partnerships from being fair (if so), is concept of fairness important?]

- Are there differences between partnerships with other sub-Saharan African institutions and HIC institutions, or not?
- Are there discussions about equitable partnerships happening in your institution, in networks that you are involved in?
 [Probe: where, who, what issues, how being taken forward]

Closing

We are now approaching the end of the interview. Before we finish, is there anything else you want to say about your experience of partnership with high income country research institutions? [Prompt for details]

Thank you very much for your time. I may come back for clarification if there is something that is not clear or if I have some additional questions as I am writing up the interview, if that's OK? Please contact me at any time if you have any questions, comments or concerns.

Close interview